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Persistent Craftsmanship

Since the founding of Karrie in the 1980s, Chairman Ho has always adhered to the principles of
meticulous craftsmanship, attention to details, excellence and perfection. Prior to the founding
of Karrie, many popular and innovative products were designed, including ladybug radio and
block products, which continued to expand the Group’s business, navigated through numerous
setbacks and crises, and created a strong and never-ending craftsmanship spirit. It also carries the
craftsmanship’s aspiration and upholds the essence of professionalism (commitment to excellence),
dedication (commitment to diligence), lean (pursuit of excellence), focus (persistence) and
innovation (creativity and breakthrough), which have deeply embedded into our corporate spirit,
and constantly upgrades, innovates and refines. The Group’s management is on track to manage
and operate our business with professionalism and digitalization. Chairman Ho as the mentor is
now focusing on nurturing the younger generation and devoting more time to return to the mould
engineering industry. He showcases and demonstrates the spirit of craftsmanship, leading the
improvement of existing craftsmanship and expanding our capabilities in engineering solutions to
continuously lay a strong foundation for the industry.

Apart from skilled craftsmanship, it is necessary to innovate and think in different fields,
breakthrough, and keep abreast of changes in the era, so as to stimulate the response
of the corporates for generations. For example, Chairman Ho has developed block
products 49 years ago, which is boundaryless and creative product. Through limitless
creativity, a simple block set can create numerous different images. It is expected

that all employees will be able to innovate, respond flexibly and combine different
solutions to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in the ever-changing business
environment, so as to prepare for challenges and mold our future. "40 years of

persistent craftsmanship, enduring spirit for century", a motto highlighted the

founder’s hope of passing on the spirit of sustainability for generations,

which is also the spirit and root of the centennial enterprise.
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Corporate Information
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HMT11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
9th Floor

Southeast Industrial Building

611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan

New Territories

Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http:/www.karrie.com
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Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai (Chairman & CEO)
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. HO Cheuk Ming

(Non-executive Director and Deputy Chairman)
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Mr. YAM Chung Shing

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. SO Wai Chun
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. TANG Wing Fai

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

WINSTON & STRAWN

42nd Floor, Bank of China Tower
1 Garden Road

Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hang Seng Bank
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
China Construction Bank (Asia)
The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4/F., North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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Key Information for Shareholders

TERRESR

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2020
Financial Year End
31 March 2020

Announcement of 2019/20 results
24 June 2020

Last day to register for the entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2019/20 Annual General Meeting
21 August 2020

2019/20 Annual General Meeting
28 August 2020

Last day to register for 2019/20
Final Dividends
2 September 2020

2019/20 Final Dividend expected
Payment Date
21 September 2020
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SHARE CAPITAL fig 2
As at
BZE
31 March 2020 30 June 2020
—EB-EF —EFF
=Z=A=+—H ~NA=+H
Authorised (HK$) EE (B TT) 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued (HK$) 2317 (B T) 199,383,920 199,383,920
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Key Information for Shareholders

MARKET CAPITALISATION
As at 31 March 2020
(Closing Price: HK$1.03)
HK$2,053,654,376

As at 30 June 2020
(Closing Price: HK$1.05)
HK$2,093,531,160

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”)

Main Board

1050

BOARD LOT
2,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of Karrie International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”):

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

INVESTOR RELATIONS
For enquiries, please contact:

Ms. Lam Nok Wun, Isabella

Corporate Communications Manager
Karrie International Holdings Limited
9th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2411-0913

Fax: (852) 2415-1608

Email: ir@karrie.com
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Corporate Calendar

TERAEB®

6A

June

9A
September

108
October

1A

November

18

January

2R
February

REREF-HKREZRER
Delivery of Building No. 2, “Forest Town”, Phase 3 of Castfast Villas

N ELB M ZERO A EEEF=FNE _FREBERETARERE
R

Caston Plant and Castfast Plant in the Mainland were awarded the
“Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and Valuing
Credit” for the third and second consecutive year respectively
FESEF=-HREA 3 4RERE

Delivery of Buildings No. 1, 3 and 4, “Forest Town”,
Villas

BEARERADBGMEEHODEANE2019] 2 8 8 AI 82
Received the “Outstanding Import and Export Enterprise Awards 2019” —
Innovation Excellence Award from The Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ &
Exporters’” Association

FESEFILOHEMBREE

Green Code, Phases 4 and 5 of Castfast Villas were opened for pre-sale

SEFBEITN020F1ANEAZEREIXAETBREZZHK
EL:0pn:

Headquarter of the Group in Hong Kong was relocated from 10/F of
Southeast Industrial Building, Tsuen Wan to the newly renovated 9/F of the
same building on 12 January 2020
EEBBRNRRBMEREKLBENE
ERN RERX)BURE

Received the title of “Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner Production
from the Environment Bureau of Hong Kong

Phase 3 of Castfast

/%\1t§§-\/§/\mﬁ_ﬁ§¥|—ﬁ/&/ﬁ //%/_:E

Partners (Manufacturing)”
Government and the Economic & Information Commission of Guangdong
Province

AL EEZERNRIEEFRAR Y ESRAFZEMMELR
BIEFMN2020F2 A2BR I RE 2 —  KAE MRS RIFT

The epidemic prevention work of Caston Plant and Castfast Plant in the
Mainland was carried out in an orderly manner and was approved by

various departments of the government as one of the enterprises that
commenced operation on 2 February 2020, becoming the model and
benchmark of the local area
SERBBARBNBRBAEXARBETETESRNEMEDRIT
B 4%

The Group donated funds and anti-epidemic supplies in a total amount of
RMB500,000 to the People’s Government of Fenggang for the prevention
and control of the epidemic

BEBH GRS S R N5FPlusi 7R B 1E ] (2005-2020) 1% 75
Received the “15 Years Plus Caring Company Logo” for 2005-2020 from
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
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Corporate Calendar

TERAREHR

SERBAEINEE - BMAORNARBHSIER D BUER - I 8235
NETHRHEELRIEZREEIEHZ

The Group actively explored external markets, continuously increased
cooperation in different areas and diversified risks, and signed relevant
cooperation agreements with an automotive parts manufacturing company
in Thailand
EEABRRRREDPZEERB(BBRFESUM A0 2 HEER
TERGAENSR ANBATEERRERERTHEERTIFLY
14 B 3L

The Group’s outstanding achievements in environmental protection
and sustainable development were reflected in the Gold Award in the
Manufacturing and Industrial Services category of the “Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence 2019” by the Environmental Campaign
Committee of the Hong Kong Government
ERBMEBENRBHERE T FRIETERZR

The foundation construction of the new plant in site No. 6 of Yuquan Plant

commenced
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Financial Highlights
MBEBRE

Share Price Movement of the past 5 years

BELFZREES
Share Price (HK$) Share Price (HK$)
BfE (&) BB (87T)
1 1.8

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Revenue HK$ million Profit attributable to equity shareholders HK$ million
BABEET EEFEARGRNEERT

‘2,898> ¢,700 *> ¢-920*> 651> ‘ 1 >
I : | 3 w)

‘)

| | | | [ | | |

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
* Include continuing operations only

ROFERRISEER
Basic earnings per Share HK cents Dividends per Share HK cents
BREABEFBAL BRREBAL

©
{9.2) 1 ‘6.5> | ‘?0>
59 ) (35 )

[ || || || [ || [ | ||
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
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Financial Highlights
MBEBRE

Turnover percentage by Businesses Turnover percentage by Geographical Location
REBEINEXEEIX (based on the country in which the final
B Metal and Plastic Business destination of shipment is located or services are
S BBER provided)
[ Electronics Manufacturing Services Business REGFE®EsTNWEXEEIR(RERLHF
BYERRIEH EENHIRERAFEERD )
| Real Estate Business
FHEXD M japan [ Hong Kong Mainland China
AR BB LaEiNG

[0 Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and Mainland China)
M (REEEAR  FRRPEAE)

[ North America ¥ Western Europe
=S Pl

5%
2020 2019 % Changes

—BCRF —TNF EREOL
HKS$ million BEET
Revenue A 2,902 2,651 +9%
Gross profit EM 529 440 +20%
Operating profit KE—ppl] 381 316 +21%
Profit for the year E 8 A 250 221 +13%
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 1z # 5 A JE 15 & 7 250 221 +13%
Total assets BERE 3,019 2,464 +23%
Shareholders’ equity BORE 5 1,176 1,167 +1%
In Million g5 K
Number of Shares K& E 1,994 1,992 —
Per Share Data BREHR
HK cents B
Basic earnings EAg Rl 12.6 1.1 +14%
Diluted earnings g5 12.5 11.0 +14%
Total cash dividends BEERE 9.0 8.0 +13%
Net asset value per Share BREE#E 59 59 —
Financial Ratios B b =
Gross profit margin (%) ZEEM% 18.2 16.6 +10%
Net profit margin (%) i B A (% 8.6 8.4 +2%
Current ratio MBI X 2.1 2.2 -5%
Quick ratio RE L E 1.6 1.7 6%
Net gearing ratio (%) FIRTEE LT %) 56.0 34.0 +65%
Interest coverage FMEBEL X 18.1 19.4 7%
Dividend payout (%) TR B EE 2 (%) 71.4 72.1 1%
Revenue to net bank borrowings WA FRITEELE 4.4 6.7 -34%
Non-current assets to total equity (%) 3F)i )& & &2 1 o5 48 8 £t % (%) 76.0 74.4 +2%
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Financial Highlights

MBEHME

DEFINITIONS

Basic earnings
per Share

Diluted earnings
per Share

Net asset value
per Share

Gross profit
margin (%)

Net profit
margin (%)

Current ratio

Quick ratio

Net gearing
ratio (%)

Interest coverage

Dividend
payout (%)

Revenue to net
bank borrowings

Non-current assets
to total equity (%)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

Weighted average number of Shares

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

Diluted weighted average number of Shares

Net assets

Number of Shares as at year end

Gross profit

x 100%
Revenue

Profit for the year

x 100%
Revenue

Current assets

Current liabilities

Current assets less inventories

Current liabilities

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits

Total equity

Earnings before interest expenses, tax,
depreciation and amortisation

Interest expenses

Dividend per Share

x 100%
Earnings per Share

Revenue

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits

Non-current assets

Total equity

E &

SREXEN

FREER
¥

#T

Sk

SREEHE

BIRER %)

2 BR A %)

i I

R X

FROTEE
bt % (%)

MEBELR

TR B (%)

WAERRT
Fi 25 J:t B

ERBEE
BfE B E
b % (%)
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS ITEXRBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group was ®E_T_TF=A=+—HiL £&E

principally engaged in: ErEn=E:

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): manufacturing — HJ&ZBRBEB(RESBR))  &iE
and sales of metal and plastic products, including NEERSREBEM: BREMA
server casings, moulds, plastic and metal parts and fRegshsx ~ A - BRES BEF
household products; MREEMSF:

—  Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”): — BFHEFERIEHK(EFRI) :
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data HRERHEWTHREIER 7
storage, point-of-sale (“POS”) system and other Yo SR R e e A BB B R s EE o
computer peripherals; and N

—  Real Estate Business: urban renewal, real estate project — FHEZER: EHNE - FEFH
investment and development. EBHERERER -

e BREK EFEERNIRK

METAL AND ELECTRONIC

PLASTIC BUSINESS MANUFACTURING
SERVICES BUSINESS

7R Em
STORAGE
PRODUCT
fa) AR 28 Sh 3%
SERVER CASINGS
iR HE 2 A
POS SYSTEM

BEEEK
AUTOMATIC VENDING MACHINE
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Chairman’s Statement

EREWE
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Business Review

Results

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenue
of the Group was HK$2,902,208,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2019: HK$2,651,169,000),
which increased by approximately 9% when
compared with the corresponding period last
year. Profit for the year attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to
HK$250,266,000 (for the year ended 31 March
2019: HK$221,386,000), which increased by
approximately 13% when compared with the
corresponding period last year. The increase in
profit was mainly attributable to the increase in
revenue, the increase in efficiency of automated
production and the strategic reduction in the
production of lower margin businesses.

The industrial businesses recorded an increase
in revenue. It was mainly due to the increase in
orders from one of our well-known customers
and the increase in orders and server demand
from new customers in late 2019. The revenue
of the industrial businesses for the year ended
31 March 2020 increased by approximately 8%
to HK$2,630,003,000 when compared with
the corresponding period last year (for the year
ended 31 March 2019: HK$2,425,461,000).
The operating profit of these segments was
up by approximately 17% to HK$243,710,000
when compared with the corresponding period
last year (for the year ended 31 March 2019:
HK$208,065,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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The Real Estate Business recorded a revenue of
HK$272,205,000 for the year (for the year ended
31 March 2019: HK$225,708,000). Such increase
was mainly attributable to the gradual delivery
of the units of Phase 3 of Castfast Villas, a joint
residential project, during the year. Accordingly,
the operating profit of Real Estate Business
also surged 27% to HK$137,070,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2019: HK$107,772,000).
With the increasing maturity of our Real
Estate Business, a greater profit contribution is
expected.

Industrial Businesses

Revenue for year 2019/20 increased by
approximately 8% when compared with last
year, which was principally resulted from the
following:

(@) the increase in the revenue of M&P for the
year ended 31 March 2020 of approximately
21% to HK$1,632,236,000 when compared
with the corresponding period last year
(for the year ended 31 March 2019:
HK$1,348,230,000), mainly due to the
increase in orders from new customers as
a result of the slight alleviation of the US-
China trade dispute, the concept of working
from home, the use of big data and the
increase in variation of social platforms,
which increased the demand for servers.

(b) the revenue of EMS for the year ended
31 March 2020 dropped by 7% to
HK$997,767,000 when compared with the
corresponding period last year (for the year
ended 31 March 2019: HK$1,077,231,000),
mainly owing to the Group’s strategic
decision to reduce the manufacture of
lower-margin office automation products
and the decrease in the sales of storage
products.

Chairman’s Statement

EE®WE

BHEXBKHE @ AFEHS
WA E272,205,0008 7T (B =
—E-NFZA=T—HLF
€ : 225,708,000/ 7T) * Y A
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AEEFEEHBZEEBRES
—HIEEBEMAME mMEHE
X & mMImAL ERH
27% %£137,070,0007% 7t (B &
“E-NFZA=+—HLHF
€ : 107,772,000 JT) > & b
EEBAEKA - HAFNHE
BRI g K o

TEXEKFE
TN CEERERARE
FELFHH8% TER:

@ ATAEeBRBRREBEE_ZT—
TF=A=+—HLFE
ZWAREFR EFA
T 4921% %£1,632,236,000
ETEEZZ-hLF
—A=+—HLEHFE:
1,348,230,0007 1) ° U
AEAFZERTEE
Sl AEEM  B1E
XIENH S - KEE
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MK MEBHEFE]
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TE=ZA=+—HI#F
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Chairman’s Statement

EREWE
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(0)

the impact of the novel coronavirus
epidemic (the “Epidemic”) on the global
macro-economy cannot be neglected.
Enterprises were caught off guard as the
Epidemic broke out when Chinese New Year
holiday just began. With the experience
in handling SARS in 2003, members of the
Board gave up their Chinese New Year
holiday immediately and took charge of
the situation in person. Our emergency
response mechanism for the Epidemic
was quickly activated. Leveraging on the
advantages of global shipment resources,
the Group fully utilized the global Epidemic
prevention resources, worked out the
epidemic emergency work plan within
the tight timeframe, set up the Epidemic
prevention working group, and issued a
series of administrative measures including
the Administrative Requirements on
Epidemic Prevention Discipline ({7 By
&4 E R E IR 2 5R)) before the official
resumption of work. The Group fully
implements measures such as personnel
information collection, review on work
resumption, responsibility division, material
procurement and internal management. Due
to the strict and orderly implementation
of such measures, the Group became one
of the enterprises in Fenggang Town to
have passed the early work resumption
review after being examined by a number
of experts from the government and
was approved to resume work early on
2 February 2020. As a leading server
manufacturer in the world, the Group
adheres to properly manage both prevention
and control of the Epidemic and resumption
of work and production.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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Stand together against the epidemic to maintain

production: We salute every employee for their

commitment and dedication.
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In terms of health management of
employees, the Group’s attention to details
shows our care for staff. In addition to
strictly strengthening the classification
management and control of employees
who intended to resume work, the Group
also took the lead in using a local four-
star hotel, which serves as a designated
quarantine venue for the Group’s non-
local employees who returned to Dongguan
and new employees before they returned
to their positions. This greatly enhanced
the confidence of employees to resume
work, and played an important role to help
the Group resume production in a timely
manner.

In terms of the resumption of production,
the Group fully demonstrated its team spirit.
In the early stage of resumption of work,
some production staff members were unable
to return to work and there was a lack of
front-line operation staff. The chairman
of the Group called on the management
of all subsidiaries to use personnel in the
suspended service industries to actively
support the production in workshops.
The senior management of the Group,
including the directors of the Company
(the “Director(s)”), took the initiative to
engage in the front-line production work to
ensure maximum recovery of the production
capacity of the enterprise and met the
delivery schedule of our customers.

With joint efforts across the Group, our
supply chain is well managed. Through
close communication and flexible
scheduling with suppliers, the supply of
materials could meet our production needs,
and thus successfully met customers’
delivery schedule. Therefore, the Epidemic
has no unusual impact on the timely
shipment of the Group.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

FEIfRRERAE
EEAMZEERA
B BB MEBETEET
BIMDEER  BEXRE
BT & — Py 2 A
JEERASEE IR
BIRHBEST LA
MEBEBEISAT - AKX
MBETEREEL A%
B RREERRZT
] EE SR A — I o

EERRETH £E
AN BREBBENE - &
BTAHPEERTEX
720 B ke I R D — AR R
EEIWEBERN  fE=
FRAMETBERNE
BE - BRELIRRSET
FABERBXEERE
E - BRARRER(E
EDEANEE £
BRA—REETIE R
EEXMERRARE
W& mETEPRH -

BAEKKRRE  NEE
HEBEEER BB
REERHEREANLE
m A E PR R
MEREESREK  ARIE
MNarEPXH  &E
8 - it RIBEH K
SEERMNELERE
HWEE -



Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

AR 3t 5 R

R B ‘W@Wﬁ$#¢mmﬁﬁmhﬁ&1

]

SEHABMARBRNBEAAXARBATELES RNEYENRIEN &
The Group donated funds and anti-epidemic supplies in a total amount of RMB500,000 to the People’s Government of Fenggang
for the prevention and control of the epidemic

BENBEZE  BREOADEH RKREERARE T

Implemented stringent prevention and control measures, including access control and seating arranged in a single direction for canteen

B3 5 /)N A8 S T A\ B T 17 [y 5% A0 3835

The epidemic prevention team organized a training on epidemic prevention knowledge for new employees &/

RMAES—FMNESBEEEREBRR=ET MMM EBREESM
Utilized a local four-star hotel as our designated quarantine venue for the Group’s employees who returned to Dongguan before
they returned to their positions
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Furthermore, the outbreak of the Epidemic
unprecedentedly hit the customs clearance
between the PRC and Hong Kong. A total
of 28 days quarantine are required to travel
between the PRC and Hong Kong (14 days
for each side), which severely disrupted
the working mode of the Group’s senior
management in Hong Kong to return to and
work in the PRC. It was inevitable that the
management and operation of the Company
were adversely affected. Fortunately, we
were able to promptly communicate with
our employees and provide various support
to our Hong Kong employees in the PRC in
a timely manner. These senior management,
who supported the production and
operation of the Company, were isolated
from their families for months to meet the
requirements of epidemic prevention. This is
a distressing situation to the Company.

We believe that the novel coronavirus is
unlikely to be eliminated and vaccines are
unlikely to be available in a short period of
time. It is likely to be lingered for one to
two years. We must adapt to the new norm
under the Epidemic and gradually resume
our activities and normal life in all aspects,
which cannot be achieved overnight. It is
necessary to maintain a balance between
epidemic prevention measures and
economic development. Hopefully, effective
and simplified measures shall be adopted
as soon as possible so that the enterprises
in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China
will get back on track as soon as possible,
so as to fight the Epidemic and secure local
employment. Otherwise, the advantage of
Hong Kong people working in Mainland
China will be lost.
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during the Year, thanks to the staff’s
commitment to their roles, our good
working relationships and effective
communications with customers and proper
adjustment of production plans, we were
able to seize the opportunities to develop
internationally renowned customers and
successfully secured orders from the
world’s largest server brand, and thereby
the overall sales maintained an upward
momentum during the year. At the same
time, in response to the US-China trade
war and economic uncertainties, the
Group also actively developed externally
to broaden the market width, explore parts
and components products of potential
enterprises and other industries, and
continuously increase cooperation in
different areas and diversify risks. The
Group has signed relevant cooperation
agreements with an automotive parts and
components manufacturing company in
Thailand to explore opportunities and set
up a mechanical design solution team in
Taiwan to handle and respond to customers’
needs more quickly. In addition, the Group
has implemented measures to reduce
the number of products with no business
growth in the past few years in order to
focus its resources on developing potential
new customers and new product projects.
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We currently have over 600 six-axis robots in production, which significantly enhanced our production efficiency

20

the Group continued to deepen its
automation capabilities, with key
automation projects such as automation
in staking of top cover latch, automatic
assembly of hard disk holders (HDD) carrier
and automatic label sticking device, in
which products have been successfully
commenced mass production and launched
into the market. The full automatic
assembly line for new business server rail
has been put into use. The assembly lines
have significantly improved production
efficiency and product quality as compared
to the past, thereby effectively boosting
production efficiency and reducing the
pressure of the rising labour costs.
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the Group will continue to strengthen team
building of human resources and focus
on strengthening the skills of the Group’s
junior and middle-level technicians. We will
introduce professional engineering project
training to improve the project management
and problem solving ability of our existing
middle and senior engineering staff. In
order to continuously promote automation,
we will strengthen the training of talents in
this aspect, improve the technical level of
employees and reduce the pressure from
human resources. In addition, the Group
will continue to adhere to the “Going
Global” policy, actively organize external
visits and studies for our employees to
observe and benchmark the level of peers
in the industry, so as to become more
professional.

I1l. Real Estate Business

(a)

The Real Estate Business has gradually
matured with a recorded revenue of
HK$272,205,000 for the year ended 31
March 2020. The growth was attributable to
the delivery of, and recognition of revenue
from, over 200 units of Phase 3 (“Phase
3”) of Castfast Villas, a joint residential
development project, with a total area
of 19,700 square metres at an average
selling price of approximately RMB26,300
per square metre, during the period. The
progress of the major projects is as follows:

e Up to 8 June 2020, approximately 190
units with a total area of approximately
over 20,000 square metres had been
pre-sold at an average selling price of
approximately RMB27,000 per square
metre. Upon the completion of the
relevant procedures and delivery, the
relevant income will be recognised
gradually.
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Pre-sale of the residential project of
Phases 4 and 5 of Castfast Villas, a
wholly-owned development project
under the Three OIld Renovation
Plan, with a saleable floor area
of approximately 120,000 square
metres has commenced, and up to
8 June 2020, the project has pre-
sold approximately over 60 units
with a total area of approximately
6,000 square metres at an average
selling price of over approximately
RMB28,000 per square metre, which is
expected to be recognised next year.
In addition, the Group continued to
launch units on other floors for sale
while pre-sale has been commenced.

ZRBREZEMN - A H
Phases 4 and 5 of Castfast Villas
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e The progress of another self-developed
residential development of Castfast
Mansion in Boluo County, Huizhou
is on schedule with satisfactory
outcome. The project has a floor
area of approximately 30,000 square
metres and its pre-sale is expected to
commence in the third quarter of 2020.

(b) Facing the risk of economic downturn in the
PRC and the impact of the new Epidemic,
the Group will adopt a flexible sales
approach, supplemented by comprehensive
facilities in the surrounding areas, to
capture new opportunities in the Real
Estate Business with its brand, products and
services, so as to bring remarkable returns
to the Group.

Conclusion

Economic uncertainties continued in the beginning
of this year. With the signing of the first phase of
the trade agreement between China and the United
States, the trade friction appeared to be slightly
alleviated. In view of the uncertainties brought by the
sudden outbreak of the Epidemic and the relationship
between China and the United States, the market
risks increased sharply. With the solid foundation
of the core businesses, Karrie fully understood the
importance to adapt to the situation in a timely and
flexible manner. Employees returned to their positions
in a safe and orderly manner, and the vacancies was
filled promptly, production capacity was gradually
restored and orders were delivered smoothly. Facing
the complicated and ever-changing challenges in the
future, the Group also strengthened the management
of warehousing products, handled obsolete materials,
timely reviewed the stability of customers and
suppliers and the impact of the Epidemic on them,
so as to prepare for the effects. In addition, the
Group continues to improve its business ecosystem,
preserve sufficient profits and secure distribution,
always prepares for action, and strives for diversified
development by working together to overcome
difficulties, reform and transform.

Chairman’s Statement

EE®WE

e F—BFHAEMNZE
MEBEZEZERQ
FEEEIEEBE IR W
HERRLM  #E@
M & #930,000F 75
Ko BEH-_ZE=-F
F-FHREE -

by EHHPELHEBETED
RBEHERENTE -
N ER B A R A E R B 85
ERE BUEAETE
R A Eamk
AR 755 5 J 1t E 3R 75
B RAKETREE
Yz o

48 4=

SERBREBTHARREERE
B BEPXRES HERE
& PEXEZFEBRGURKR
AR X RADRRBRE
ERIERBEBENHEE ML
BEZT  MHORBREE - =7
BIEBRERBBENZOER  RE
ERTE BAERECEE AR
ZEAFROMEM - ZREMDIR
RITHK - EREMIRIRE - FIEE
BEE - FEHRKEMS Zm
8 AEBRFMNEEERS R
BRIERF  ERAEEPLMEE
BANREERRBHENTZER
B DAWARAB 2 - L - K
SELTHEEXBLER K&
Wk - RABRGE  BFEE -
HEFRNR  BEER  E#KE
AKZTTER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 4 %§ 23



Chairman’s Statement

EREWE

()

3)

24

Dividend Policy

In the results announcement for the first quarter of
year 2006/07, the board of Directors (the “Board”)
announced the adoption of a new dividend policy,
which outlines the factors that should be taken into
account in determining the amount of dividend
for distribution, such as the profit attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company, cash flow and
investment budgets. After careful consideration of
the aforementioned factors, and for the purpose of
maintaining the track record of consecutive annual
payment of dividends since the listing, the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK5.0 cents per Share to all the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 4 September 2020.

Geographical Distribution

The Group has adopted a diversified approach
in product delivery and does not rely on one
single market. Details of the Group’s geographical
distribution are set out in the paragraphs headed
“Segment Reporting” in note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements of this annual report.
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(4) Prospects

(a)

In the face of the challenging business
environment, the Group will continue to
strengthen its industrial businesses. On the one
hand, the Group will continue to enhance its
product integration capabilities, improve supply
chain management, optimise warehouse logistics
management, and provide customers with
professional one-stop procurement services. On
the other hand, the Group actively strengthens
talent training, introduces itemised engineering
project management training, and cooperates
with vocational and technical schools to enhance
the supply of technical talents. In addition,
the Group actively expands its business scope
and vigorously identify potential customers
in Mainland China, which further broadened
the market of the Group. Besides, the Group
continues to invest in the industrial business
and increase the production capacity, therefore,
the construction of Factory No. 6 in Yuquan
Industrial Zone is scheduled to commence in
September this year, which will be completed
and commence operation in mid-2021. Factory
No. 6 will be used for the development and
production of parts and components, and
more factory space will be reserved for future
production of new products so as to reduce the
Group’s expenditure on leasing nearby factories
and warehouses.

In addition, the Group continues to promote
the application of automation technology in
production line, accelerates the investment in
optimising production process, increases the
research and development of new technologies,
and optimises process and packaging methods
to improve production efficiency and quality.
Moreover, the Group continues to develop
new professional (specialised) technologies and
expands its scope of business. For example, the
Group has carried out research projects on “hot
stamping technology” and tooling improvement
and application for “non-weld-line mold”
technology.
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(c) At the same time, the Group strives to the
implementation of environmental protection
initiatives, realises the mission of clean
production, strictly complies with the relevant
standards of 1SO14001 and RBA under the
international environmental management system,
and was honourably awarded the Gold Award
of the “Hong Kong Awards for Environmental
Excellence 2019 (F & IR 5% & K #£2019)” and
the title of “Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner
Production Partners” Logo (B H B A E Y
f #E 55), which fully recognised the Group's
achievements in emission reduction and energy
conservation. We will continue to serve on
the Group’s mission of “Environmental and
Corporate Sustainability”. In addition, the Group
insists on putting industrial safety as priority
with zero tolerance for industrial accidents, and
continuously strengthens the safety awareness
of employees to prevent damages caused by
industrial accidents.
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HAEL - AREERRR

The Groups outstanding achievements
on environmental protection and sustainable
development is widely recognized among
the industry

BAREEMAL20197 HEX R T X R 5
The Gold Award in the Manufacturing and Industrial
Services category of the Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence 2019
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(d)

In terms of property projects, the Group has
established a professional team with extensive
experience in recent years and is committed to
participating in developing residential projects.
The Group will also continue to seek suitable
development projects. At the same time, the Group
will focus on residential projects in the Greater Bay
Area, especially urban redevelopment projects.
Leveraging on the development opportunities in
the Greater Bay Area, the Group is committed to
building communities and revitalising the local
economy to exert its brand effect. The Group
is optimistic that its property business will bring
fruitful results to its shareholders and expects it to
become another source of growth in addition to the
Group’s industrial businesses.
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Innovation Excellence Award
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Karrie International Holdings Limited

BEEFEHAOERAREHODE AB019) 2 EHRANE EEEFHERMRBESAETEERBTERE
A B T ) A R 5 R OR P A T R B B TR
Awarded the “Outstanding Import and Export Enterprise Awards 2019” — Innovation Excellence Award from The Hong Kong Chinese
Importers'& Exporters’ Association. Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian, our Assistant to Chairman and Head of Accounting and Finance, received
the award from Paul Chan Mo-po, JP, the Financial Secretary of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Last but not least, the Group attaches great
importance to innovative thinking and has a deep
understanding of the concept of “progress or
regress” and the ever-changing nature of products.
Therefore, in view of the ever-changing demands
of customer, all employees of the Group must have
a breakthrough mindset instead of staying in its
comfort zone without any advancement. They must
innovate and transform in areas such as product
optimization, quality improvement, environmental
protection and technology development to cope
with higher requirements.
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Professionalism
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Competence, professionalism,

accountability and
meritocracy
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Persistent Craftsmanship

Since the founding of Karrie in the 1980s, | have always
adhered to the principles of meticulous craftsmanship,
attention to details, excellence and perfection. Prior to
the founding of Karrie, many popular and innovative
products were designed, including ladybug radio and
block products, which continued to expand the Group’s
business, navigated through numerous setbacks and crises,
and created a strong and never-ending craftsmanship spirit.
It also carries the craftsmanship’s aspiration and upholds
the essence of professionalism (commitment to excellence),
dedication (commitment to diligence), lean (pursuit of
excellence), focus (persistence) and innovation (creativity
and breakthrough), which have deeply embedded into
our corporate spirit, and constantly upgrades, innovates
and refines. The Group’s management is on track to
manage and operate our business with professionalism
and digitalization. | as the mentor is now focusing on
nurturing the younger generation and devoting more time
to return to the mould engineering industry. He showcases
and demonstrates the spirit of craftsmanship, leading the
improvement of existing craftsmanship and expanding our
capabilities in engineering solutions to continuously lay a
strong foundation for the industry.
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The spirit of dedication, The spirit of striving for
commitment and responsibility excellence, pursuing perfection
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The spirit of attention to details, : . :
. o The creative spirit that strives for
persistence and insistence

breakthrough and innovations
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Apart from skilled craftsmanship, it is necessary to
innovate and think in different fields, breakthrough, and
keep abreast of changes in the era, so as to stimulate the
response of the corporates for generations. For example,
| have developed block products 49 years ago, which
is boundaryless and creative product. Through limitless
creativity, a simple block set can create numerous
different images. It is expected that all employees will be
able to innovate, respond flexibly and combine different
solutions to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in the
ever-changing business environment, so as to prepare for
challenges and mold our future. 40 years of persistent
craftsmanship, enduring spirit for century, a motto
highlighted the founder’s hope of passing on the spirit of
sustainability for generations, which is also the spirit and
root of the centennial enterprise.

To pass on the spirit of craftsmen in various fields and to
promote automated production, the Group has established
a public welfare base for “artificial intelligence” education,
promoted manufacturing education, trained new generation
and young people to know the industrial business, and
demonstrated the milestone of industrial development and
brilliant contribution of investors in the Greater Bay Area
(among Dongguan), so as to pass on the craftsmanship
spirit of the industry. In order to gather and reward talents,
the Group will host the Craftsman Spirit Award to promote
talents in all fields with craftsmanship spirit in the society,
and advocate the ever-lasting spirit of craftsmanship.

To establish a centennial enterprise, the Group has been
committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility,
encouraging environmental protection and promoting the
core value of Karrie’s sustainable development in the past
40 years. The 40th anniversary marks our ruby anniversary,
while the colour of the logo is also ruby-red, symbolising
our never-ending craftmanship. Our craftmanship spirit
will help us to cope with various challenges in a prudent
manner and progress with the enterprise to build a
centennial foundation. The Group is deeply grateful for
that.
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Borrowings

With the commencement of Real Estate Business, net
interest-bearing borrowings? as at 31 March 2020 were
approximately HK$658,820,000 and the net interest-
bearing borrowings ratio (being the proportion of total net
interest-bearing borrowings over total equity) was 56% (as
at 31 March 2019: net interest-bearing borrowings were
approximately HK$396,312,000 and net interest-bearing
borrowings ratio was 34%). The financial position of the
Group remains healthy.

‘ Net interest-bearing borrowings represents bank borrowings
and lease liabilities less cash and bank deposits.

Non-current Assets to Shareholders’” Fund Ratio
maintaining at below 1

The non-current assets to total equity ratio as at 31 March
2020 maintained at the healthy level of 76% (as at 31
March 2019: 74%), which represents the Group’s non-
current assets, such as plant and machineries are using its
stable total equity as a support.

Capital Expenditure (“CAPEX”)

The initial estimate of the CAPEX Budget for the financial
year 2020/21 is approximately HK$225,000,000. The
CAPEX was mainly used for construction of factory,
acquiring machinery and equipment and computer system.

Resources Available

Currently, the total interest-bearing bank borrowings
are approximately HK$951,637,000. The Group is
confident that with the cash in hand and bank deposits of
approximately HK$297,482,000 and the unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$581,763,000,
to meet its current operational and capital expenditure

it is able

requirements and to make strategic investments when
opportunities arise.

Chairman’s Statement
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EREWE

Exchange Rate Exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in HKD, USD and RMB. Foreign currency
risk arises from commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations
that are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s
functional currency, which in turn exerts pressure on
the Group’s production cost. To mitigate the impact of
exchange rate fluctuation of RMB on its business, the
Group will actively communicate with its customers in
order to adjust the selling prices of its products and may
use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against
foreign currency risk (if and when necessary).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 3,500 employees on average
(an average of 3,360 employees in the corresponding
period last year) during the year. With a good reputation
in the local community, the Group has rarely encountered
major difficulties in recruiting employees.

Employee remuneration packages as well as the Directors
are determined in accordance with prevailing market
standards and the employee’s performance and experience.
The Group will also grant bonuses to employees with
outstanding performance based on its own audited
business performance and the appraisal and reward system.
Other employee benefits include medical insurance and
mandatory provident fund.

In addition, to cope with domestic development in the
PRC and the actual need for talent-retaining, the Group
establishes a “Cooperative Home” to encourage and
finance potential elites settled down locally in buying a flat
as a means to retain talents who may otherwise be lost in
the competitive labour market.
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Performance Based Incentives

The Group adopted performance based bonus system
and objective performance assessment. Employees with
outstanding performance will now receive more bonus
than before the new system was implemented.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK5.0 cents per Share (2018/19 final dividend: HK5.0
cents per Share), to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 4 September
2020. Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents
per Share (2018/19 interim dividend: HK3.0 cents per
Share), total dividend paid/payable for this year amounted
to HK9.0 cents per Share (2018/19: HK8.0 cents per Share).
The final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be held on
28 August 2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee
currently made up of one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose duties include
resolving issues in relation to audit such as reviewing and
supervising the Company’s financial reporting process and
internal control systems. The audit committee and the
management have reviewed the accounting principles and
major policies adopted by the Group and have discussed
the auditing, internal control and financial reporting in
the current year with the external auditors. The audit
committee has reviewed the consolidated annual results of
the Group as of 31 March 2020.

APPRECIATION

I would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their
invaluable support to the Group, and my fellow Directors,
managers and all staff for their considerable contributions
to the Group.
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FEHRE
APPENDIX 1 B 85 —

Dividend and Dividend Policy:
P B I BBER
An unbroken 24 years’ record of dividend payment
= A SRR B R
The Group’s policy to distribute 30% or more of its profits attributable to shareholders as dividend
7SR B BETE B B B A R B A i FU30% 3 A E A F IR B
All dividend paid shown below is in HK cents per Share
THEERBRMDIREZREZAEBIGE

Interim Final  Special
Interim Final ~ Subtotal ~ Special ~ Special  Subtotal Total Dividend Payout Ratio
RHRE RKEBE KARE
i RH Nt KE RE Nt 8% RE KB E
(excluding)* (Including)?
(MRERER) (BEER):
1996/97 Nil £ 5.40 5.40 Nil % Nil & Nil % 5.40 24%  NATERA
1997/98 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil £ Nil & Nil & 1.00 13% NATEA
1998/99 2.00 2.00 4.00 Nil & Nil £ Nil % 4.00 58%  NATER
1999/00 2.20 2.20 440 Nil % Nil % Nil & 4.40 77%  NATRER
2000/01 1.10 3.80 490 Nil & 6.20 6.20 11.10 69% 156%
2001/02 5.00 5.90 10.90 5.00 14.10 19.10 30.00 50% 138%
2002/03 8.00 11.00 19.00 Nil & 5.00 5.00 24.00 60% 75%
2003/04 8.00 12.00 20.00 Nil £ Nil & Nil & 20.00 87%  NANER
2004/05 8.50 12.50 21.00 Nil & Nil & Nil £ 21.00 58%  NAREHR
2005/06 9.00 13.00 22.00 Nil & 3.00 3.00 25.00 48% 55%
2006/07 8.50 3.00 11.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 11.50 38% NATEA
2007/08 0.75 Nil & 0.75 Nil & Nil & Nil & 0.75 27% NATEH
2008/09 Nil % 1.50 1.50 Nil & Nil % Nil % 1.50 39%  NATRER
2009/10 Nil £ 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil £ Nil & 1.00 45%  NATER
2010/11 Nil & 1.10 1.10 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.10 32%  NATEA
2011/12 Nil % 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil % Nil % 1.00 38% NATER
2012/13 Nil & 1.20 1.20 Nil & Nil £ Nil & 1.20 61% N/ATER
2013/14 Nil % 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 58%  N/AREHR
2014/15 0.50 1.80 230 Nil & 1.00 1.00 3.30 61% 87%
2015/16 0.75 2.75 3.50 Nil Nil & Nil & 3.50 59%  N/ATEMA
2016/17 1.30 4.20 5.50 Nil & 1.00 1.00 6.50 65% 77%
2017/18 1.60 4.75 6.35 2.55 Nil & 2.55 8.90 69% 97%
2018/19 3.00 5.00 8.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 8.00 72%  NATER
2019/20 4.00 5.00 9.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 9.00 71% NATER
Remarks: * Excluding special dividend *Including special dividend
B * NBRIERRRE FEERERRE
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APPENDIX 2
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ERHRE

B 8% —

Inventory & Debtor Turnover Days

No. of days
5]

—4&— Inventory Turnover 175 E# 1]
o Debtor Turnover fEULBRIASE H)

30 T T T T T 1
14/15 15/16 18/19 19/20
(No. of days) (A %) 14/15 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20
Inventory Turnover
17 & 18 5 5 64 59 56 55 81
Debtor Turnover
JE U BR 48 ¥ HR 40 43 50 38 38

Inventory turnover (Base on year end inventory value/Cost

of revenue) x 365 days

Debtor turnover (Base on year end debtors/Revenue) x 365

days

FEBEHAFRFERE MAKK)
x365H

FE U R B 88 HY (DASE IR EURR ) x
365H

Inventory Turnover Days#F & 8 & Hj

(No. of days) (H#) 18/19 19/20 Change# i@
Raw Materials B #1 #} 19 24 +26%
Work-in-progress ¥ & X, 44 5 8 +60%
Finished Goods % X i 31 49 +58%
Total & &t 55 81 47%
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ERHRE

APPENDIX 3

Gross Profit Margin & Net Profit Margin

M 8% =

BEREENRAFESE

—48— Gross Profit Margin 2% EF(%)
o Net Profit Margin 2B 405 (%)

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20
(%) 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20
Gross Profit Margin
EBERERN 11.0 12.1 13.6 14.5 16.6 18.2
Net Profit Margin
2 B4 A 2.9 4.0 7.0 7.5 8.4 8.6
HK$(million) (B & & r)
Revenue
WA 2,591 2,898 2,700 2,920 2,651 2,902
Profit for the year
F 5 % A 76 117 168 182 221 250
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APPENDIX 4

Industrial
Businesses
CAPEX
THEBET
BERE
HK$'000
FET
300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000

50,000

0

Industrial Businesses CAPEX
TEEBRETEERE

Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

15/16

16/17

17/18

18/19

19/20

20/21*

Industrial
Businesses CAPEX
TEEBEE
HK$'000

FETT

117,038

52,004

60,660

61,415

148,700

225,000

o

Operating Profit
for Industrial
Businesses
TEXER

718 & 5 A
HK$’000
FAT

210,799

219,783

260,432

208,065

243,710

Not

applicable
5@ A

Note: i 5T :

* Budget
*  HE

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 F %

Operating
profit for
Industrial
Businesses
TEER
Fedeyivl
HK$’000
FHET

300,000

250,000

200,000

150,000

~ 100,000

50,000

0

37



Corporate Governance Report
TRERBES

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate
value and accountability.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”) the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and complied with the code provision
(the “Code Provisions”) of the CG Code; save for the
deviation from Code Provisions A.2.1, A.4.1, A.4.2 and
A.5 of the CG Code. This report describes our Group’s
corporate governance practices and explains the said
deviations from the CG Code.

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should
be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company does not segregate the roles of its
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (“Mr. Ho”) currently holds both positions.

Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Ho has substantial
experience in the manufacturing industry, as well as in real
estate and culture related industries. At the same time, Mr.
Ho has the appropriate management skills and business
acumen that are necessary and are the pre-requisites for
assuming the role of the Chief Executive Officer. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer in the same person would provide
the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
the Group to be more effective and efficient in developing
long-term business strategies and executing business
plans. Hence, the Board considers that there is no need to
segregate the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer and both roles should continue to be performed
by Mr. Ho. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured by the operation of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with a sufficient number thereof Independent
Non-executive Directors.
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According to Code Provision A.4.1 of CG Code, Non-
Executive Director should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming was re-
designated as Non-executive Director on 1 June 2007 and
he was appointed as Non-executive Director and Deputy
Chairman on 1 May 2011 without a specific term. Mr. Ho
Kai Man was re-designated as the Non-executive Director
on 1 November 2012 without a specific term. Although Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming and Mr. Ho Kai Man are not appointed for
a specific term, they are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

Moreover, Code Provision A.4.2 of CG Code stipulates that
every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, the
number nearest to one-third but not greater than one-
third shall retire from office provided that notwithstanding
anything in the Company’s Bye-laws, the Chairman
of the Directors and/or the Managing Director of the
Company shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject
to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year. Furthermore, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board should hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and
would then be eligible for re-election. The Chairman and/
or the Managing Director of the Group will consider to
voluntarily retire at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years in line with Code Provision A.4.2
of the CG Code. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure good
corporate governance of the Company.
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TRERBES

According to Code Provision A.5 of the CG Code, the
Company should establish a nomination committee, which
is chaired by the chairman of the Board or an independent
non-executive Director and comprises a majority of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company
has not established a nomination committee due to the
fact that the function of the nomination committee was
delegated to the Board, which is responsible for reviewing
its own structure, size and composition in accordance
with the board diversity policy adopted by the Company
(the “Policy”) annually; considering the re-appointment of
Directors; evaluating the Policy as well as assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.
The Board has taken sufficient measures to avoid the
conflict of interests in carrying out such functions. For
instance, the relevant Director would abstain from
voting for any resolution relating to his or her own re-
appointment. As such, the Board is of the view that the
members of the Board possess the necessary experience
and knowledge to discharge the functions of a nomination
committee. The Board shall review the composition and
operation of the Board from time to time and shall consider
establishing a nomination committee if such need arises.

The Company will continue to review its practices
from time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. The Board of Directors

1.1 As at 31 March 2020, the Board consisted
of nine Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia, Mr. Zhao
Kai and Mr. Chan Raymond as executive
Directors; Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming as a non-
executive Director and Deputy Chairman;
Mr. Ho Kai Man as a non-executive
Director and Mr. So Wai Chun, Mr. Fong
Hoi Shing and Mr. Yam Chung Shing as the
independent non-executive Directors. The
Board has the collective responsibility for
the leadership and promotion of the success
of the Group’s business by directing and
supervising the Group’s affairs.
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1.2

1.3

Corporate Governance Report

The Board is committed to the Group’s
objectives of enhancing the Shareholders’
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews
the standard of corporate governance of
the Group. It also makes decisions on
matters such as approving the annual
results, interim and quarterly results,
connected transactions, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, declaring
dividends and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the
management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when circumstances
require.

The Board had met four times for the Year
and considered, reviewed and approved the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
March 2019, quarterly and interim results of
the Group for the Year.

1.2

1.3
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CEERBES

B /A =
The attendance records of Board meetings UNTRAFEEFE S
and general meeting held during the Year EMBRRERRAEGHEE L
are set out below: B -

Attendance of individual
Directors
at Board meetings and general
meeting during the Year
FEREEENRRAEER
BRESHHER
No. of board No. of general
meetings meetings
attended/held attended/held
Exg BRRAE
HERE,/ HERE/
ERRY EEVS .

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fa] 2 98 5 A 4/4 1/1
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia bR 2 ok /) 4/4 11
Mr. Zhao Kai el kA 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Raymond REBX K% 4/4 11
Non-executive Directors HHITEE

Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming 2B % AE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ho Kai Man MR k& 4/4 11

Independent Non-executive Directors BV HHTEE

Mr. So Wai Chun BRERTE 4/4 7
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing ai=E P 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 3/4 0/1
A list of Directors and their role and EEZENAEBBLRE
function was posted on the websites of the RNV N/NCTDN R B
Company and the Stock Exchange. T8 uh o
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1.4 To maximize the effectiveness of the Board

and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the
Board has established an audit committee
and a remuneration committee. Detailed
descriptions of each of these committees
are set out below. All of these committees
adopt, as far as practicable, the principles,
procedures and arrangements of the
Board in relation to the scheduling and
proceeding of meetings, notice of meetings
and inclusion of agenda items, records and
availability of minutes.

The Board has devised its specific written
terms of reference setting out its duties,
responsibilities, powers and functions which
include the following:

e developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior
management;

e taking responsibility for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of
the financial statements in accordance
with the prevailing accounting
standards and laws, approving the
financial statements and appointing
and liaising with the Group’s external
auditors;

e reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report in its
Annual Report;

1.4
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e overseeing management in the design
implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control
systems;

e liaising with all regulatory authorities
and organisations on all matters
relating to the Group, and monitoring
changes in their policies relating to and
affecting the Group; and

e  ensuring accountability towards and
sufficient communication with the
Group's shareholders.

2 Board Composition

2.1

2.2

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprises
nine Directors: four executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-executive Director,
is the younger brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
Mr. Ho Kai Man, a non-executive director, is
the nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-
executive director and deputy chairman of
the Company.

The attributes, skills and expertise among
the existing Directors are considered
appropriate so as to effectively lead,
supervise and manage the Group, taking
into account the scope and nature of the
operations. The Directors have a mix of core
competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management,
production and quality control techniques,
supply chain management, industry
knowledge and marketing strategies. Details
of the experience and qualifications of
Directors and Senior Management are
set out in the section headed “Senior

Management Profile” in this Annual Report.
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Board Diversity

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6 of the CG
Code, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy, which sets out the purpose
and principles regarding board diversity for the
purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board
as for as practicable. Directors’ appointment
will be based on merit and candidates will
be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and
development.

Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board
and was of the opinion that the Board is
well balanced and diversified, and with the
appropriate structure, size and necessary
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives required for the business of the
Group. The Board also reviewed and evaluated
the board diversity policy.

On 25 March 2019, the Board adopted a
separate Nomination Policy, which provides
the key selection criteria and principles of the
Board in making decisions in the appointment
and reappointment of directors and succession
planning of directors, to emphasise our
commitment on transparent nomination process.
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4 Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

4.1

4.2

4.3

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

At each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office
by rotation. The Directors, since his last
election or appointment who has been the
longest in office shall retire and be eligible
for re-election at the AGM. Pursuant to the
bye-laws of the Company, the Chairman
and/or the Managing Director of the Group
shall not, when holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of
Directors to retire in each year. To comply
with Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code,
the Chairman and/or the Managing Director
of the Group will voluntarily retire at the
AGM at least once every three years.

As at 31 March 2020, non-executive
Directors (except Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming and
Mr. Ho Kai Man) including the independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a
fixed term not exceeding three years and all
non-executive Directors are subject to the
requirements of retirement by rotation and
re-election by Shareholders at the AGM in
accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are set out in the circular to
Shareholders to assist Shareholders in
making an informed decision on their
elections.

4.
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4.1

4.2

4.3
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4.4 Since the whole Board participates in the
appointment of new Directors, the Company
does not establish a nomination committee.
In evaluating whether an appointee is
suitable to act as a Director, the Board
will consider the experience and skills of
the appointee; as well as personal ethics,
integrity and the willingness to commit
time in the affairs of the Group. Where the
appointee is appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the Board will also
consider his/her independence. During
the Year, the Board had also reviewed and
made recommendations in respect of the re-
appointments of retiring Directors, which
were approved by the Shareholders at the
last AGM.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has in force appropriate insurance
coverage on directors and officers’ liabilities
arising from the group’s business. The Company
reviews the extent of insurance coverage on an
annual basis.

Directors’ Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given
an induction. As part of the ongoing process
of directors’ training, the Company Secretary
continuously updates all directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.
All Directors are encouraged to attend
external forum or training courses on relevant
topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.
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For the Year, all Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development
activities either by attending training courses,
seminars, conferences and forums or by reading
materials relevant to the Group’s business and
to Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Each
of them has provided a record of training
they received for the Year to the Company. A
directors’ training course was held on 27 March
2020 concerning Statement on the Conduct
and Duties of Directors when Considering
Corporate Acquisitions or Disposals, New
Guidance Addresses Market Misconduct and
Corporate Transactions with relevant cases. The
training each Director received for the Year is

AEE 2REZTHEAN
FEIRE T E - 2F
RimiBBHEAEBEK K
EEBERBERBAERZ
FR2EAEH EXEERE
JEE) c AFE HF—UESE
REFARBMER ZHFI
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ARITT—RESFHFIRE -
NABRESEE R ER
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= c REERESEIEI
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summarized as below:

Attending
training
courses,

seminars,

Reading conferences
materials  and forums
HE AR
maE -
RMEMHBEEN SFRWE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fa] f2 ¥ 5 A v v
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia PR & R/ R v v
Mr. Zhao Kai HEl % E v v
Mr. Chan Raymond RE X5 E v v
Non-executive Directors HPITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] &2 BR 55 A4 v v
Mr. Ho Kai Man Al R X 5t 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BV F $ 1T EE
Mr. So Wai Chun BEERLE v v
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 7B A 4 v
Mr. Yam Chung Shing TEHEE v v
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Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The Chairman should be responsible for ensuring
that Directors receive adequate, clear, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner.

The Chairman should:

e ensure that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner;

e ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established;

e encourage Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient
time for discussion of issues and ensure
that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus;

e ensure that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the board as a whole; and

e promote a culture of openness and debate
by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer should be
responsible for managing the Group’s business
including the implementation of strategy and
initiatives with the support of executive Directors
and senior management and within those
authorities delegated by the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the number of independent non-executive
Directors represents no less than one-third of the
Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Any re-election of an independent non-executive
Director who has served the Board for more than
nine vyears, his further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by Shareholders.

BOARD COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

1.1 The Board has established the RC in June
2005 with terms of reference, comprising
a majority of independent non-executive
Directors, which meets at least once a
year. It is chaired by Mr. So Wai Chun and
comprises two other members, namely
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming and Mr. Yam Chung
Shing. All RC members, with the exception
of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive
Director), are independent non-executive
Directors. The quorum necessary for the
transaction of business by the RC is two.
The terms of reference of RC have been
updated in March 2012 to comply with the
new requirements set out in the CG Code
and were posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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1.2

1.3
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The principal responsibilities of RC are
included:

e to formulate remuneration policy
of the Group, review and make
recommendations to the Board in
respect of the remuneration policy;

e to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

e to conform to any requirement,
direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the
Listing Rules or any applicable law;
and

o to determine the remuneration and
incentive scheme of the executive
Directors and the senior management.

The RC met once during the Year and
reviewed its terms of reference, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the
remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management staff. It also assessed the
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performance of the Directors and evaluated ERERES EI'J KB K
the remuneration policy. The attendance %{E TR - B &
record of the meeting of RC during the Year ERNAFEEHRZL
is set out below: ‘rﬁ BRI
No. of
attended/held
HERE,
ERRE
Mr. So Wai Chun (chairman of RC) #EELE(FTNZE & F/E) 1/1
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] & B 5 A& 11
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHEE 1/1
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration
and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31
March 2020 is set out below:

EEREREBEAEHTMH

B IE £ 38 BIMY 81678 T 4%
BEEHESEHEe L AERS
FMEE 2E—HFBER
RNEBRAEH 226 T HEHRE
B 5E28 o

RBEECEERTA 2T
XB15 HE_ET-_TF=HA
=+—H1k - BFMERE S
ZEREBRASHMNET W
—|? :

Number of

persons

Remuneration bands (HK$) BN A8 B (78 ) AE
1 to 1,000,000 121,000,000 1
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001%£ 2,000,000 4

Audit Committee (“AC”)

2.1 The AC’s membership, with the exception
of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive
Director), comprised the independent non-
executive Directors as at 31 March 2020:

Mr. So Wai Chun
(Chairman of AC)
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
Mr. Yam Chung Shing

The Board is of the opinion that members
of the AC have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise or
experience to discharge their duties.
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2.2 The operations of the AC are regulated
by its terms of reference. The terms of
reference have been updated in April 2016
to comply with the new requirements set
out in the Revised Code. The updated
terms of reference of the AC were posted
on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The main duties of the AC
include:

e to review and supervise the Group's
financial reporting process including
the review of quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Group;

e to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to resignation or
termination;

e to examine the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control which involves
regular review in various corporate
structures and business process;

e to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of
its urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance, internal control systems
and risk management; and

e to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems
with management to ensure that
management has performed its duties
to have effective systems.
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2.3 The AC met two times during the Year and
reviewed the interim results of the Group
for the six months ended 30 September
2019 and the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2019. The AC
had also reviewed the Group’s financial
reporting system, internal control system,
risk management system and associated
procedures to ensure their adequacy and
effectiveness. The Company Secretary of
the Company keeps all minutes of the AC.
The attendance record of the meeting of AC
during the Year is set out below:

BERERBERAFERET
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2.3

JERERLNT
No. of
attended/held
HERE
E VS
Mr. So Wai Chun (Chairman of AC) # EE&tE(FEEZZESF/E) 2/2
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 7Bt 2/2
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] &2 A %% & 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 2/2

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Group (the
“Company’s Model Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out
in Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
they have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both the
Company’s Model Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.

C. EFETESFXS

1.1

1.2
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
1.  Financial Reporting

1.1

1.2

1.3

The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for preparing the Group’s accounts which
gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumption or qualification as necessary.
In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

The management provides explanation and
information to the Board as to enable the
Board to make informed assessments of the
financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.

The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of
such information to include annual, interim
and quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures
as required under the Listing Rules, reports
to regulators as well as any information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.
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1.2

1.3
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Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s
system of internal controls and is committed
to managing business risks and maintaining
sound and effective internal control systems to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets.

During the Year, the Internal Audit Department
under the supervision of the Board and the AC,
has reviewed and reported on the adequacy of
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management
control functions annually. Based on the results
of the review, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are still effective and
adequate.

The Board adopted the risk management
policy and three-year internal risk management
audit plan, including structure and system of
risk management of the Group. Internal Audit
Department together with the AC will review
the adequacy of the effectiveness of the risk
management at least once a year.

The Board’s annual review had considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes, budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.

The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material mis-statement or loss and to
manage instead of eliminating risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the
Group's objectives.
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The Internal Audit Department performs
regular audit reviews and report of the risk and
key controls of the Group to the Board and
the AC. The responsible Department Heads
will be notified of the control deficiencies
noted for rectification. For the Year, the
Internal Audit Department conducted audit
over financial instruments management, IT
strategy management, businesses and customer
concentration management, marching towards
new business (such as real estate) and other items
with high risk index. The audit results have been
presented to the senior management, the AC and
the Board.

For the purpose of handling and disseminating
inside information pursuant to Rules 13.09 and
13.10 of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group
has taken various procedures and measures,
including arousing the awareness to preserve
confidentiality of inside information within the
Group, signing of confidentiality agreement,
sending blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions notifications to the Directors and
relevant employees regularly, disseminating
information to specified persons on a need-to-
know basis and observing the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012
stringently.
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3.

Risk Management 3. mEb
I.  Risk Management System —
The Company established an enterprise
risk management system for ensuring the
appropriate control and governance on
the principal risks that are exposed to the
Group, which includes:

e specifying the concept of risk
management, and determining the
scope of risk management.

e specifying the risk reporting process
and establishing risk governance
framework to identify and assess the
possible impact on the Group.

e establishing risk governance control
points for establishing relevant
countermeasures against the main
control matters involving risks.

e establishing monitoring plan in terms
of priority, conducting monitoring and
review twice a year.

e In face of novel coronavirus epidemic
(the “Epidemic”), the Group quickly
activated the emergency response
mechanism for the Epidemic, fully
utilized epidemic prevention resource
resources, worked not the Epidemic
emergency work plan, set up the
Epidemic prevention working group
and issued a series of administrative
measures including the “Administrative
Requirements on Epidemic Prevention
Discipline”. The Group adheres to
properly manage both prevention and
control of the Epidemic and resumption
of work and production.
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Risk Management Framework

The Board is playing the role as an
overseer, and the AC is responsible for risk
governance, report the effectiveness of
the risk system of the Group to the Board
and the actual risk executor is the person
in charge of each department. The Board
assigns the representative of Executive
Committee the responsibility of being in
charge of implementing the risk measures.
The internal audit department of the Group
will conduct an independent annual review
on the risk management system of the
Group according to the audit plan on risk
management, and submit the report to the
Board.

Risk Identification

The Group identifies risk through a mixture
of top-down and bottom-up approaches,
thereby conducting analysis and appraisal
on risk, and identifying the source, type and
index of risk.

For top-down approach, the representatives
of Executive Committee and Risk
Management Department have to conduct
risk identification once every two years
through questionnaires, and once every
three years by way of workshop.

For bottom-up approach, the person-in-
charge of the risk will collect the risks from
each department, complete the risk register
under the assistance of risk executor, and
submit to risk management department or
report to respective management personnel.
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IV. Risk Assessment

The risk is classified into two levels, namely
intrinsic risk and residual risk. The risk
assessment calculates the risk index on
these two levels according to the established
methods in respect of the possible impact
of each risk on the Group. It controls the
sum of all risk indices on residual risk
within the risk limit pre-set by the Group
through taking control action and mitigation
measures.

V. Risk Handling

The sum of risk indices shall at no time
exceed the cap of risk preference of the
Group. The control measures shall be taken
to conduct risk governance on any risk with
high risk index in a timely manner. The
governance aims at reducing the possibility
of occurrence or mitigating the impact
of risk (and may not be fully eliminated).
Each of the proposed risk management/
countermeasure is assigned to a person in
charge with estimated date of completion,
so as to enable the person in charge
of risk easier to monitor the process of
management to ensure risk countermeasures
are come into force.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid to KPMG, the
Group’s external auditor HK$3,420,000 for audit
services of the Group and for non-audit related
services approximately HK$931,000, representing
mainly taxation services and other non-audit
service fees.
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

1.

The Company strives to convey to Shareholders
pertinent information in a clear, detailed, timely
manner and on a regular basis and to take into
consideration their views and inputs, and to
address the Shareholders’ concerned. Their views
are communicated to the Board comprehensively.

The Company adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy and will review it on
a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with prompt and
equal access to information about the Company
(including but not limited to its financial
performance, corporate goals and strategies,
significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure), in order to enable the
Shareholders to assess the Company’s overall
performance, exercise their rights in an informed
manner and engage actively with the Company.

The Company communicates with the
Shareholders through the publication of
annual reports, interim reports, circulars,
results announcements and releases. All
communications to Shareholders are also
available on the Company’s website at
www.karrie.com.

We had provided sufficient notice for
Shareholders on all general meetings. The AGM
provides a useful platform for Shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The Chairman
of the Board and the Board members will make
an effort to attend to answer Shareholders’
questions. External auditor is also available at the
annual general meeting to address shareholders’
queries about the conduct of the audit.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.

All votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll according to the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the
vote of the AGM pursuant to bye-law 66 of the
Bye-laws.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

1.

Results announcement

The Board recognizes that effective
communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and to attract new
investors.

Annual reports and interim reports are prepared
and issued to all Shareholders within the
prescribed period stipulated by the Listing
Rules. All results announcements and reports
are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The Company can still
provide the Shareholders and investors with an
adequate degree of transparency and information
of the financial position of the Company.

Communication of media, analysts and
investors

The Group endeavours to enhance the
transparency. We have close communication
with media, analysts and investors after the
release of the interim and final results by
way of presentation, receptions
in order to

luncheons,
or telephone conferences etc.

share the performances of the Group during
the Relevant period results and to report the
newly development and strategy of the Group'’s
business. There is also ample opportunity for
all parties to ask questions and to communicate
the Group
shall reply and handle rapidly, as we have
received enquiries from media and individual
Shareholders.

with each other. Furthermore,

Tea-Break with individual investors

Since the first quarter of 2004/05, the Group
has been arranging tea-break with individual
investors to build up an interactive and direct
communication channel. This allows individual
investors talking to the management of the
Group. Meanwhile,
an update about the status of the Group’s
development and share of their feelings toward
the Group. Last year, a tea-break was held on 24
August 2019.

the Group would give
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Website

The Group regularly releases corporate
information such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on its
Company’s website. The public are welcome to
give their comments and make their enquiries
through the Company’s website, the management
will give their prompt response.

G. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

1.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from
the date of deposit of the requisition.

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing at the
Company’s head office and principal place of
business or the Company’s website.
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3. Procedures for putting forward proposals by
Shareholders at the shareholders’ meeting
Pursuant to Section 79 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, Shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or not less than 100
shareholders may make requisition in writing to
the head office and principal place of business of
the Company:

(@) to give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b) to circulate to Shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

Any enquires or suggestions by Shareholders can
be sent in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at our head office and principal place
of business or email to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group’s affairs and assists the Board in functionary
effectively. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. During
the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, there is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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Senior Management Profile

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 74, was appointed as a Director
of the Company in October 1996 and is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company as well as the
founder of the Group. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to founding the Group in
1980, Mr. Ho had over 10 years’ experience in factory
management and in running operations specialised in
manufacturing plastic, metal and electronic products. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate strategies and
objectives. He is also a director of New Sense Enterprises
Limited and Honford Investments Limited, a corporate
substantial shareholder of the Company, and the brother of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, who is a non-executive Director and
Deputy Chairman, the husband of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is a
member of management team and the uncle of Mr. Ho Kai
Man, a non-executive Director of the Company.
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Mr. Ho was appointed as member of the 10th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Political Consultative Conference
in January 2008 and was reappointed as a member of
11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province in January 2007.
He was also awarded as the Honorable Citizen of
Dongguan City and Honorable Citizen of Yixing City.
He was also the Honorary Vice-Chairman of Hang Seng
Management College — Foundation and the Honorary
Director of Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association Foundation. Mr. Ho currently participates in
affairs of different social and commercial associations,
which include Former Guangdong Province CPPCC
Members Association, Overseas Friendship Association
of Dongguan, Former Dongguan City CPPCC Members
Association, The Association of the Hong Kong Members
of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) CPPCC, Guangdong
Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association, Hong Kong
Metals Manufacturers Association, World Dongguan
Entrepreneurs, China Association of Enterprises with
Foreign Investment, Dongguan City Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment, Dongguan City
Fenggang Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations, Hong Kong Fenggang
(Dongguan) Natives Association Limited, The Hong Kong
Chinese Importers’” & Exporter’s Association, Dongguan
Foundation for the Disabled and Dongguan City Fenggang
Industrial Development Association (3R 5t 1 Bl [ E 3 % B
RESD).

Ms. CHAN Ming Mui, Silvia, aged 48, was appointed
as an executive Director in November 2010, and is the
General Manager — Human Resources and Administration
of the Group and responsible for the overall operation of
human resources, administration and IT department of the
Group. Ms. Chan is one of the members of the Executive
Committee and Internal Audit Committee of the Group.
She is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from The City University of Hong
Kong majoring in Public Administration and Management.
She joined the Group in 1996 and has over 20 years’
experience in administration and management.
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Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 45, was appointed as a Director of
the Company in November 2012. He has been appointed
as the General Manager and the Convener of Executive
Committee of the Group with effect from 1 April 2013,
responsible for overall manufacturing management
and operation of the Group. Mr. Zhao graduated from
Xihua University (formerly known as Sichuan Institute of
Technology) in the PRC with a Bachelor Degree in Foundry
Engineering. He had 15 years’ experience in metal plastic,
mould engineering and project management and more
than 10 years’ experience in production management and
operation. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in December 2011.

Mr. CHAN Raymond, aged 53, was appointed as an
executive Director in June 2016. He is also the Marketing
Executive General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
marketing and business development.
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He joined the

He is also the

Group in 1985 and has over 25 years’ experience in sales
and marketing.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Ming, aged 66, was re-designated as
a non-executive Director and Deputy Chairman of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2011. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ho
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
from October 1996 to 31 May 2007, and was a Deputy
Chairman and Chief Operation Officer as well as the
Convener of the Executive Committee of the Group. He
was re-designated as a non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 1 June 2007. He is responsible
for the overall supervision of the Group’s operation
business. He joined the Group in 1980 and has over 20
years’ experience in factory production. He is also the
brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who is one of the executive
Directors, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the brother-in-law of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is
a member of the senior management team and father of Mr.
Ho Kai Man (one of the non-executive directors).
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Senior Management Profile

SREEBAEBZBAES

Mr. HO Kai Man, aged 39, was appointed as an executive
Director from 12 July 2012 to 31 October 2012 and was
re-designated as a non-executive Director in November
2012. He joined the Group in November 2005. He has
been appointed as the Assistant Corporate Planning
General Manager and Executive Committee member and
is responsible for handling internal and external business
and political contact, establishing of communication
platform, promoting energy-saving, environment protection
and cleaner production etc and maintaining the Group’s
sustainability. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Ho graduated from Auckland University
of Technology majoring in Computer Science. He had
engaged in the works of various departments of the Group
so that he has familiarized himself with the business
operation of the Group. He is the nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-executive
director & deputy chairman of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. SO Wai Chun, aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
July 2001. Mr. So has been doing business in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China for over 20 years. His
businesses are mainly specialized in financial services and
international trading. In 2000, Mr. So was appointed as the
China Representative of Forestry New Zealand Limited,
which is a subsidiary of Evergreen Forestry Limited listed in
New Zealand.

Mr. FONG Hoi Shing, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in December 2004.
He has extensive experience in accounting, finance and
management. He holds a master degree in professional
accounting, a postgraduate diploma in corporate
administration and a higher diploma in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and an Associate of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.
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Senior Management Profile

Mr. YAM Chung Shing, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
November 2015, is an Honorable President of Dongguan
City Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment,
the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan, Standing Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City and an Executive Vice President and
Secretary of Association of the Hong Kong Members
of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Committee. He
has invested and developed several projects. He has
extensive experience in business management and project
investment.

MANAGEMENT

Ms. HO Po Chu, aged 71, is the Director of Administration
of the Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms. Ho is one of the founding members
of the Group in 1980. She is mainly responsible for
supervising human resources and overall administration of
the Group. She is also the wife of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who
is one of the executive Directors, the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and sister-in-law
of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, who is a non-executive Director
and Deputy Chairman.

Mr. HO Wai Hon, Brian, aged 30, is the Executive
Assistant to Chairman, responsible for assisting the board’s
strategic planning for the Group’s overall operation,
investment and property development projects. He was
also appointed as Head of Accounting and Finance on 1
November 2017, supervising and navigating the Group’s
finance, accounting and investor relations functions. He is
the member of the Executive Committee of the Group and
also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr.
Ho graduated from University of York, United Kingdom
with a Bachelor Degree in Economics and a Master Degree
in Finance and Investment Analysis at Aston Business
School. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 2012 and strategically
engages with the Group’s financial planning and business
development. He is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, the
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.
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Senior Management Profile

SREEBAEBZBAES

Mr. LO Wai Kit, aged 50, is the Marketing General
Manager of the Group and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
business development and product management. Mr. Lo
graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Sociology. Prior to joining the
Group in 2001, he had over 15 years’ experience in Sales &
Marketing.

Mr. CHAN Wah Ying, aged 55, is the Operation and
Quality General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group. Mr. Chan graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) with a higher certificate in
Manufacturing Engineering. Prior to joining the Group in
1992, Mr. Chan had over 13 years’ experience in quality
management in an electronic manufacturing company.

Mr. HO Man Chung, Philip, aged 63, the General Manager
of Dongguan Karrie Properties Development Company
Limited (REZ &I B E R EF B R 2 F), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, is responsible for the
coordination and planning of real estate business for the
Group. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 2011. He had engaged
in service business for more than 15 years and has over
20 years’ experience in project planning, operation and
management of hotel and property development. He
possesses expertise in various projects development and
management, especially in property development project.
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The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in:

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic products, including
server casings, moulds, plastic and metal parts and
household products;

—  Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale (“POS”) system and other
computer peripherals; and

— Real Estate Business: urban renewal, real estate project
investment and development.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business and an analysis using financial key performance
indicators, can be found in Chairman’s Statement on pages
11 to 37, in Report of the Directors in pages 71 to 102
and Financial Highlights on pages 8 to 10 of this Annual
Report.

A discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group is contained in Corporate Governance Report on
pages 38 to 64 of this Annual Report.

The Group’s turnover by principal product business
segment and geographical locations for the Year are set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Annual Report.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK5.0 cents per Share (2018/19 final dividend: HK5.0
cents per Share), to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 4 September
2020. Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents
per Share (2018/19 interim dividend: HK3.0 cents per
Share), total dividend paid/payable for this year amounted
to HK9.0 cents per Share (2018/19: HK8.0 cents per Share).
The final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be held on
28 August 2020.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 118 to 119
of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves
of approximately HK$448,875,000 mainly representing the
contributed surplus and retained earnings were available
for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$931,000.
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Report of the Directors
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES BE LHEIEBEERSG

Due to the fact that the share price of the Company is ERARGRMNERKEZERBEAE
unable to fully reflect its intrinsic value, the Company B & AR RN F [E A 1 Bk 22 AT i [0
repurchased 714,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange during 714,000 f& {5 - # 2\ E(E /795,600
the Year at an aggregate consideration paid of HK$795,600 &7t @ MZEFRMHDEE BN QTG o
and these Shares were subsequently cancelled by the  FF#1& K0Tt -

Company. Details of these transactions are as follows:

Number of  Highest price  Lowest price

Shares paid per paid per
Month/year repurchased Share Share Total paid
BoE k5 BREN BREM
£/R 28 REER &£ B B
(HK$) (HK$) (HKS)
(BT) (B 7T) (B 7T)
June 2019 622,000 1.14 1.11 697,780
—E-NFRA
August 2019 92,000 1.07 1.06 97,820
—ZE-NFENA
714,000 795,600

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not redeemed [k Lt FT#E TSN - NABIRAFE W2
any of its Shares during the Year. Neither the Company HAMEEHKM - KRR RENE ARG L
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the ZAFEAMMEE XL EFMAHD °
Shares during the Year.
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Report of the Directors
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has realized the importance of good utilization
of resources long time ago and not to exploit the rights
of using resources for the next generation. The Group
adheres to the concept of Chairman Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
with heartfelt dedication in all details, and saves resources
for the next generation. As such, the Group’s production
adheres to the concept of reducing energy or material
consumption from the sources with the adoption of
various environmental friendly measures and addition of
energy-saving equipment. With the concept of green and
cleaner production implemented in practice, the Group
continues to formulate policies for green production and
energy-saving policies, while introducing different kinds of
environmental friendly equipment to attain the objectives
of cleaner production and environmental protection and
to comply with relevant environmental regulations. It is of
paramount importance to have effective communication
and understanding between the Group and its stakeholders
including shareholders, partners, employees, suppliers,
regulators and the public in coming up with benchmarks
and regarding key issues.

In according with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report Guide contained in Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules, the Company’s Sustainability Report
will be available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website within three months from the
publication of this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of noncompliance
with such requirements. The Group has been implementing
system and allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the mainland
China while the Company itself was incorporated in
Bermuda and its Shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong, Bermuda and the PRC. The Group had
complied all relevant laws and regulations.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS
The Group ensures all staff are reasonable remunerated
and it regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers.
A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place
to receive, analyse and study complaints and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts an integrated top-down and bottom-
up approach in identifying risks and thereby conducts risk
analysis and assessment to identify the sources, categories
and indicators of risks. The followings are the key part of
the risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

(1) Finance:
The Group’s investment in financial instruments are
subject to various risks (such as market risks) and it
may result in losses and affect the cash flow of the
Group.

In managing the respective risks, the Group
formulated the following counter-measures for the
corresponding principal risks:

e all financial instrument contracts are subject to
discussion by senior management, and submit for
approval by the Board;

e financial instrument contracts that are purchased
through banks are subject to the account
authorized signatory designated by the Company
before becoming valid;

Report of the Directors
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strengthen the training on senior management on
risk control and knowledge regarding investment
management through the internal and external
resources of the Group; and

develop assessment mechanism for financial
derivatives, and conduct risk assessment by
qualified persons;

Operation:

(i)

(i)

High concentration of businesses and clients
The customers of the Group are mainly
concentrated in global leading technology
corporations. The Group may be unable to attract
new customers if no new product has been
developed. The concentration of customers and/
or the concentration of geographical location that
exceeds an acceptable level may increase the
business risk and may reduce the market share of
the Group. The Group may also be exposed to
the risk of significant reduction in profit in case a
few important clients are lost.

IT Strategy

Owing to the complications of the business
process of the Group, more time is needed
for testing for the customized reform of the
system. Lack of sufficient and effective testing
on the new IT system may lead to a failure
in coordinating with the operation process
of the Group, and thus affect its operation
effectiveness. The IT system may not be able
to update timely and effectively to adapt to the
changes of the operation process of the Group.
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The Group has already adopted the following

corresponding measures to mitigate operational risks:

(i) High concentration of businesses and clients:

develop new clients through multi-channel
and optimize designs, as well as develop
new products; and

expand to other sectors (such as real estate
industry) for business diversification of the
Group and broaden the income stream.

(ii) IT Strategy

the Group engaged a professional consulting
company at the preliminary stage of system
development and upgrading, and had
formulated a detailed scheme; and

Before and after the upgrading and during
the whole process, the IT department
focused on targeted training of every
related department, collected and handled
problems found during the actual operating
process one after another, and at the
same time, feedback the problems to
the consulting company in solving them
systematically.
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Risk of the Real Estate Business: 3)
The central government has implemented certain
macro-economic control measures in the real estate
market in the PRC to curb the price hike in certain
cities. These measures, such as purchase restriction,

price restriction and credit control, has put downward
pressure on the real estate market in the PRC and may

have an impact on the revenue of Karrie’s new Real
Estate Business.

To mitigate the risk of the new business, the Group
has adopted the following initiatives in response:

e To better handle the opportunities and challenges
posed by policy changes, the Group has
established a professional team to maintain close
communication with the relevant authorities and
thoroughly study policy trends so as to adopt a
more flexible approach to sales in response to
such changes;

e To reduce costs, deliver quality properties at
lower costs and compete effectively in the
market, the professional management team
closely monitors the quality, progress, safety and
materials of the development projects;

e The macro-economic control measures will foster
long-term development of the real estate market
and prevent any crash. On the other hand, most
of the Group’s projects are “urban renewal”
projects adjacent to Shenzhen in the Greater
Bay Area with relatively low land costs. As such,
the Group will launch its real estate projects in
a confident manner in the stable PRC economic
environment.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 24 August 2012
(the “Share Option Scheme”). Details of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized as below:

(i)

(if)

(a)

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive
scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions which the eligible
participants have made or will make to the
Group or invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme will provide the
eligible participants with an opportunity to have
a personal stake in the Company with a view to
motivating the eligible participants to utilise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group or invested entity; and attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining an ongoing
relationship with the eligible participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long
term growth of the Group or invested entity.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(a)

any director (whether executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive director),
employee (whether full time or part time
employee), consultant, customer, supplier, agent,
partner, joint venture partner or advisers of or
contractor to the Group or invested entity; and

any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or part
time employee), consultant, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, joint venture partner or adviser of
or contractor to the Group or invested entity.
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(iii) The total number of Shares that may be issued by (iii)
the Company if all options granted under the Share
Option Scheme have been exercised is 31,200,000,
which represents approximately 1.56% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this annual report.

(iv) The overall limit on the number of Shares which may (iv)
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
for the time being of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed such number of Shares equaling
to 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
No option may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company if it will result in the above-mentioned 30%
limit being exceeded.

(v) The total number of Shares which may be issued (v)
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme by the
Shareholders (the "Scheme Mandate Limit"), unless
Shareholders' approval has been obtained. Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of
the Company will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.
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Unless approved by Shareholders in a general
meeting, no option may be granted to any
eligible participant which, if exercised in full,
would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted or to be granted to such eligible
participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new grant
exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of such new grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or its
subsidiaries or any of their respective associates
under the Share Option Scheme must be subject
to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is a grantee of the
relevant options).

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
Shares in issue, and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of
each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000.

then such further grant must be subject to the
approval by Shareholders at a general meeting
taken on a poll.
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(vii) The period within which the options must be (vii)

exercised will be specified by the Company at the
time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10 years
from the relevant date of grant.

(viii) At the time of grant of the options, the Company may (viii)

specify any minimum period(s) for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised. The Share
Option Scheme does not contain any such minimum
period.

(ix) At the time of the grant of the options, the Company (ix)
may specify any performance target(s) which must
be achieved before the options can be exercised.
The Share Option Scheme does not contain any
performance targets.

(x) A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way of  (x)
consideration for the grant of an option is refunded
to be paid by each grantee upon acceptance of the
opinion.

(xi) Subject to adjustments made in a situation (xi)
contemplated under the Share Option Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall be at
the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall not
be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a Share as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant (which must be a business day) in
respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the relevant date of grant in respect of
such option; and

(¢) the nominal value of a Share.
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EEERE
(xii) Details of share option movements during the Year (xii) RIEBEREFEINAFE 2 BR
under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: EEHFBWOT:
Number

Number ~ Number ~ Number of options ~ Number
of options ~of options of options ~lapsed/ of options

Exercise Closing Price ~~ Priceat outstanding ~ granted ~ exercised  cancelled ~outstanding
Priceper Exercise ~ before date exercise date ~ at 1 April ~ duringthe  during the ~ during the at 31 March
Name Date of Grant Share ~ Period of grant  of options 2019 year year year 2020
“E-0f “RoRE
RERE RNBRE [BA-B REEE RMEEE  RAEE ZAZt-R
5k Rbmm  fRE  MAGR BB TRERE RN/ME WAGR
f4 RiA RS fES 2Bk 2R BRERE ERERS $E BREZE RREIE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) (000) (000] (000) (000) (000)
(&7 (km)  (Em () (f) () ) (f)
(i Directors/Chief Executives
EZRBATHAR
Mr. Zhao Kai 11/08/2014 0419 01/0822015- 0420 - 2,500 - - - 2,500
BilrE 1000872024
110812014 0419 01/0812017- 0420 - 5,000 - - - 5,000
100812024
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia 27102016 070 01/07/2017- 0.69 - - - - - -
Raskig 26102026
27102016 070 01/07/2018- 0.69 1.06 1,500 - (500 - 1,000
261102026
271102016 070 01/07/2019- 0.69 - 2,000 N - - 2,000
261102026
Mr. Chan Raymond 271102016 070 01/07/2017- 0.69 - 500 - - - 500
REXLE 26/102026
27102016 070 01/072018- 0.69 - 1,500 - - - 1,500
261102026
271072016 070 01/07/2019- 0.69 - 2,000 - - - 2,000
261102026
Mr. Yam Chung Shing 271102016 070 01/07/2017- 0.69 - N - - -
GEEVE 26/102026
27102016 070 01/072018- 0.69 - - - - -
261102026
271012016 070 01/07/2019- 0.69 - 200 - (200 - -
261102026
(i) Other Eligile Participants
EbaERsEE
Employees 110812014 0419 01/0812015- 0420 - 4,000 N - - 4,000
g 10/08/2024
110812014 0419 01/082017- 0420 - 4,000 - - - 4,000
10/08/2024
27102016 070 01/07/2017- 0.69 1.09* 2520 - (150] - 2370
261102026
271102016 070 01/072018- 0.69 115 2920 N (350) - 2570
261102026
27102016 070 01/072019- 0.69 115 5,260 - (1,520 - 3,760
261102026

*  Weighted Average Il # 339 1
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A professional actuarial firm has been engaged in the
year of 2014/15 and 2016/17 to perform a valuation
of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 2 (“HKFRS2”), the fair value of the share
option on the date grant should be amortised in profit
or loss as expenses over the period from the date of
grant until they are exercisable by the grantee. The
expense required to be reported for share options
granted from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2020 would be
estimated as follows:

2014/15  2015/16  2016/17
(Actual)  (Actua)  (Actual)
2014/15  2015/16  2016/17

(B®) (BR) (ER)

iR B B — A (A
AASHR-B—1—HEE R
—E N/ EERR A
AR 2 BRI EE -

REESVHREENE _R(E
BB RELR2])  BRENEK
HEHN A FEARA B ER S
NEH(ARLBEER ARTTRE
A BB ERPH
B BER-_ZT-—NFHUA—HE
—ECTF-A=+—HRLNOE
PRRERTELEM B BT

Financial Year

HREE
2017/18  2018/19  2019/20
(Actua)  (Actual)  (Actual) Total

201718 201819 2019/20
(R (BB  (BR) it

P&L expenses (HK$'000)  BaEZH(FET) 1,267 1020 2,561
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Employee share option expenses charged to the

consolidated profit or loss are determined with

the trinomial model valuation model based on the

following assumptions:

(1) The share options were granted on 11 August

2014:

Date of valuation

Date of grant

Option value

Market price at date of grant

Exercisable price

Risk-free interest rate

Life of options

Expected Volatility
(120 months)

Expected Dividend yield

11 August 2014

11 August 2014

HK$0.176 —
HK$0.194

HK$0.405

HK$0.419
1.97%

10 years

52.84%

2.47%
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A A

REEEE

REHBEZ

mEEE

TE(E

2 2 B A R

R
BRFH

78 HA R @
(12018 A)

B RS

—E—F
NA+—8H

—E—F
NA+—8H

0.176/8 70 —
0.194% 7T

0.4057 7T

0.41978 7T
1.97%

4

52.84%

2.47%
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(2)

The share options were granted on 27 October
2016:

Date of valuation 27 October 2016

Date of grant 27 October 2016

() RZE—XRFt+A-+tEBE®

Option value HK$0.239 —

HK$0.271
Market price at date of grant HK$0.70
Exercisable price HK$0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Life of options 10 years
Expected Volatility 51.27%

(120 months)

Expected Dividend yield 5.00%

2 R AE
ERER=R-t! —T—RF
+A—-++H
% H HEA —E—REF
+A—-++H
R EEE 0.2397 7T —
0.271% 7T
RELBZ 0.707 7T
mi5EE
TR E 0.707 7T
2 7 b 7 K 1.00%
R % +F
B WEFH
T8 5 % 18 51.27%
(1201 A)
TEHI =R A 5.00%

Note: The vesting of the share options is subject
to the performance of the Group.

There are several relevant measures that may
be considered to assess the financial impact
of the share option schemes, including the
expense of share-based transactions under
generally accepted financial reporting standards
(e.g., HKFRS2). The expense of the share-based
transactions is attributed over the period from
the original transaction date (i.e., grant date) to
the date when the recipient’s entitlement to the
payment has been fully realized (i.e., vested).
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The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility, adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Change in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The result of the trinomial model can be
materially affected by changes in these
assumptions so an option’s actual value may
differ from the estimated fair value of the options
due to limitations of the trinomial model.

In assessing the value of the share options
granted during the Year and the expense
of share-based transactions under HKFRS2
requirement, the trinomial option pricing model
has been used. The trinomial model is one of
the generally most accepted methods used to
calculate the value of options and expense of
share-based transactions.

The parameters of the trinomial model include
the risk free rate, dividend yield, exit rate and
trigger price multiple. The risk free rate has
made reference to the yield of exchange fund
notes as at the grant date. The dividend vyield
makes reference to the dividend history and it is
assumed that the grantee will exercise the option
in accordance with their sub-optimal exercise

policy.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Shares.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
283 to 285 of this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-law provides that the Directors shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
any actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their
functions.

The Company has arranged directors” and officers’ liability
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Directors during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2020 are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EHBEMEHNAT R FE283E285
E o

EEEN
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KAREITEATTT R M A BE T EF AR
A BRHBR BEEXE-

ARAELZHREETNFERARE AR
RACEENSREEAEBEERR -

ope NG
ARRTEMBRRZFHE  BRFH
WARMEE9 o

RITEE
AREER-_ZT_FTF=_A=1t—HZR
TREFHBIINUHRERME22 -

88 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Chan Raymond

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ho Kai Man

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. So Wai Chun

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

Mr. Yam Chung Shing

Mr. Yam Chung Shing entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year with effect from
1 November 2019; Mr. So Wai Chun, and Mr. Fong Hoi
Shing entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of half year with effect from 1 July 2020 and
7 June 2020 respectively subject to extension by mutual
agreement and retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company as and when
required under the Bye-laws.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws
and paragraph A.4.2. of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming, Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia and Mr. Ho Kai Man will
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. All such Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 1 August 2016, Massive Era Limited (“Massive Era”) (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into the
cooperation agreement with Kar Info International Property
Limited (“Kar Info”), REMRMBEKE R B R QA
(the “Project Company”) and Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai in relation
to the PRC Development Project to be developed by the

Project Company (the “Cooperation Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Massive Era
will invest HK$140,000,000 in consideration of being
entitled to a 50% of the profit to be earned from the
PRC development project upon the completion of the
PRC development project and expiry of the term of the
cooperation. The PRC development project will develop
a piece of land in Fenggang, Dongguan, with an area of
approximately 32,000 square meters, into a residential
project with a floor area of over 60,000 square meters.

As Massive Era is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company and as Kar Info is a wholly owned subsidiary of
a company controlled by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, a controlling
shareholder and executive Director (Chairman of the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer) of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which any of the Group
companies was a party and in which a Director was
materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group did
not enter into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are not exempted from annual
reporting requirement under the Listing Rules.

ESRXZ R¥HaHzFH

R=ZZF—/"F )\ H—H ' Massive Era
Limited ([Massive Era] XZNAR 2 & B
/A @]) EiKar Info International Property
Limited ([Kar Infol) » RZEM B EBE
MERBRAR(EE AR R E
EEREE AR THENPEFEIE
BRIV &tEH=E (S EmBZE] -

BIEF A /Eth % © Massive Erai§ & &
140,000,000 L 2 & 58 * LEH R E
FEBEETK ARG ERERESERE
FIE$TE B FT1550%m 7 - FEIF 3 IEE
1 IE R SE Bl —$84932,000F oK b
FEBERB60,000F A KEAERBENEE
IHE

M Massive FraB A AFIHMEEN B A
7] MKar InfoR AR QA 15 I8 I R 4,
TES(ESTEIFRITHER) [MIEE
EEZHN—KARINEZERBRA o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE S
SHARES

As at 31 March 2020

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the Shares and the
underlying Shares and any associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”")) (a) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

INTERESTS IN

(A) Interests in the Company
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BINICEE 27 16 1)) FEXVER) &9 i 47 K45
FABROPRENEDZ AR MZF
R SOR R () IR IR CGE 5 16 1) F 35216
ATRIF2ERMALEE  Hb 12@)“5
<Lﬁ’&ﬁ?%$tﬁmﬁx%ﬁﬁﬁ
ANMCGRESTRID)) B A AR T&E* B
EBRXGHMERRB ([P T

(F) REDQF 2=

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

SREEETZEERYA
Personal Family Corporate/ Total % of issued
interests interests  Other interests interests  share capital
EEREHHY
B A EER ki AiEE  BRAH
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai Gl ¥t 278,712,000 110,350,000 1,077,608,000 1,466,670,000 73.56
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)
(M3E—) (W3—) (M=)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming i Z B %4 11,400,000 — 817,608,000 829,008,000 41.58
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(B3 =) (M=)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia P /)@ 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 0.30
(Note 4)
(Fit 2t )
Mr. Zhao Kai WA 12,300,000 - — 12,300,000 0.62
(Note 5)
(W)
Mr. Chan Raymond B UEE 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000 0.25
(Note 6)
(M%)
Mr. Yam Chung Shing FEHLE 500,000 - - 500,000 0.03
(Note 7)
(M3 t)
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing bibi:3i bk 4,000 - — 4,000 0.00
Ms. Ho Po Chu AERT L 110,350,000 538,712,000 817,608,000 1,466,670,000 73.56
(Note 8) (Note 8) (Note 2)
(M N) (M) (M3xz)
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Notes:

1.

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consists of
278,712,000 Shares. He is deemed to be interested in
110,350,000 Shares held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu,
as beneficial owner.

The 1,077,608,000 Shares comprised (i) 487,608,000
Shares held by New Sense Enterprises Limited (“New
Sense”); and (i) 330,000,000 Shares held by Castfast
Properties Development Co., Limited (“Castfast
Properties”), 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments Limited
(“Honford Investments”). New Sense and Honford
Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF (BVI) Limited
(“TMF”) as trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family
Trust, and (iii) 260,000,000 Shares held by The Wedding
City Co., Limited (“The Wedding City”), 90% and 10% of
the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned
by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu, respectively.
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to be interested in the
817,608,000 Shares in (i) and (ii) as founder of The Ho
Family Trust and in 260,000,000 Shares in (iii) through
The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu and Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming are the discretionary objects of The Ho Family Trust
and are thus deemed to be interested in the 817,608,000
Shares held under The Ho Family Trust. Therefore, the
interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu and Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming in the 817,608,000 Shares duplicate with
each other.

The personal interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming comprise
11,400,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
comprise 3,000,000 Shares and 3,000,000 outstanding
share options.

The personal interests of Mr. Zhao Kai comprise
4,800,000 Shares and 7,500,000 outstanding share
options.

The personal interests of Mr. Chan Raymond comprise
1,000,000 Shares and 4,000,000 outstanding share
options.

The personal interests of Mr. Yam Chung Shing comprise
500,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprise
110,350,000 Shares. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed
to be interested in (a) 278,712,000 Shares held and
260,000,000 Shares deemed to be held by her spouse,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, and (b) 817,608,000 Shares referred to
in Note 2 above.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

Bt &

VAN

AlEBEE 2@ ARERBE
278,712,0000% A% 17  fa] 4= #8 %5 £
WEABBEHERBMNEGRZ T
BE@mEAAFEAEZ110,350,000
R R% 15 o

1,077,608,0008% % 2 & #& (i) &
New Sense Enterprises Limited
(INew Sensel) ¥ & 2 487,608,000
RO (W SREEHERREA
RAR(zBREHEDRFAEZ
330,000,000/ fx 17 - HE & 1TR
7K 287% J5 #H Honford Investments
Limited ([Honford Investments])
B A > New Sense & Honford
Investments B TMF (BVI) Limited
(ITMF]) ¥ & & # {5 5E The Ho
Family TrustZ XsEAZ EH B K&
(iNVEYWMERRB(EL )
£ 2260,000,0000% f& 15 - H 347
B Z2.90% K2 10% 5> Bl i {7 1 #E 5
ERMERTTERZER o [WIEE
% & {E & The Ho Family Trust 2 £l
SN AR R %% 817,608,000
% i 19 o 7 B () B i) B (i) 48 40 o3
2.260,000,0000% f& 15 2 # 2% o fa
BER L+ RAFEHLELE BThe Ho
Family Trustz 2 Xz A @ 8
R B M The Ho Family Trusti¥ B 2
817,608,000/% & 19 # B 25 © i
it (IR E - MBEHR T RA
F %L A R 2 5817,608,0000% 2
MZERELES -

fi] 8 B9 % £ 2 @ A #
11,400,000 A% B% {7 48 BX. °

M

Bk

BR & /N oz 8 A E |
3,000,000 0% B 1 53,000,000 14 7
TE 2 B AR REAE R -

9l A 2 8 A #E %= F14,800,000
R% B 17 %2 7,500,000 14 & 17 = BB
P% #E 4H K o

BRE X E 2B AESH
1,000,000 8% B% 15 }4,000,000 # &
TR -

£ 8 3 5 & 2 B A#E % 500,000
% A% 17 48 AX; ©

fil 8 % &+ 2 @ A &= /A
110,350,000% f% 1o #8 Ak o fa] &
RLUTH R AEFBEQERBW
RETEERERRBEAREZ
278,712,000 0% % {5 260,000,000
B% A% 17 : K2 (b) 817,608,0000% A% 15
2R WRANBHKLZ LT (WK
oA EB R R -
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(B) Interests and short positions in associated (Z2) RHEBEZEZERZRAR
corporations
(i) Karrie Industrial Company Limited (“KICL") (i) ET)UE:%EEE’L\a =%=3
=[]
Number of non-voting deferred shares
RRREELRNUA
Corporate/
Personal Family Other Total % of issued Short % of issued
interests ~interests  interests interests share capital  Positions share capital
EEERY
EARE ZEEE HtBE AfEE KREOH KE BEREIM
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 43,000 43,000 43,000 43000  8598% 43000  85.98%
HEgRE (Note 1) (Note1) (Note2)  (Notel)  (Note?)
(eE—)  (HE-) WeE=)  (WE-)  (WED)
Ms. Ho Po Chu 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 13.99% 7,000 13.99%
WERLL (Note 1) (Note1) Note2)  (Notel)  (Note2)
(ME-) (W) WE=)  WE-)  (WED)
(i) Karpo Technologies Limited (“KTL") (ii) ;;:;JE) BEERARTEER
Number of non-voting deferred shares
BREBELRNUA
Corporate/
Personal Family Other Total % of issued Short % of issued
interests interests interests interests share capital ~ Positions share capital
EEERY
EARE FERE HbEE AFER BREH ke BRESM
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 99.90% 10,000 99.90%
Ble3-bik (Note 1) (Note1) (Note3)  (Notel)  (Note3)
(MeE-) (W) M=) (WE-)  (WE=)
(iii) Karrie Properties Management Limited (i) AN EHEEEERLT
(“KPML") TENEE]
Number of non-voting deferred shares
BREBELRNUA
Corporate/
Personal Family Other Total % of issued Short % of issued
interests ~interests  interests interests share capital  Positions share capital
EARE FEEE HbgE AFERE BREH KR BRESHM
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 1 1 1 T 833% T 833%
Ble3- bk (Note 1) (Note1) (Note4)  (Notel)  (Noted)
(WeE—) (B (WaEm)  (WE-)  (WER)
Ms. Ho Po Chu 1 1 1 1 8.33% 1 8.33%
WEK L (Note ) (Note 1) (Note4)  (Notel)  (Note4)
(ME-)  (WE-) (WEm)  (WE-)  (WER)
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1. Karrie International (B.V.l.) Limited (“KIBVI”), a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has been granted options to acquire from Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu their non-voting
deferred shares in each of KICL, KTL and KPML.
Accordingly, KIBVI is taken to be interested in these
non-voting deferred shares in respect of which
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu have each
created short positions. In addition, by virtue of (i)
their interests in the Company; and (ii) the interests
as referred to in Notes 1, 2 and 8 under the section
headed “(A) Interests in the Company” above, Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu are each deemed
to be interested in the long positions that KIBVI has
in these non-voting deferred shares. Such interests
are duplicated with their personal interests in these
nonvoting deferred shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of KICL comprises
50,000 non-voting deferred shares and 10 ordinary
shares.

3. The entire issued share capital of KTL comprises
10,000 non-voting deferred shares and 10 ordinary
shares.

4. The entire issued share capital of KPML comprises
2 non-voting deferred shares and 10 ordinary
shares.

GEX

Karrie International (B.V.l.)
Limited ([KIBVI]) * KRR Z
BEEZEMBAR  EET
R W SR U A 0 S AR A ]
BRLZTRENER 28
MEREMNEBEMFENE
KREBRBELERD o BR AR
IEAEEMAE R ZTRE Lt
FIRTREENSBEESR
2B KIBVIEEAEZS
BINERRETERGO = -
BE HOESHEELART
ZRE R R (i)t [(FR) R
RARZ R Z2WaE— - =
K NI - AA] e 38 5T A R0 fa] BB
KL +EBHERB/RKIBVIR
ZEBRKBRERRELERMD A
Bife T AR - %5
mIREBEARZEREERE
BEEROAEREE -

EMNEREETRHSDHA
50,000/% < & 1% 5 # IE &
1% 5 R 10/% 2 38 A% 3% 15 78
ﬁjzc

EEREBERTRHGH
10,000% 2~ & % = & & &
1% 10 R 10/% 2 & 38 A% A% 10 48
;ﬁz o

ENEREETROA2KZ
ERERETER D R0k 2
BB EX -

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and the B EXFT#HEIN  ARARSEEMEE
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short 1T A B I #& % G £ A2 7) & £ ] 48
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures B ZB &K ~ HEK D LEFEFRH
of the Company and any associated corporations which #@m &KX E  MZzFER LKXE @R
were (a) recorded in the register required to be kept under  IE{FEFH GBI FE352G BT HEF 2 B
Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) otherwise notified to the  FATACERE : s (b) K iE (IR ZESFAI) 8 40
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model — ZN2A &) K B 22 By

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2020, Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po
Chu were interested in certain companies established in
the PRC (the “Competing Companies”) which are or are
likely to, directly or indirectly, compete with the business
of the Group. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu are
also the directors of these Competing Companies. Details
of the interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu in
the Competing Companies are as follows:

Date and place of
establishment

&L A L B A R 3t B

Name of Competing Company

BEHELFAER FRER

Principal business

Report of the Directors

ESEERE

EENBEREBT o ES
RZZ_ZTF=A=1+—8H  fA=EL
B RAATBERZ TR HE MR B K
AN T&T%ﬁ$$lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi
FMEHFZAR(HEFERRDERE
oo IR A R E R L LR REL
BREMRARZES - (IEEEERAE
RZtRNZEHFHERR 2 ERFIT
T

Shareholdings
k&

Dongguan Castfast Door and 2 August 2001,

Window Products Co., Ltd. the PRC
( Dongguan Castfast” )

RRERMEERERA “TTE-FN\AZH"
(REzE]) i

25 March 2008,
the PRC

Yixing Yongtai Electronic

Technology Co. Ltd. PRC

Property investment and
consultancy services in the PRC

RPEETHERERRZARE =4

Property development in Yixing the

Castfast Properties: 95%

SR E  95%

Castfast Properties: 75%
Dongguan Karrie Resort
Limited: 25%

(“Yixing Yongtai”)
HEXREFRHEERAA
(I &k %))

MERBRA

“TE\F=A=TEA-

hE

7 September 2000,

R EERETYERE RERME:75% REEH

BRABERAR:25%

Property investment and Kar Info Property Limited:

A [%EZ’E— HLJ) the PRC development, manufacturing 100%
and sales of computer related
electronic devices
RETRARERERERLE —ZTTFAALA. WERENFEE LERHESER EAREBE)EXEARA
Al R=RZAE]) e HEETRE 100%
As at 31 March 2020, Dongguan Castfast had developed Q—?— TE=ZA=1+—H RxxE
a residential and commercial property project located FNFRRE - BURPERER
at Dongguan, the PRC with a site area of approximately Z% e EENEBAWEIERER - G
48,600 sq.m. and a total gross floor area of approximately — E &%) /&48,600F 75K » M AR EHEEE

233,700 sq.m. before 20009.

B 49 /233,700 J5 K °

As at 31 March 2020, Yixing Yongtai had developed a N_TE_ZEF=A=+—H HHEXZE

commercial property project located in Yixing, Jiangsu, the
PRC. This project occupied a site area of approximately
101,637 sq.m. and comprised offices, staff quarters and

canteens.

ERE—RUNPEIHEETE 2 EHH
YHIEE - ZEBGHEEL A101,637
FEK - WHEFE - BIEENEERE
B o
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As at 31 March 2020, R 55138 cooperates with Massive
Era Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
to develop a residential property project located in
Dongguan, the PRC. This project occupied a site area of
approximately 32,000 sq.m. with a total gross floor area of
approximately 61,000 sqg.m..

The power to make material business decisions for the
Group is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board
considers that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Group and any Director, such Director will be required
to abstain from voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of
carrying on the Group’s business independently of, and at
arm’s length, from the business of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and
Ms. Ho Po Chu.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2020

The interests or short positions of the persons (other than a
Director or Chief Executive of the Company) in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO are as follows:

RZE-EF=A=+—H RH=Ex=:l
3 B Massive Era Limited (K2Rl 2 &2 &

WMEBARDAGIEER —BEMURPBEE:
ETEWE  (GHEEL AE32,000F FH

Ko MEBEELHEEMEL A61,000F FK -

$%ZEKW¥?&;’EE§%%$@*
Ewml  EEFQRARAELREE
%EﬁK‘ilﬁﬂ @T;’iHT ' %%%%%Hﬁ
ERERZE Bt EFSFEEB LN
&/Aﬂ?fﬁéﬂ}@ﬁf‘ai&ﬂ Ifkéziﬁ’]
EBmMEERAER 2 X5 -

FERR
R-ZB-Z2HF=A=+—H
ATALTTBREERARFBZES
ﬁﬂl/\%)E’Mﬁﬂﬂ%fﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁqﬂ
BARBARRAR(EZGD)F336
FrEzERMzERE LRE

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BREMBIBTZEBERHA
Personal Corporate/ Shareholding
Name of Shareholder interests  Other interests percentage
EEERES
BRREH 18l A 5 Hfto #E 55 BRETH
New Sense 487,608,000 — 24.46%
(Note 1/t & —
Castfast Properties 32 & =5 b &= 330,000,000 — 16.55%
(Note 2B 3 —
The Wedding City 25 40 3, 260,000,000 — 13.04%
(Note 3fff & =)
Honford Investments — 330,000,000 16.55%
(Note 20 & =
TMF — 817,608,000 41.01%

(Note 4 5F P4)
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Note:

1.

The entire issued share capital of New Sense was owned by
TMF as trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

87% of the issued share capital of Castfast Properties is
beneficially owned by Honford Investments. The entire issued
share capital of Honford Investments was owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust. The
interests of Honford Investments duplicate with those of the
Castfast Properties.

260,000,000 Shares were beneficially held by The Wedding
City. 90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu,
respectively. The interests of The Wedding City therefore
duplicate with those of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai referred to in Note
2 to the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares — (A) Interests in the Company” above.

TMF is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by New
Sense, Castfast Properties and Honford Investments by virtue of
acting as the trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, no

person, other than the Directors and chief executives of

the Company, whose interests are set out in the section

“Directors’

and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares”

above, had an interest or short position in the Shares and

underlying Shares of the Company that was required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

Report of the Directors
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— + New SenseZ & # B #1TIRATHHTMF A
{& 5E X The Ho Family Trust#$ A& ©

Z REFHEDEITRAZ87% I H
Honford Investments &z %A ° Honford
Investments 2 & 8 B 3 1T IR 2N T3 BB TMF
E A Z 1S 7EThe Ho Family TrustZ %
¥ A#5 8 ° Honford Investments 2 #& &5
HEEEE s ERED -

A B 2215 5260,000,000 A% 1D - H

BTN 2 90% N 10% 7 Bl i {a] k2 8 56

ERFMERLZTE=RE - it - B

WZEERERAMIEELERLLEIE

ERRRTBRABZERGOEZR — (F)

RARB ZHEDE ] — BT pra 2%
Esm °

M TMF# R & A The Ho Family TrustZ
FEAZ M New Sense ~ 2R E M
Honford Investments T3 A 15 F HE B

BREXREERESITHRAEBRIES
RE@ITHRA Bz BintEss PR -

R-ZZ-TF=-_F=+—H UEAZL
mAEAR TZW%&WF%HxTﬁZ%“EX

KRR MRSEEIARFTREGE
G BI) 336K A T w17 2 & it BT aC
ﬁ(}
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UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE HRE EHmHR A FE1351BMFRIEHZES

13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

EREH

Change of information of the Directors, which is required  1R#& EM R AIF13.51BMIEETHEE 2
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing EEE L Z&HHH W :

Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

Esns

Detail of Change
SEHE

Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

R % k) H

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Ho Kai Man

Al R 3 5E A

Mr. Chan Raymond

B XL E

annual salary increased from HK$866,496 to HK$890,496
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2019
F %7 H8866,4967%5 JT 14 1 £890,49678 7T (TN BIFW EIEAL)
BT NAFLtH-HBER

annual salary increased from HK$1,213,510 to HK$1,215,010
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2019
FHB1,213,5108 L MEL215,0108 T(TREMEIE
) BZZ—hLFEA—HEXK

annual salary increased from HK$452,400 to HK$468,000
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2019
F % B9452,4007%8 7T 38 11 468,000 7T (T RIEB EIE4L) -
B-ZT-hFtHA—HBEX

annual salary increased from HK$1,008,000 to HK$1,032,000
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2019
% %7 $11,008,0007%8 7T ¥ i £1,032,000% 7T (N BIEBWEE
) BZE-NFEA-—HBAER
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

(M

On 20 December 2016, Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien)
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) as borrower
and the Company and Karrie International (B.V.l.)
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) as guarantors
entered into a facility agreement with Hang Seng Bank
Limited, whereby the bank agreed to make available
to the above borrower a term loan facility up to
HK$240,000,000 for a term of 48 months from the
date of such facility agreement.

The above facility agreement imposes, inter alia,
conditions that each of the above borrower and
the guarantors shall ensure and procure that (i) Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai and his associates together have and
will maintain not less than 65% direct or indirect
shareholding in the Company; and (i) Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai and his associates will not create or permit to
subsist (or agree to create) any security over any of
their Shares in the Company without the bank’s prior
written consent.

On 23 March 2017, Dongguan Karrie Properties
Development Company Limited (3 5% 5 8| 5 i &=
% A R 2 A]) (a subsidiary of the Company) as
borrower and the Company, Castfast Industrial (Yan
Tien) Limited and Karrie International (B.V.l.) Limited
(a subsidiary of the Company) as guarantors entered
into a facility agreement with Hang Seng Bank (China)
Limited, whereby the bank agreed to make available
to the above borrower a term loan facility up to
RMB270,000,000 for a term of 48 months from the

date of first draw down.

The above facility agreement imposes, inter alia,
conditions that each of the above borrower and
the guarantors shall ensure and procure that (i) Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai and his associates together have and
will maintain not less than 65% direct or indirect
shareholding in the Company; and (ii) Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai and his associates will not create or permit to
subsist (or agree to create) any security over any of
their Shares without the bank’s prior written consent.

Report of the Directors
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(M

RZE-RF+ZAZ+H K
RAElZMBARIEREESRBR
EMERARWEREBNRA) R
N A &R AR 2 M B A A Karrie
International (B.V.l.) Limited (£ A&
BERA)BEELRITAERAREGL
BEHZE  BUZRITRERE
it 18 5% 77 12 it 5 % 3% 240,000,000
BLEHERRME  B%@ME
WEEEEFRBHETARA -

LB EHHEATR  (Ehed) ik
HRERERTRERARSE
FER ARG ()T IE B 4 R A B 8
AEREBH/BHAETIRART
HY65% B 7% =k [E] £ B © M (i Al se
BREREBE A ISERE
ZRITELAERRABHBER TR
FRART Z P tn 18 & [ HE
HAFFEFECRBEER)

WZZE—+F=ZA=-+=H AR
AlZMB AR RERAFHEM%
BERARI(ERERA)  AAw Rk
ARRIZHBRARIEAZIEERBR
& AR A7 KKarrie International
(B.V.I) Limited (fE B #ER A) 218
ERIT(FE) BRAFGILBE R
& BUZBRITEER EAER
HiRMEZE ARKK270,000,000
TZEHERME  BEXRERA
REABE+-A@EA -

LB EHER (AR ed) K
HRLtAERTRERABRSEB
R R REG)MEEEE R A S
AR R K @FHETDRARF
H65% B % ok [H % I : M (i) {1
BRAEREBEABITEERE
ZBITEAREARBNBERTHE
ERRMIBRTME LR
FHEREER) -
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(3)  On 12 November 2018, Karwin Engineering Company (3)
Limited and Karrie Technologies Company Limited
(each of which is a subsidiary of the Company) as
borrowers and the Company as guarantor entered
into a facility agreement with The Bank of East Asia,
Limited, whereby the bank agreed to make available
to the above borrowers a term loan facility in an
aggregate amount of HK$150,000,000 for a term of
three years from the date of such facility agreement.
The facility will be used to refinance the above
borrowers’ existing indebtedness and to finance the
corporate funding requirements of the Group.

The above facility agreement imposes, inter alia,
conditions that each of the above borrowers and the
Company shall ensure that (i) Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai shall
be and remain the chairman of the Company; and (ii)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming and/or The Ho’s family shall beneficially own in
aggregate more than 50% of the issued share capital
of the Company.

(4) On 18 March 2019, Karwin Engineering Company  (4)
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) as borrower
(the “Borrower”) and the Company and a number of
its subsidiaries, namely, Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien)
Limited, Hong Kong Hung Hing Metal Manufacturing
Company Limited, Karrie Industrial Company Limited,
Karrie Technologies Company Limited and Dongguan
Feng Gang Castfast Metal & Plastics Company Limited
(KRB HEZEBRBASAERAF]) as guarantors (the
“Guarantors”) entered into a facility letter (the “Facility
Letter”) with Hang Seng Bank Limited (the “Bank”),
whereby the Bank agreed to make available to the
Borrower a term loan facility up to HK$250,000,000 for
a term of four years from the date of first drawdown.

The Facility Letter imposes, inter alia, the Borrower
shall undertake and ensure that Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
shall not pledge the Shares without the Bank’s prior
written consent.

R-ZZE—-N\F+—A+=H %8
i T2 B R AR & 5= FIRBRE
EERAB(ZEAARRTMNBATR])
(EBERA)RARREAER
AN ERTRITERAFGILAE
Wi B BITEER L
AR # A 2£150,000,0007% T 2
THERME  EnEpEA e
A =F mESARNBRE L
MIERFEBEBRARNER AR
BoBRRHES -

BIE T EHZETR (AP B
BGEGRLEAEBERAREATA
FEEBRGAIEBELEEETIBE
AABERE  RG)AMEBILAE -~ 7
ERLLT MERLE RS
KRGEHELEZHEEARAQRD®
FTIRA50% A ko

RZZFE—-—NEF=ZA+N\H ' ARF
ZHBRE R EMM ITIEER AT
(ERBERF)(ERFDRAAE
FESRNEAR - BEMAZES
BRELHMERAR BEAERS
BEMAERAF  ZMNERERA
A BAREKEEAERAGRERE
EREREEBRASAER AR E
BERATERADBEEBARTT
BRAR([ZBITD T BB K1
(TR E M)  BHZRITRER
&3 A 1R & % 3% 250,000,0007%8
T2 EHERBME BB XIENE
Hie s A& # U F -

BREKFRTR(EFRE) B35
HEEMERREZRTEREER
BRI AIEEREENSERBRD -

As at the date of this Annual Report, the above specific ~ RARF A H - AN A2 K R 4 &
performance obligations by the controlling shareholders of 1T Lt A§E&E T ©

the Company continue to subsist.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended
31 March 2020 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 40%
Five largest suppliers combined 62%
Sales
The largest customer 34%
Five largest customers combined 83%

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial
interest in the Group’s major suppliers or customers noted
above.

DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Assuming that the final dividend is approved by the
Shareholders at the AGM, for the purposes of ascertaining
the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 3
September 2020 to Friday, 4 September 2020 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of Shares will
be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend,

the entitlement to the final dividend,

all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 2 September 2020. It is expected
that the final dividend will be payable and issued to those
entitled on or around Monday, 21 September 2020.
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EEERE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM to be held on 28 August 2020, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
24 August 2020 to Friday, 28 August 2020 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of Shares will
be registered. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 21 August 2020.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on public
information available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs.
KPMG who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.
appointed by the Company during the last three years.

There is no change in auditors
A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Cheuk Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Karrie International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Karrie International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 116 to 282,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition in metal and plastic and

FREETE H
AREBFAZTRIORBEEFZIEXZHE -
RRBARGEAEMBHRR ZEF RS
EBZEH UWFEHILEBEFE
ERGEAMBHRRAMEAERBET
R - BEE T EHELERREHRES
ZER -

TSEBREFERNIRZBZUARE

electronic manufacturing services businesses

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(x).

The key audit matter
BREEITEE

R
LW DB B REM 26 R M 52002
BHHF -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZBETNNEEZER

Revenue from sales of the Group’s metal
and plastic products and electronic products
accounted for over 90 percent of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020.
It is recognised when the goods are delivered
to the customer’s designated location which is
considered to be the point in time when the
Group transfers the control over goods to the
customers.

SEEBE_ZT_TF=-RA=1+—HILFEHE
heRBRBEMMEETERZWARBK AR
BENZNT  HBRAEEMXRETFPEE 2
HONESESEREHNREBEEPRER -

The Group's sales contracts with customers,
which principally comprise large-sized
international technology corporations, have a
variety of terms and conditions. Such terms may
affect the timing of the recognition of sales to
those customers. The Group evaluates the terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing of revenue recognition.
EREEEF(X2E/EAMBEBRMRAR)FIL
ZHEBRHNRE —RINRBGER R MEAT - ZF K
KA e EMAYELEPETHEZRME -
ERBRESHECONAREBR ZABIGRE
BEBABRZEERRE -
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Our audit procedures to assess the timing of
revenue recognition included the following:

BEERBERARBZERZBAIEFBENUT

— obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

— THREFHEERERNWARER BN
mH 2 RET - BRREFRZBRIE:

— inspecting key customer contracts to
identify terms and conditions relating to
goods acceptance and assessing the Group’s
revenue recognition policies with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

— RERAREPAOUBINEEMREKEHE
R R - ARZRIRITEFER 2 EK
AFEERE B AERBR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) REEITSERAE)
Timing of revenue recognition in metal and plastic and ATBBREFEXEANIXZBZWRAE
electronic manufacturing services businesses (continued) AEEE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMAEEZEE

The key audit matter
BEFEITEE

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
in the metal and plastic and electronic
manufacturing services businesses as a key audit
matter because each sales contract may have
different terms and conditions which increases
the risk of error in the recognition of revenue
and because it is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and could be subject to
manipulation to meet targets or expectations.

EEEREBRBRETEXRIEBZRAER
LRI SARETFER IZHEGHOADT
) {6k 3K Ko {1 DR T A) BE 38 hn Ui A\ T 5% 8 AR 2 [
2o R AWASEREEFR —HBARXER
R OARXIARBMNEXNERIBHE -

comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and
after the financial year end date with goods
delivery documents and underlying sales
invoices to determine whether the revenue
had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period; and
MELREFRANRCARZARBKRARS
HERBEERE LB XM - AEEHE
ABRACEEEEZFRATARA R

inspecting underlying documentation for
manual journal entries relating to revenue
raised during the year which were considered
to be material or met other specific risk-
based criteria.

BMERRRERNKXTARFERRFEERSR
WABBZF 8B AGR D8 2B -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(m)(i).

The key audit matter
BREEITEE

B4 5 3 0 (40)
7R

2 RI4 B B B F I 415 B 4 20m)()
A -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZENNEEZER

The Group is primarily involved in the
manufacture and sale of metal and plastic
products as well as electronic products.
ERETIENFRERFEELSREBER - N
NEFEmM-

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The Group maintains its
inventory levels based on customer orders and
forecast demand.

FERKAEMERFECACREEGRE - &
EERBEEPIIENMBEHHEREFHEFEKYT -

A significant proportion of the Group’s products
are manufactured to meet specific customer
requirements. There is a risk that inventories may
be stated at more than their net realisable value
if a customer experiences financial difficulty or
there is a demand issue with a customer’s product
that includes a component manufactured by the
Group.
BEEENATTERERMERERBEPZEXM
HiE - MREPHEMERHE HEFZEMRE
EHESERENAT) FERRKEE ek
RFER BB EAI B FETIKZERE -
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

BEENFEBRECETREFERUATSEEA:

— obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls over the process for assessing
provisions for inventories;

— THENFEESREAERIGFEREREBZ
R BRABIES & B RETLZ
BRI

— comparing the cost of raw materials with
supplier invoices, on a sample basis;

— W E R R 2 B B R R R B R
LR

— for work-in-progress and finished goods,
challenging the key assumptions concerning
overhead absorption by assessing the cost of
items included in the overhead absorption
calculations, on a sample basis;

— HRYEKBLREKG BEMEFGE
BEROEMEBSZKA  GHEBZRER
DEBHEERERR:

— assessing the classification of inventory items
in the inventory ageing report by comparison
with supplier invoices and other underlying
documentation on a sample basis;

— FAMBRLERRERELEMBREXY - 5T
EREEREBRENZFEEEDA:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Valuation of inventories (continued)

The key audit matter
FARENEE

RRBEFSHE)
FEMEGE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEENNNEEZSEE

Management assesses the level of provisions for
inventories required at each reporting date after
considering inventory ageing and other relevant
factors. This assessment involves significant
management judgement and estimation.
EEBEMAFEZCRRAEMBHARNZR - ©
BEKEAFGEIFFEEBIKFE - ZFED
REBREEEHE KA -

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key
audit matter because the Group held significant
inventories at the reporting date and because of
the significant degree of management judgement
and estimation involved in evaluating the
provisions for inventories.
BEEEFEAENAERENSH DRERHE
RBEEARAEREZTFE  UREFNEFEER
By kT ERNEREHE LA -

— selecting inventory items, on a sample
basis, at reporting date and comparing
their carrying value to their subsequent
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices
subsequent to the reporting date;

— WMEEENMEBIHFEERR  LBREKE
EEFEARHBEERELZER:

— comparing material slow-moving inventories
items with customers’ orders and production
forecasts and assessing the financial
condition of key customers; and

— NREPIENEEFRAESZRNBHFERA
ETHE  URFEEIEEPZMBEMN
&

— assessing the historical accuracy of
management’s process for making provisions
for inventories by examining the utilisation or
release of the provisions for inventories made
at the end of the previous financial year
during the current financial year.

— BRAFE LS FERRGFERERE
ZAFEZERSLBLOBR  FHEEER
BAEsFERERGEELER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Loss allowance for trade receivables

Refer to notes 3(a)(iii) and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies notes 2(l)(i) and

2(0).

The key audit matter
ARBESNEE

(BRSEHAIN LAETTHIR)

AREBESASHE)
EZRWRRZERRERE

2[5 & B 5N A 3(@) (i) K BT 13
R ] &t 2(0)() #12(0).2 & 51 B T

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EECENNEEZSER

The Group generates revenue from sales of its
products and services to customers in several
different jurisdictions including Hong Kong,
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), North
America, Western Europe and other Asian
countries.

SEERRELE PEARANMBE(HED -
itk EREEMEMNEREANZZEARBDA
EEREAMNEEPHEEMIRBELRA -

Customers located in different jurisdictions are
subject to different local risks (including political,
currency and interest rate risks) specific to those
jurisdictions in addition to the effects of the global
economic climate.

BREREERRZEEIN  URTRAEAEER
Z%;ff' NeEE TR RZEERR(BEES

CEER R LA EER)

Management assesses the loss allowance for trade
receivables required at each reporting date after
taking into account the ageing and historical loss
rate of trade receivables, the repayment history
of the customers of different risk characteristics,
current market conditions and customer-specific
conditions. Such assessment involves significant
management judgement and estimation.

BEEBEEZREZRBER ZRERESL EE

E - AEREBRFEBZEFERTE  ERMER
BMEPZERMNBRE REEAREAFHELE

ZEBESHRWIRR 2 BRERE -
BFELEENHE MG

&R E PR EE
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance
for trade receivables included the following:
EEREIRRERZERBBZETEFERE
AN &I

— obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design,
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls over credit control,

implementation and operating

collection of
trade receivables, estimate of expected credit
losses and making of loss allowance;

— THREFEEEEEBEERZRS  BEHENK
AR B = &%E,Hﬁﬁfffﬁé ZihEt s
B2 REH B RETZAERIE:

— evaluating the Group’s policy for making
loss allowance for trade receivables with
reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

— Z2RBRITEFEAZER q”_r’ﬁﬁml?dﬁf’f
5 FE MR AR B 1R B 2 BUR

— assessing the classification of trade
receivables in the trade receivable ageing
report by comparison with sales invoices and
other underlying documentation on a sample

basis;

— FBRWMELEEERE EE AR U
HESRERBERRRRE "’%JZH&ZEE?K%
L
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Loss allowance for trade receivables (continued)

The key audit matter
FARENEE

BREETEEE)
ESEWRRZEBRRBE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEHNMNEEBRZER

We identified loss allowance for trade receivables
as a key audit matter because of the significance
of trade receivables to the consolidated statement
of financial position and because of the significant
degree of management judgement involved in
evaluating the adequacy of the loss allowance for
trade receivables.
FREFRUERZERBRBI RBRETS
E AREZRWERHAEATHBMARZIERKR
- ARFEEZREER 2BRBEE 2T RN
BREBRZEEREH G

— obtaining an understanding of the key data
and assumptions used in the expected credit
loss model adopted by the management,
including the basis of segmentation of trade
receivables, historical default rate, and the
assumptions involved in management’s
estimated loss rate;

— THRREEEBMERZENEEERRELS
FrERZBERBBEMERR  ETEREESE
Wik 2 £ - BEREQRREEE R A H
BREXZER:

the reasonableness of

management’s loss allowance estimates

— assessing

by examining the information used by
management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data and evaluating whether
the historical rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information; and

— ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ@%%%&%%Zﬁﬂ'@%

Vriiﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁriﬁ

Tg—'—ﬂimikﬁgé?ﬁrzé/gﬂﬁ/ﬂ&ﬁ R
Emﬁﬁ'uﬁﬁgﬁgﬁﬁzgﬁﬁﬁz
BN R

— inspecting bank receipts from customers and
other relevant underlying documentation
subsequent to the financial year end relating
to trade receivable balances at 31 March
2020, on a sample basis.

— WMERERNVRFEERERFTPEIMRN =
ZEF=A=+—BHZEZRWERAHE
BR 2R EIR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Assessing the net realisable value of property
development in the PRC

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(m)(ii).

The key audit matter
ARBESNEE

AREBESASHE)
FERPENERR2IRRFE

R B4R & B TE R A M iE 16 K BT 72 2(m)(ii)
2 A H R ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEESNNEEZSEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a number
of property development projects located in the
PRC which were stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value at an aggregate amount of
HK$819 million.

R-ZZB_ZF=-A=1+—0 BEXERTEEAH
EMEHERER  BRARATZEFERE 28
(K& 585 - 424 %8 /819,000,000 JT °

The calculation of the net realisable value of each
property development project at the end of the
reporting period is performed by the Group’s
management.
BEMEEREENBEPR AR FEHE
SEEEENE -

The calculation of net realisable value of property
development requires estimations, including
expected future selling prices and costs necessary
to complete the sale of these properties.
EHENEBEZARRFENEBEH - 0F
HEMEFRRRRHEEBE R TKIEEMTE R KX
N o

110

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable
value of property development in the PRC
included the following:
EERFERTEYERR ZAIZERFE TN
BFEEATEE:

— evaluating the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over the preparation, monitoring and
management of the budgeted construction
and other costs for each property
development project;

— HEESEEXRESMEERABZAERZY
REMRARZEE  EEREE ZBEREA
Bl R BN ETZARILE:

— conducting site visits to the property
development projects on a sample basis,
discussing with management the progress
and comparing the observed progress with
the latest development budgets for each
of those property development projects
provided by management;

— YYEERBFEWMEETEMER  HERE
BHmAREELRBEEBREZEEAME

ERABRVNEREEEBEMSERIFL

g
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Assessing the net realisable value of property
development in the PRC (continued)

The key audit matter
BARBESSE

RRBEFSHE)
AERPENERR2IRRFE
(&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNAEEZEER

We identified the assessment of net realisable
value of property development in the PRC as a
key audit matter because the determination of net
realisable value requires significant management
judgement and estimation in relation to future
selling prices and future construction costs
which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.

FHEFERPEMEERR 2 EHFENLH
ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ AANETrAZR FEREEES
R 2R B B (B MOR K2 SRR AR E th B K 2 #IET I
fBEh - EAmAlgE B NsERIEEEIEER R 2 M
|§/~/\

— evaluating valuation methodology used by
management and assessing the key estimates,
data inputs and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, by comparing expected future
average selling prices with available market
data such as recently transacted prices for
similar properties located in the nearby
vicinity of each property development
project and comparing costs to complete
each property development project
with publicly available construction cost
information for similar properties (taking into
account both property type and location) and
sales budget plans maintained by the Group;

— BRERESEMEERBEB2EAFOHE
{8 B 7] 15 T 35 B (A0 (L 72 A0 31 3 [ [R) 2R 2
MEBIRRE) LBRENRERRA T
PN NGEE SCIDECRR e 0PN
ﬁﬂ(%@%%&ﬁ&hﬁ)&ﬁ%l%
AZHERENE  FESEERAZEE
;é%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%Zﬁﬁﬁ C WA

pu)

— re-performing the calculations made
by management in arriving at the year
end assessments of net realisable value,
on a sample basis, and comparing the
estimated costs to complete each property
development project with the Group’s
updated budgets; and

— WMEEMAEEEEY YR EEHE 25t
5 RUBESESHEEEGENIER
HBTERZEFTRA &

— performing sensitivity analysis to determine
the extent of change in those estimates that,
either individually or collectively, would
be required for property development to
be materially misstated and considering the
likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates arising and whether there was any
evidence of management bias.

— ETHREINMNEEZFEHE (T HE 5
i@MA%%%@ﬁﬁikfﬁﬁL%ﬁ
ZBIRE  EEHFAERGEEZE D
ZABENE  MREFEAAERBRNGEES
EEEERRL -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

REMBBRRREAZBMBEUIN
=5

E=FHHEMERAE - HLEEEHE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 3 % BAT ¥R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.
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5

EE7ER  REGAUBHREREREE
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s EEEREM o
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 3% AT R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSBH RSN LA THIR)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE REBMREBTA GRS BERRARIEZE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 1F(4&)

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies —
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ —
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and —
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding —
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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ok 44 435 4 M
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A HEBRAT BREEE ARk
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REEERNERAXBEIS M
HKEEERRTR  BEZEFMRE
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R-BFZABEREEFMZHR
EENHT - BEEREF B R K
EEHET-

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, PFREMEBIEI  EZEHEZZELE
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of BT E2FF&HE BHELZH - EX
the audit and significant audit findings, including any FF#EE  BESSENEHEA
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify i A5 §l 2 ({2 82 K ERFE o

during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 3 % BAT ¥R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

24 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (VA7 7071 7R)

31 March 31 March
2020 2019
(Note)
—EZE®HF —E-NF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
(M)
Note $000 $'000
B 5T Fr Tt
ASSETS 'E
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - MENMERE 6 510,838 467,215
Investment properties REWME 7 294,800 318,600
Intangible assets ﬁﬁﬁ BE 8 7,893 9,168
Investment in an associate ABEE AR IR E 10 16,538 16,327
Other financial assets ,Jﬁﬁrﬂlﬁ}% 14 19,629 19,325
Other non-current assets HEMERBEE 13 38,300 32,000
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E 24(b) 5,291 5,001
... 893,289 867,636
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 15 528,865 335,491
Property development MEER 16 818,881 689,437
Trade and bills receivable B5REBRRBKER 13 301,351 279,285
Prepayments, deposits and other  TE{J 3 * & & &
receivables H e I BR 13 63,728 45,904
Amounts due from related JE Wy [ 3 N B BR 3K
companies 34(b) 115,135 21,503
Current tax recoverable 75 HA AT Uk B % I8 24(a) 54 632
Cash and bank deposits ReEMETHER 17 297,482 224,030
2,125,496 1,596,282
Total assets EEHE 3,018,785 2,463,918
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable AT EZFEA
to equity shareholders of the FE A8 IR A R ft 48
Company
Share capital @i 18 199,384 199,183
Other reserves H A 20 193,400 254,217
Retained earnings RE = A 20 782,916 713,460
Total equity EEBEE 1,175,700 1,166,860
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 7R)

31 March 31 March
2020 2019
(Note)
—EE®HF —E-NF
=A=+—H =—A=+—H
(B 5E)
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tt
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables =&Y INE N 21 288,987 155,469
Accruals and other payables FEEH & A & A
JE 11 BR 3K 21 492,221 437,151
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 3,244 —
Bank borrowings RITHE 22 126,800 66,588
Amount due to an associate FEA B & AR BR K 10 4,083 35
Amounts due to related companies F& < B8 i& 2 &) 8k 3¢ 34(b) 632 394
Current tax payable 7K B B 5 R T 24(a) 88,568 72,606
B 1,004,535 732,243
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 22 824,837 553,754
Lease liabilities HERE 23 1,421 —
Provision for long service payments & Hi iz 7% & %4 & 25 8,162 7,388
Deferred tax liabilities REBABE 24(h) 4,130 3,673
... 838,550 564,815
Total liabilities BEEHAE 1,843,085 1,297,058
Total equity and liabilities BEazRkAEEE 3,018,785 2,463,918
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,120,961 864,039
Total assets less current liabilities EEZERB A EE 2,014,250 1,731,675

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 2(c).

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 24 June 2020.

Ho Cheuk Fai
1 fe2 18
Director

EFE

The notes on pages 127 to 282 form part of these financial
statements.

fiiE: AEER_FT-NEFNA-BERER
TEM G R EERER - WAKLE
RUBWE - RIBUL A LBREARIL
EED - BEE20

ANTETEFERNA-TINHAEEEH
R E o

Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
B & 5k

Director

EFE

F127Z 082 E 2 W BRI R 2 —
85 -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z —Z - Z2F ==+ —-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—EC-EF —E-NEF
(B 5E)
Note $’000 $’000
B 5 F Tt
Revenue WA 26 2,902,208 2,651,169
Cost of revenue NN 27 (2,372,714) (2,210,972)
Gross profit EA 529,494 440,197
Distribution and selling expenses 7 #8 & $§ & & A 27 (30,668) (24,918)
General and administrative — R ERITHER
expenses 27 (120,129) (107,872)
Other net income/gains Hi A Wz F8 26 4,444 7,532
Net valuation (loss)/gain on KREMERE(ER)
investment properties Ve &k 7 (2,361) 898
Operating profit  ®&&@w® 380780 315837
Finance income B 5 A 4,462 2,743
Finance costs B 7% B AN (24,858) (19,187)
Finance costs, net  BIBRA - F®E 29 (20,396) (16,444)
Share of profits of an associate  F& {5 B¢ & 1 5% %l 10 1,354 693
Profit before taxation BR B A% 7 361,738 300,086
Income tax Fris it 30 (111,472) (78,700)
Profit for the year FEER 250,266 221,386
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEmK

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE =T -TF=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7THI7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—E_EfF —ET-NF
(P 75)
Note $’000 $'000
it = T Tt
Earnings per share attributable FXAREBZHFEHA
to equity shareholders of the FE 15 8 IR 2 A
Company
Basic earnings per share B E AR
(HK cents) (F&4L) 31 12.6 1.1
Diluted earnings per share BErERER
(HK cents) (7&4l) 31 12.5 11.0
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using & : AEBR-_ZT—AFHNA—BEXEHR

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 127 to 282 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for T

the year are set out in note 32.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

M A = 32
GAEBRaERHMEEIBR AR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z —Z - Z2F ==+ —-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—E-%F ZT-NF
(B 75)
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5E T T
Profit for the year  #E=® 250266 221,386
Other comprehensive income for FEHEM2MEK A :
the year:
Items that will not be reclassified T~ & & # 728 2 18 &
to profit or loss: ZIHEA
Remeasurement of provision for ~KEIRBeEHE 2 &
long service payments it = 25(h) (569) 415
Items that may be reclassified HEREETPHE
subsequently to profit or loss: EBm ZHA -
Exchange differences on translation # & /8 7 % 7 B 7%
of financial statements of RMTEX 2 A#E
overseas operations # 20 (62,629) (35,677)
Fair value (losses)/gains on other ~ H M & F & ZE N FE
financial assets 2 (E18),/ 20 (121) 2
Other comprehensive income FEHMZEEA
for the year (63,319) (35,260)
Total comprehensive income FEZHBRALE
for the year 186,947 186,126
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using B AEER_ZE—NLFNA—BEHXER
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the BB MEERE165 - RALE
comparative information is not restated. See note 2(c). FTBWE c REBUL T L - HERERL
mES - RMsE200) °
The notes on pages 127 to 282 form part of these financial ~ #127% 2828 7 i ¥ B AM# k2 —
statements. o e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #E -2 - F=A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7THI7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders

of the Company
ARFEGHAANES
Share Other Retained Total
capital reserves earnings equity
(Note 18) (Note 20)
RA  HEibEe  REEN  ERAE
(Hf&18)  (B&E20)
Note $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
ik T T T T
Balanceat1April2018  —R-\FRA-EZEHR 199456 287519 701307 1,188,282
Changes in equity for the year ended BZ=ZF-NF=A=t+-H
31 March 2019: LEERZET:
Profit for the year ERREA — — 221,386 221,386
Other comprehensive income EZERA — (35,675) 415 (35,260)
Total comprehensive income  2EMA®® T ST ampor 186126
Dividends paid in respect of FEEERRA 32(b)
the previous year — — (145,552) (145,552)
Equity settled share-based transactions  JAIR 3 4.2 X5 19(d) — 1,186 — 1,186
Dividends paid in respect of AEEERRA 32()
the current year — — (59,755) (59,755)
Cancellation of shares FHEKH 20(c)(iii) (412) 4,812 (4,400) —
Repurchase of shares [ 8 20(c)(iii) — (4,400) — (4,400)
Issuance of shares upon exercise of 1T EREE ETR (7 18(c)
share options 139 834 — 973
Release upon lapse of share options 7112 K X & 1R 12 19(b) — (59) 59 —
Balance at 31 March 2019 ZE-NEZB=t-HZ
s 199,183 254217 713,460 1,166,860
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2 AL h YA “':‘
mERRBHX
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &iE - -ZTF=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders

of the Company
FARERBEAER
Share Other Retained Total
capital reserves earnings equity
(Note 18) (Note 20)
Rx  HttRE  RERN  ERAE
(K a£18) (K &£20)
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
M r r r r
Balanceat 1 April2019 =%-AFMA-A2E&HK 199183 234207 713460 1,166,860
Changes in equity for the year ended BZ=Z-FF=A=+-H
31 March 2020: LEERGEE:
Profit for the year FEEF — — 250,266 250,266
Other comprehensive income 2 EMA — (62,750) (569) (63,319)
Total comprehensive income  REMARE <o (62750 249697 186,947
Dividends paid in respect of TEEERRA 32(b)
the previous year — — (99,692) (99,692)
Equity settled share-based transactions  JAIR 3 24,2 X5 19(d) - 230 - 230
Dividends paid in respect of AERERRE 32(a)
the current year — — (79,754) (79,754)
Cancellation of shares Bzl 20(c)(iii) 71 866 (795) —
Repurchase of shares Ef: 331 20(c) i) — (795) — (795)
Issuance of shares upon exercise of 1T EREE ETR (7 18(c)
share options 272 1,632 — 1,904
Balance at 31 March 2020 ZEZREZAZT-He
&e 199,384 193,400 782,916 1,175,700
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using  MisF: "EER - HLFMNA—BE X EM

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 2(c).

BEMBHRELENF165  KALE
FEWE - BB E  LBERIL
EED - BEE20 -

The notes on pages 127 to 282 form part of these financial ~ §127Z282B 2 M AR BEHE 2 —
aN

statements. B e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

AN ==
mEBEEMRER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #E -2 - F=A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7THI7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—E-%F —T-NF
(P 75)
Note $/000 $000
Bt 5 T Tt
Cash flows from operating RETHRIRE
activities
Profit before taxation B 1% AT & A 361,738 300,086
Share of profits of an associate JEAG B & 2 A& A 10 (1,354) (693)
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ #13 « R FE R & 2
property, plant and equipment Ir & K # i 6 62,971 52,136
Amortisation of intangible assets & 2 & & ~ # i5 8 1,504 1,322
Equity settled share-based N X2 5
transactions 19 230 1,186
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, &Y% * & 7E &
plant and equipment BB ER
C &) 26 1,327 (293)
Provision for long service payments £ i ik 7% & % 44 25 283 306
Net valuation loss/(gain) on REMELEBE
investment properties (W) F58 7 2,361 (898)
Interest expenses B X H 29 24,858 19,187
Interest income F B A 29 (4,462) (2,743)
Foreign exchange loss SN BE 5 5 18 7,823 4,855
Operating profit before working EEES#BHa 2
capital changes carried forward & HREH 457,279 374,451
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

= AN B =
SREEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z —Z - Z2F ==+ —-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—EEF —ET-NF
(P 53)
Note $000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tt
Operating profit before working HREIEEEEEFHaAl
capital changes brought 2R A
forward 457,279 374,451
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 1 & Z (& 1) /@ (193,374) 45,652
Increase in property development #] 3% & 2 32 N (321,736) (60,741)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and BN EREIWIER
bills receivable 2 (g (24,154) 122,898
Increase in prepayments, deposits TEfJ 3 * & & &
and other receivables HAb YRR 2
180 (18,712) (17,978)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due JE W BB AT BER 2
from related companies B, (18 hn) 18,569 (21,952)
Increase/(decrease) in trade EHENERZ
payables &0, Rl A) 136,778 (51,228)
Increase in accruals and other EAERALREMEN
payables AR X 2 18N 43,455 10,309
Increase/(decrease) in amount due JETEEE A R]BRR 2
to an associate an, Crl ) 4,048 (2,552)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due JE{J @ ERFIER 2
to related companies G 238 (123,397)
Increase in restricted deposits = BR il 77 3k 2 15 AN (33,440) —
Net cash generated from REEEZERE
operations 68,951 275,462
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBFERH (13,505) (18,778)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded R EZE B FI1FH 4 6
PRC tax paid B A B RS R (2,402) (3,920)
Long service payments paid ENKRERE 2 25 (269) (484)
Long service payments refunded RERHRE S 25 191 263
Net cash generated from REFTHEEZ
operating activities FRE 52,970 252,549
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

—VAN B =
mEBEEMRER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #E -2 - F=A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7THI7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—RC%2H —E-NF
(P 75)
Note $’000 $'000
s T Tt
Cash flows from investing REFZBZEHETRE
activities
Payment for the purchase of BEVE BEX
property, plant and equipment RPN (120,156) (48,485)
Payment for additions to investment /5 & 1% & ¥ 3 2 (I
properties 7 101) (282)
Proceeds from disposal of property, i E# % - B E &
plant and equipment 2 PSR 430 352
Payment for acquisition of BEBVEE MK
intangible assets 8 (229) (1,173)
Interest received =R e P 4,037 2,336
Net cash used in investing REETHFAZ
activities FEE (116,019) (47,252)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

= AN B =
SREEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z —Z - Z2F ==+ —-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2020 2019
(Note)
—F-%F —TNF
(B 75)
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5E T T
Cash flows from financing METH2RERE
activities
Interest paid RN RAIPS) 17(b) (49,493) (37,094)
Payment for the repurchase of 8] & A% 17 2 1~ 3R
shares 20(c) (795) (4,400)
Proceeds from new bank MWITEEZMER
borrowings 17(b) 473,162 322,342
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRIETEE 17(b) (135,480) (327,902)
Capital element of lease rentals ~ BEffHEH & 2
paid =N ) 17(b) (3,206) -
Interest element of lease rentals BEffHEHEE 2
paid M 2B 17(b) (215) -
Dividends paid B E B & (179,446) (205,307)
Issuance of shares upon exercise 77 i Ix &
of share options BT D 18(c) 1,904 973
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEFEEL
financing activities (FFRAZFERE 106,431 (251,388)
Net increase/(decrease) incash HRERBESZEEY=
and cash equivalents FE A GR D) 43,382 (46,091)
Cash and cash equivalents FHOZRER
at the beginning of the year REEEY 224,030 272,153
Effect of foreign exchange rate IEEREHoE
changes 3,370) (2,032)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZRAER
at the end of the year REZEY 17 264,042 224,030

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using W& : REBR-_ZT—NAFHUA—BHERER

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the ERMBRELEFEIS  KARLE
comparative information is not restated. See note 2(c). FTBWE c REBUL L HERERL

EmEY o BH 20 -

The notes on pages 127 to 282 form part of these financial ~ $1272 2828 7 M s /A B HwEk 2 —
statements. B o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”):
manufacturing and sale of metal and plastic
products, including server casings, moulds,
plastic and metal parts and household products;

— Electronic Manufacturing Services Business
(“EMS”): manufacturing and sale of magnetic tape
data storage, point-of-sale (“POS”) system and
other computer peripherals; and

— Real Estate Business: urban renewal, real estate
project investment and development.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October 1996. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 16 December
1996.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in unit of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise
stated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2
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(@

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2020 comprise the Group
and its interest in an associate. The measurement
basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, other financial assets and
employee benefit assets/liabilities which have
been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported
income and

amounts of assets, liabilities,

expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects

both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(0

Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS
16, Leases, and a number of amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the
developments have had a material effect on how
the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the
related interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining
whether an arrangement contains a lease,
HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases-incentives,
and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of
transactions involving the legal form of a lease.
It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all
leases, except for leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and
leases of low-value assets. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements which
aim to enable users of the financial statements to
assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of
an entity.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as
from 1 April 2019. The Group has elected to
use the modified retrospective approach and
has therefore recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the
changes to previous accounting policies and the
transition options applied are set out below:

(a)

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease
mainly relates to the concept of control.
HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an
identified asset for a period of time, which
may be determined by a defined amount
of use. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of
a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were entered into or changed on or
after 1 April 2019. For contracts entered
into before 1 April 2019, the Group has
used the transitional practical expedient
to grandfather the previous assessment of
which existing arrangements are or contain
leases. Accordingly, contracts that were
previously assessed as leases under HKAS
17 continue to be accounted for as leases
under HKFRS 16 and contracts previously
assessed as non-lease service arrangements
continue to be accounted for as executory
contracts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a
lessee to classify leases as either operating
leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group
is required to capitalise all leases when it
is the lessee, including leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS
17, other than those short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets which are
exempt. As far as the Group is concerned,
these newly capitalised leases are
primarily in relation to property, plant and
equipment as disclosed in note 33(c). For an
explanation of how the Group applies lessee
accounting, see note 2(j)(i).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e.
1 April 2019), the Group determined the
length of the remaining lease terms and
measured the lease liabilities for the leases
previously classified as operating leases at
the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the relevant
incremental borrowing rates at 1 April 2019.
The weighted average of the incremental
borrowing rates used for determination of
the present value of the remaining lease
payments was 3.39%.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the
Group applied the recognition exemption
and practical expedients at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16.

(if)

the Group elected not to apply the
requirements of HKFRS 16 in respect of
the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within
12 months from the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where the
lease term ends on or before 31 March
2020; and

when measuring the lease liabilities
at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics
(such as leases with a similar remaining
lease term for a similar class of
underlying asset in a similar economic
environment).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EEGTRERGE)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (0 BFARXEH(HE)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued) BEEMEREERNE16RH
B |(#)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) 7% izl /\AEJFFEEE TE R
(Continued) BEFE(E)
The following table reconciles the operating TREJEBEE_TNF
lease commitments as disclosed in note A=t —HREHEE K
33(c) as at 31 March 2019 to the opening Tfk(ﬁ M 5¥33(c) A& =
balance for lease liabilities recognised as at —NFHEA—BHER
1 April 2019: Za"ﬁ SEEEHMIER:
$'000
T
Operating lease commitments as at R-_ZE-NF=A=t+—HZ
31 March 2019 LR ERE 10,157
Less: commitment relating to leases W B HE BN HEAE
exempted from capitalisation (2,140)
8,017
Less: total future interest expenses AR RA B X AR (314)
Total lease liabilities recognised as at RZZT—NFHA—HERZ
1 April 2019 HEBBERRE 7,703
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases HBAE s ERKEEHE
previously classified as operating leases ZHERBZERES
have been recognised at an amount equal EEERERRFHEE
to the amount recognised for the remaining E\{E\ R REITHE
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount R WRE-_T-NF=

of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the
statement of financial position at 31 March
2019.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts
of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position:

2 EESRHBERE)

0 BIBRXSHHA)
ERUBREEAE16RH
E(#)

(b) AMASFEENER
BETE(E)
TRE RN E B
HEEAF165H AL
BiEraMBHRREx ¥

E=
=

Carrying amount  Capitalisation of
at operating
31 March 2019 lease contracts

Carrying amount
at 1 April 2019

R-E-NnE R-Z-NE
=ZA=t+-H fefg MA-H
ZRAE ENERL ZRAE
§'000 §'000 §'000
Fr Fr Fr
Line items in the consolidated GRVERRRAZRS
statement of financial position ERUBREENF 16K
impacted by the adoption of 2 FAEER
HKFRS 16:
Property, plant and equipment nx BERR 467,215 7,703 474,918
Non-current assets FRBEE 867,636 7,703 875,339
Total assets EEARE 2,463,918 7,703 2,471,621
Lease liabilities (current) HEBE(RD) — (3,522) (3,522)
Current liabilities RBEE (732,243) (3,522) (735,765)
Lease liabilities (non-current) RERBGERD) — (4,181) (4,181)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (564,815) 4,181) (568,996)
Total liabilities BELAE (1,297,058) (7,703) (1,304,761)
Total equity and liabilities ERREEAE (2,463,918) (7,703) (2,471,621)
Net current assets RBEERE 864,039 (3,522) 860,517
Total assets less current liabilites ZEZERAHER 1,731,675 4,181 1,735,856

Impact on the financial result, segment
results and cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities as at 1 April
2019, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability,
and the depreciation of the right-of-use
asset, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2
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Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

() Impact on the financial result, segment

results and cash flows of the Group
(continued)
In the consolidated cash flow statement, the
Group as a lessee is required to split rentals
paid under capitalised leases into their
capital element and interest element (see
note 17(b)). These elements are classified
as financing cash outflows, similar to how
leases previously classified as finance leases
under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than as
operating cash outflows, as was the case for
operating leases under HKAS 17. Although
total cash flows are unaffected, the adoption
of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a significant
change in presentation of cash flows within
the consolidated cash flow statement (see
note 17(c)).

The following tables give an indication of
the estimated impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 on the Group’s financial result,
segment results and cash flows for the
year ended 31 March 2020, by adjusting
the amounts reported under HKFRS 16 in
these consolidated financial statements
to compute estimates of the hypothetical
amounts that would have been recognised
under HKAS 17 if this superseded standard
had continued to apply in 2019 instead
of HKFRS 16, and by comparing these
hypothetical amounts for 2020 with the
actual 2019 corresponding amounts which
were prepared under HKAS 17.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EESHBEE)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (0 BFBXEH(HF)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued) EEMEREERNE163RH
El(#E)
Impact on the financial result, segment © HAEERBEE 9
results and cash flows of the Group HEERBRENEZF
(continued) &2 (E)
2020 2019
g g 32 “ENF
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to
operating
Add hack: leases as  Hypothetical ~ Compared
Amounts  HKFRS 16 if under amounts for  to amounts
reported  depreciation ~ HKAS 17~ 2020asif  reported for
under  and interest (note i under 2019 under
HKFRS 16 expense below) ~ HKAS17 ~ HKAS17
Nk E
RERE
RN ENMRE EREEE
mE:EE FURAR  BEEH  eiEd
REERE  BERE QEHE  ENEVE Z7%
BHRE  EHE6E 2T LE Bz 25¢
RRIZ16% fER (F5l -%-%% —Z-)%
2H228  AERX W0  BREE  2EHR
Q) ® (O  (D=A+B-C)
§'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §'000
T T T fn T
Financial result for the year ended 31 March X R & BB B R %523 F16%
2020 impacted y the adoption of HKFRS ~ ¥ €7 HZ-F-F%
16: ZRZT-EMERE:
Operating profit 4 4] 380,780 3,341 (3421) 380,700 315,837
Finance costs, net BHRE FE (20,396) 215 — 0181 (16444)
Profit before taxation BB AR 361,738 3,556 3420 361,873 300,086
Profit for the year EEEA 250,266 3,356 (3421) 250401 221386
Operating profit of segment result for the year %417 %81 % 5 &2 8 £16%
ended 31 March 2020 (note 5) impacted by ¥ E7EZ-F-%F
the adoption of HKFRS 16: SRET-RZAR%E
-G EDE
Metal and plastic business 15 2BEH 217,689 3,341 (3421) 217,609 171,907
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leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had
still applied in 2020. Any potential net
tax effect is ignored.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EREHBEAE)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (0 BFBXEH(HF)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued) BEEMEREERNE16RH
EB(#E)

(© Impact on the financial result, segment © HAEBUMBEE 2
results and cash flows of the Group BEBELBFEREZF
(continued) ()

2020 2019
i i “ENF
Estimated
amounts related
to operating Compared
Amounts leasesas  Hypothetical to amounts
reported if under  amounts for ~ reported for
under  HKAS 17 note 2020 as if under 2019 under
HKFRS 16 (i)&(ii) below) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
ENREEES
ARAETRS
Lo REERE ENREEES AREEAGH
REZEUER BE2fHEE HENEURE £AZUREGH
FEAZ0n (FIMEOR H2-8=%% - 3-0%
2228 (ii) fReE ZHLBUR
(A) (B) (C=A+B)
$'000 §'000 $/000 §'000
fn Trn fn Tr
Line items in the consolidated cash BZ-F-FF=A=t+-H
flow statement for the year ended ~ HEBERERATHH
31 March 2020 impacted by the ~ EBHBREEH E16%
adoption of HKFRS 16: FEcEA:
Net cash generated from operations ~ HEE £ 7§54 68,951 (3,421) 65,530 275,462
Net cash generated from operating B EHEL 2 FR
activities 52,970 (3,421) 49,549 252,549
Capital element of lease rentals paid BB &R S ¢ EXH A (3,206) 3,200 - -
Interest element of lease rentals paid B E S8 2 2 FEH7 (215) 215 - -
Net cash generated from/(used in) ~ MEEBEL/(FR)
financing activities Fhé 106,431 3,421 109,852 (251,388)
Note (i): The “estimated amounts related to  FHi&E(): [EEHERB GBI AEMR
operating leases” is an estimate of the —E_TFEBRATEGER
amounts of the cash flows in 2020 that FU7RMEIERKEHECHE
relate to leases which would have been EHc_ZT_ZFHREREMT D
classified as operating leases, if HKAS 17 BeZAANBRRESHRERE
had still applied in 2020. This estimate WHEEE BMR_Z_ZTFHEE
assumes that there were no differences JEBEEGFTERE7S K-
between rentals and cash flows and that —TERAI AR e S
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(0)

Impact on the financial result, segment
results and cash flows of the Group
(continued)

Note (ii): In this impact table these cash
outflows are reclassified from financing
to operating in order to compute
hypothetical amounts of net cash
generated from operating activities and
net cash used in financing activities as if
HKAS 17 still applied.

Leasehold investment property

Under HKFRS 16, the Group is required
to account for all leasehold properties as
investment properties when these properties
are held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation (“leasehold investment
properties”). The adoption of HKFRS 16
does not have a significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements as
the Group previously elected to apply HKAS
40, Investment properties, to account for all
of its leasehold properties that were held for
investment purposes as at 31 March 2019.

Consequentially, these leasehold investment
properties continue to be carried at fair
value.

Lessor accounting

The Group leases out a number of property,
plant and equipment as the lessor of
operating leases. The accounting policies
applicable to the Group as a lessor remain
substantially unchanged from those under
HKAS 17.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date that
control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows, and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate (see note 2(e)).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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142

(e)

Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control or
joint control,
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

over its management, including

An investment in an associate is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment (see note 2()(ii)).
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees

Any acquisition-

and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest
is reduced to $nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

2

Egé#ﬁ%%§

(e) HtE QT
B AR RIEARNEBE A AHHE
EHEEELAEATE B
SEPBEREERE B

o

E-N-T—

IR AR ZEHEEEREZ

o

M

Fuial
kol

\

N %
%%ﬁ

ERAIZIEE N EER
NERE B HRER AR - 1%
R L RERUVIRKAR
Eﬁ M AEEEZEE
ATT%%@%FFW%EZ
AFEBEZEREXNAZ
(WA ELFAE - Hig -
MAEB(EZEABE RG] FE
ERKEE S RHEZIE
&ﬁﬁ%i&ﬂﬂ@%%#
A (R M sE2(0(i) » E 17
KW%HEQWK2§ﬁ PN
SEMGEAEQTRKER
Z BRI A RFRE MR
BEEERGEERRER
ﬁ$¢l N B TG A E
NABRBEZEMmE2EKA
HEARGEAEa LEME
HWARER -

Smo
’ny

L

EAKERGB S
BHEBEEGED
BB ET  WIEILER
E—FEBE BEAKBERR
EERNBFIAREZ ARELHE
EREEREEMREI - 5
HERNME AREREZE
m YRR AT RE IR ER
mE EREELBERAE
BREE R BEREF
BZRBES -

NI
U S



(e)

()

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investees, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, retained interest

is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(g)).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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)

(g

Goodwill (continued)

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain
on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a
business combination is allocated to each cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash-generating
units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 2(1)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during
the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies for investments equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates,
are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price
unless it is determined that the fair value at initial
recognition differs from the transaction price and
that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in
an active market for an identical asset or liability
or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes
attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss and where
indicated otherwise below. These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

Non-equity investment held by the Group are

classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represents solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income
from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(x)(iv)).

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) (recycling), if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprises solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(h)

(i)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(j)) to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets and land use rights) are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Gain or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Construction-in-progress represents buildings,
plant and machinery under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings,
the costs of plant and machinery, installation,
testing and other direct costs. No depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time
as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated in below.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives. The annual rates used for the calculation of
depreciation are:

— Leasehold land and Over the lease term

land use rights

— Buildings 2% to 4%

— Fixtures and leasehold 8% to 33.33%

improvements
— Machinery 6.67% to 20%
— Moulds and tooling 15%

— Furniture and computer 15% to 33.33%

equipment
— Properties leased for Over the lease term
owned use

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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()

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee
(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019
Where the contract contains
lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture.
When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessee (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019
(continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the
lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease
liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on
an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised
when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(i) and

2(I(ii)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

150

()

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

(i)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019
(continued)

The lease liability is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When
the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets
that do not meet the definition of
investment property in ‘property, plant
and equipment’ and presents lease
liabilities separately in the statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

In the comparative period, as a
lessee the Group classified leases as
finance leases if the leases transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group. Leases
which did not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group were classified as operating
leases.

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative
basis was more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased asset. Lease incentives
received were recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals were charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EBEESHBE#E)
(j) Leased assets (continued) () HEEEE)
(i) As a lessee (continued) (i) #EHABAE)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

2

152

()

(k)

Leased assets (continued)

(i) As alessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(x)(iii).

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note
2(I(ii)). Operating rights acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation of intangible assets
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

EREFERERE)
() HEEERE)
(i) EH/HAA
EAKBEREHEAR

(k)

EHRHERBREES
HEROSBMEBEX
REHE - WHE K4
MEEZFERZEBAXN
MoRRLOKERE
EMA - BIAKER A
HEPHESMEMRE -
fid NEB R B R R

ENnHERKEHE -

WEHEEHEEHMKI
DRIEFMEMAKILS
AEERBHEEBUE
BEEEEEOPIRE
DREFHZHEKITD - &
L2HE sk ARIE
B 5 2(x) (iii) FE 3R ©

BEE(BRBEN

AEEBAZHMELEE
WRANR A R RORE
B (R M E200G) 58k - &
XA TBAZKERER
BEAZATEER - BVE
E 2B BRORRGEE
AENED -

B R TR B MR
5o



(i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on the
followings items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and bank
deposits, trade and bills receivables
and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(p)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including debt securities and equity
securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling), are not subject to the ECL

assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present values of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the

Group expects to receive).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

2

154

M

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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(i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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M

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable,
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

including historical

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractual due
dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

(continued)

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the

technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to

the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

2

158

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(x)(iv) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Groups assess
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

the
economic or

— significant
technological,

changes in

market,
legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Groups determine that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— intangible assets;
— goodwill; and
— investments in subsidiaries in the

Company’s statement of financial
position.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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M

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s

(i)

recoverable amount is estimated. In

addition, for goodwill, the recoverable

amount is estimated annually whether or not

there is indication of impairment.

Calculation of the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash generating unit).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
EEGHBEKRE)
) CFEBEREEZREE)

2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2
(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)
(iii) Interim financial reporting and
impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 2(l)(i) and 2(I)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill and other
financial assets are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even
if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial
year to which the interim period relates.
Consequently, if the fair value of another
financial asset increases in the remainder
of the annual period, or in any other period
subsequently, the increase is recognised in
other comprehensive income and not profit
or loss.

(m) Inventories
Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value as follows:
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Inventories (continued)

Manufacturing

Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method and comprise all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

2 EESHBERE)

2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Inventories (continued)

Property development

Cost and net realisable values are
determined as follows:

Property under development for sale
The cost of properties under
development for sale comprises
specifically identified cost, including
the acquisition cost of land, aggregate
cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value represents the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Completed property held for resale

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group, cost is
determined by apportionment of
the total development costs for that
development project, attributable to
the unsold properties. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling
price less costs to be incurred in selling
the property.

The cost of completed properties
held for sale comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location
and condition.

When inventories are sold, the
carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is
recognised.

m FE#E)

(i) MEBR
BN EAR IR HE 2 &
FEMR

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

FHERYE

FhaERMEZK
NEIE A
ZRRA - BRI
WA A BE-
VR B B R B0
BRATEMEM
EEMAX EELL
PlzEZEER -7

ERFERMGE
B4 5T 58 TR
RRELRYEME
EZRA -

(GREEES

RN LT et S
TYMEMS KA

TR EEE T
AREME RN
BN 2B D E
EeAERFAER
fhEr EER R EH
EmE £ Z K
pi

GRER/EPA TN
TEPTA SRR AR
BIMRK AL LK E
EEZARBE R
FEHEERMNRME
EZEMBARA

FELEER  HiR
B & & WA
fiE 38 H ) 1% e 8
S e



(m)
(ii)

(iii)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories (continued)

Property development (continued)

The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain
a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained (for example, an incremental sales
commission). Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

2 EESRHBEE)

m) #E&

(if)

(iii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % %R

(%)

MEBRE(E)

78 %] & 3 % (5 HOR
EIEFEBERE XM
B 2K 5 18 3% A B ) R R
B3 e A EEFE
¥ H0 i 78 [B] # 2 AT e 17
B OB & R [ B B A
BT 27 & 30
o

Hib & QR A
RMBAHNZEENKS
AEBRBMBEFEH
MEL  WAREDMEAE
WA EEL 2 RA(F
MIEEHEME) WA
B W & 2 AR RS 7E R R
WRERE AR - MK
AIEHIA Y E - BB &
MZIBERANELR
GRAER - RBAEH
ZEMRAEELERX
i e

165



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Inventories (continued)
(iii) Other contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods
or services in the future; and are expected
to be recovered. Costs that relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is
set out in note 2(x).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

When a group entity undertakes its activities
under a joint operation, the Group as a joint
operator recognises in relation to its interest in
the joint operation:

— its share of any assets held jointly;

— its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

— its share of revenue from the sale of the
output by the joint operation; and

— its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses relating to its interest in
a joint operation in accordance with the HKFRSs
applicable to the particular assets,

revenues and expenses.

liabilities,

When a group entity transacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a sale or contribution of assets),
the Group is considered to be conducting the
transaction with the other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from
the transactions are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of other parties’
operation.

interests in the joint
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

168

(o)

(P

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note

2(p)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(1)(i)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(x)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(I)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional
(see note 2(0)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(x)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 2(0)).

For a single contract with the customers, either
a new contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method (see note 2(x)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expenses is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(z)).

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value, and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(1)(i).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

170

(®

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies operate a defined
contribution plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.
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(iv)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii) Defined benefit retirement plan — Long

service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon the termination of their employment
or retirement when the employee fulfils
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods.

The obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method, discounted
to its present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. The
discount rate is the yield at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate
bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related
liability. The actuarial gains or losses are
credited or charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the current
period.

Other compensations

Other and employees’
compensations are recorded as a liability
and charged to profit or loss when the

directors’

Group is contractually obliged or when
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation and the associated
services are rendered by the employees.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

172

(u)

Share-based payments

The Company operated an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the
Company received services from employees
in return for the granting of equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance
conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and

— excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting
period, the entity revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to the
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cash received for the shares issued when the
options are exercised is credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium, net of any
directly attributable transaction costs.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to employees of a subsidiary
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in the subsidiary, with a
corresponding credit to equity.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

174

v)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from
the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair values in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(h), the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those
assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when
the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

2

176

v)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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(x)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The
Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of manufacturing goods
Revenue from the sales of goods is
recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Any
advance payments received from customers
prior to delivery of goods are recorded as
contract liabilities (see note 2(p)).
In the comparative period, revenue
from sales of manufacturing goods was
recognised when the goods are delivered to
the customer, the customer has accepted the
products and the related risks and rewards
of ownership and collectability of the
related receivables is reasonably assured.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

2

EREFHBRERE)

(x)

LN 3-8 ONE -,

MREHWTBEBEZBEKD
EFRHEBBET _EAZE
ABE Mz B A R &K
THRZRENE LEHE
EERERSIPTRRR 2R
KR - B A B W AR
ERMEBEEBAIR - WA
MESRAEEIRHE AR

BRNmz@EKRD 'W@ﬁ
ZANERZBNEBRRE

%ﬂ%%aﬁzmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
EZHNBRAX - AEENBE

B B 3R S 2 B 221558 5563
BZEBREEZ:  HEE
HAE+T-_@AZKUT @ BlfTE

REARERSZ LAY S
BERME -

BRAANEE KA K EAIKA
ERBRRZE—FFHBWT:

() REEmEE
EEPHAELEXEM
HEEmMAEE ZWA
TR BFREAERH
BNZREREREH
BE(RME2p) -

RELBHE - 28mE
REFER  FFEIER
EmMBEREZABE
PR EE[m R A REBE
Yo sk 2 Y |l Al & 3R B R
RIEEEmMEL 2K
AT HER °



(if)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(x) Revenue and other income (continued)

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the property
is accepted by the customer, or deemed
as accepted according to the contract,
whichever is earlier, which is the point in
time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Deposits and instalments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position under
contract liabilities (see note 2(p)).

If any advance payments received from
the buyers are regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment
of time value of money will be accrued by
the Group during the period between the
payment date and the date of delivery of
property. This accrual increases the balance
of the contract liability during the period of
construction, and therefore increases the
amount of revenue recognised when control
of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as
accrued unless it is eligible to be capitalised
under HKAS 23, Borrowing costs, in
accordance with the policies set out in note
2(2).
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue and other income (continued)
(iii) Rental income from operating leases

2

180

(x)

(iv)

Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(h()).

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation

currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the
year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

2 EE®G
(y) %
(i)

(if)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % %R

BEK (%)

mE

WEERIIKRER
AEESEER YK
WEAMINBEROAZE
BEEMECTERE
REZEEFE(E
B - BRAMBRERIA
BILTE2®R  BLTR/RAR
AZIEERIIBER -

R 5 K & &R

REFRAINELE R 2 X
HRXHAZEXRBZEE -
NINE BB 2B
BENMBEAREES
RZERBE - Ll
mREBERNEBDEER -

WA & PR AN 3B 7 3
W OME R B R B
RHEZIMEER I -
ZHEANSRRRE
FEEEERAMEL A
# o A2 T (8 51 BE 2 b
A E R A
EtE AT (A 825
5 3440 o

181



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

2

182

(y)

(2)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances (continued)
The results of operations with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollar at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve. Goodwill is translated at
the foreign exchange rate that applied at the
date of acquisition of the operation outside
Hong Kong.

On disposal of an operation with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars,
the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs (continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the

Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group’s

parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

2

184

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2
(aa) Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(ab) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
the methods used to distribute

the products or provide the services, and the

customers,

nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's

financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s
Finance and Accounting department (“Group
F&A”) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Group F&A identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units. The Board is
responsible for overall risk management which
covers currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and cash
management.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3

186

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

The Group’s exposure to the aforesaid risks
and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(i) Currency risk

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are denominated in
HK$, United States dollars (“US$”) and
Renminbi (“RMB”). Currency risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations that are denominated in
a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. As HK$ are pegged against US$,
management considers that the Group is
mainly exposed to foreign currency risk with
respect to RMB. Management will continue
to monitor foreign exchange exposure and
will take measures to minimise the currency
translation risk. The conversion rate of RMB
to foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government.
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(i)

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#%&)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXRRBREZEGE)
Currency risk (continued) (i) HhEERE R (£E)
The following table details the currency TEREFVNAEEAEHS
portfolio of the Group’s monetary assets/ EREEBUAIEM
(liabilities) denominated in a currency EBAEEMNCEBEE
other than the functional currency of the E/(aBzasis -
entity to which they relate. For presentation RIERE  LEEZ
purposes, the amounts of the portfolio are TH AR EHREDAIE
expressed in HK$, translated using the spot K WLABTTIIR
rate at the end of the reporting period:
At 31 March 2020
ZECEFZ-RZT-H
Carrying
Note value HK$ Us$ RMB  Others
s REE BT in  AR% 2t
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
T rn I T I
Trade and bills receivable and other ~ EZRZBENEH T
receivables bR 13 331914 1,11 293,199 37,544 60
Other financial assets HhepaE 14 19,629 — 19,629 - —
Cash and bank deposits RERROER 17 297,482 32,555 95692 168,364 871
Amounts due from related companies  EEE L EE 34 115135 - — 115135 —
Trade payables UL ET 21 (208,987)  (55,109) (186,045)  (47,832) (1)
Accruals and other payables B 2RRAMERES 21 @01 (1389  @4317)  (396315) —
Bank borrowings RifEE 22 (951,637)  (735,250) — (216,387 —
Lease liabilties HEBE 23 (4,665) - — (4,665 -
Amount due to an associate ERABELTR 34 (4,083) - - 4083 -
Amounts due to related companies  ERBEL TEE 34 632) - — (632) -
At31 March 2019
“E-nEzA=t-H
Carrying
Note value HKS US$ RMB Others
fi st KEE BT T ARE Hfy
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 $'000
n r r r r
Trade and bills receivable and other ~ EZRZBEUET L
receivables EERED 13320277 3418 278451 38333 75
Other financial assets EpeRAR 14 19,325 — 1935 — -
Cash and bank deposits Re RETER 17 224/030 27,182 161,833 34,057 958
Amounts due from related companies  ENEE LA ER 34 21,503 - — 21503 -
Trade payables BSRNEN 20 (155469) (33,652 (81393)  (40,397) (27)
Accruals and other payables %E%E%&EMHE&?A 21 (37,151 (60561)  (66,895)  (309,695) —
Bank borrowings ﬂwﬁg 22 (620342 (620342) - - -
Amount due to an associate EfBENE% 34 (35) — — (35) —
Amounts due to related companies JT HEED 75% 34 (394) - - (394) -
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % 3§ 187
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3
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(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

At 31 March 2020, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB
with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year and retained
earnings would have decreased/increased
approximately $9,709,000 (2019:
$3,385,000 decreased/increased), mainly as
a result of the net foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of RMB denominated
trade and other receivables, cash and bank
deposits, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the Group's
profit after tax (and retained earnings) and
other components of equity that would
arise assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate of HK$ against the RMB had
occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk,
and receivables with the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the

including inter-company payables

borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2019.

Interest rate risk

Monetary assets/liabilities acquired at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings and bank deposits which are
primarily issued at variable rates.

3
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwi

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

se indicated) (Br B A AN LUBITTH]R)
BXEMEERSMIAAFE
(&)
(@ H¥ERMEZEREE)

(i) FIZEEM(E)

The following table details the interest rate TREFINRREHRA
profile of the Group interest-bearing assets SETREERAGERN
and liabilities at the end of the reporting KZBMN
period:
At 31 March 2020 At 31 March 2019
“E-BEZAZT-B  ZE-NEZA=t+-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
Note rate % $'000 rate % $'000
ERA=E ERMN%
% r % T
Fixed rate interest-bearing EIEFIZBEEE/
assets/(liabilities): (Bf):
Time deposits THET 17 — — 2.06% 51,579
Key management insurance EZEEERB AL
contracts 14 2.22% 19,629 2.22% 19,325
Lease liabilities BERE 23 3.81% (4,665) — —
Variable rate interest- FHARFE
bearing assets/(liabilities): %% /(81)
Cash and bank deposits #1777 0.01% 296,501 0.01% 171,309
Bank borrowings RIEE 2 4.61% (951,637) 417% (620,342)

At 31 March 2020, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rate had
increased/decreased by 50 basis points, the
corresponding increase/decrease in interest
expenses on bank borrowings and interest
income from bank deposits at variable rates
will result in a net decrease/increase in the
Group’s post-tax profit by approximately
$2,491,000/$3,943,000 (2019: decrease/
increase by $1,733,000/$2,573,000).

RZZE-_EF=A=+—
H - FrEEMESHRARE
RN WAIREF
THRAAEEEER - HEY
m/ mAZRITEERE
X H R RITF KF B
A i 7N & B B & A
SER D, AN#92,491,000
T 3,943,000t (= &
—NFE: R D
1,733,0007C 2,573,000
JT) °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2019.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a
counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group and is managed on a group
basis. The Group’s credit risk mainly arises
from financial assets and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding trade and other receivables.
For banks and financial institutions, only
independent parties with high credit rating
are accepted.

3

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

BHEREEREMIAQNTE

(4&)
(@)

MEEBREEGE)

(i)

(iii)

=@ (E)

A LBREDIITER -
R R 70 i & HA R M) & 2%
AR MEEFHAE
AEBEFBEZEBRAFE
MERERzERTE K
SEERB R SN (SR E
) R B o a2 H At
MEAE D e EL AR
HE o  WRAKBERK
FEHRFBEZ2FZBAX
FMETAEELZRE
MENXREBRME - A
SERBRE SN (MRE
i M) B #E 2 2 B A AR
WOI)ZHEBDERZT
MEZHEBHEERF B
B AZEZEMmE
1TflEt - ZT—NEF2ZH
AR R 2 B EHETT o

EERR

EERREREXZHT
EREBHNEBEHAKE
BEKELS HREA
TRAEE - AEEEER
REEZREcREE
MRITHEBBEERE LT
R MERERFEFZEE
Rk BRAEEZE
7 M B Al R WBR AR - ¥
RIRITR T HHEE - R

SERMNERFRRIFZ
BT °



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HME¥EKREERESMIAEQAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
(@ Financial risk factors (continued) @ HMBRBEZEE)
(iii) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERMKEZ)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. There is
a concentration of credit risk in respect of
trade and bills receivable as the Group’s
sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. At 31 March 2020, the trade and
bills receivable from five largest customers
accounted for approximately 86% (2019:
86%) of the total trade and bills receivable.

Individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 90 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

The credit risk on cash at banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies. Transactions in
relation to derivative financial instruments,
if any, are only carried out with financial
institutions of high reputation. The Group
has policies that limit the amount of credit
exposure to any one financial institution.

BORBIRR RAHEE
AEESRZEERR
TEXINTEFPZMEFR
BBYE mMIERFE
FIBITERFTERR
Bt s EEFEFEER
S ERAANERERE
FHRERRRK - K=
T_EF=—A=+—8"
AARESH R EREKREE
RZBEFEESREE
JE IR BR AR RE 4986% (=
T—NF 1 86%) °

AEBEEHERBE—
TERBEZMERFR
EITEBER G - 0t
FHEHEERPBER
BB 2 98 AR AC 8% ) 3R
RXfTeeh  XEBEP
ZHERPEREEP
FEEERBEZHBEE
£t BH R RN
BREATRAZIE - K
SE-RITEaREFPK
R o

RITREZEERRE
R ARXSHFHRER
AT AR B REE R 1E AT
MRGFZRTT - BITHE
EMTABERE2XS (N
B) TREERKESR
ZEMEBET KK
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3

192

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of credit facilities. The Group aims
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available at all times.

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities classified into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within twelve months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

3
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx B AASN  LAETTHIR)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HMEEKREERSMIAEQAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ()
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) @)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)

MBEREEGE)
(ivy RBE R (E)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ERAFBEER
Less than 1
Carrying  yearoron  Between1  Between 2
amount demand and 2 years  and 5 years Total
PR-F
EEE FREXR -EME ZZnf At
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Fr Fr Fr i
At 31 March 2020 3
ZA=t+-8
Trade payables BEFRRER 288,987 288,987 — — 288,987
Accruals and other payables EtER R
Hit AR 492,221 428,862 — - 428,862
Amounts due to related M EEATED
companies 632 632 - - 632
Lease liabilities HERE 4,665 3,363 1,439 — 4,802
Bank borrowings RITEE 951,637 178,004 271,069 600,210 1,049,283
1,738,142 899,848 272,508 600,210 1,772,566
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
RRAFERE R
Less than 1
Carrying ~ yearoron  Between1  Between 2
amount demand  and 2 years  and 5 years Total
PR—%
FEE  ¥EER -ERE  ZERf A
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i i T
At 31 March 2019 RZB-nE
ZA=t-H
Trade payables BIENER 155,469 155,469 - — 155469
Accruals and other payables  EER R
R ANE S 137,151 380,536 - — 380,536
Amounts due to related M AENFED
companies 394 394 — — 394
Bank borrowings RITEE 620,342 90,448 475,000 281,768 847216
1,213,356 626,847 475,000 281,768 1,383,615
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HBEABREERESMIALNTE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%)
(b) Capital risk management b)) EcEBERE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital AEEEERZEERR
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue BAEERFERE L EE
as a going concern in order to provide returns BLEEZRN  RERFAA
for equity shareholders and benefits for other CEENEERRCEEE R
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital HEEEZNE  WHEF R
structure. EZBERNGERE -
In order to maintain or adjust the capital RERFIABERERE K
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of EEAGRABINTREREZ
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to RE - RETRRZIRA -
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to TR HEEENBERSE
reduce debt. % e
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group HERNHMAT] K XEH
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing MABFRITEELXERA
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided BAR . W ERRFE TR
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total BRIABERGEHE - FEEHE
bank borrowings and lease liabilities less cash RI|TEERBELEERAR
and bank deposits. Total capital is calculated as WERE RIBITER - BEXR
the total equity as shown in the consolidated RiEREE(NESRBEARR
statement of financial position. RFTF) e
The Group’s strategy, which is unchanged from REEZ REEHREFAE
prior year, is to maintain an acceptable net %%”&T—rT%EZ@@ETT%
gearing ratio. The net gearing ratios at 31 March BthE PR_ZT_ZEFR_T
2020 and 2019 are as follows: —NF=ZA=+—RBZFRIT
fEELERMT:
2020 2019
i —EF
$/000 $°000
Fr T
Total bank borrowings RITEERLT 951,637 620,342
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,665 —
Less: Cash and bank deposits e RIRITFER (297,482) (224,030)
Net borrowings FIEE 658,820 396,312
Total equity mEE 1,175,700 1,166,860
Net gearing ratio FIRITEE X 56% 34%

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7
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3 MEERBEERESMIAATE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(0

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision
for trade and bills receivable, other receivable
and trade and other payables are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The fair value
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The Group has a team headed by the Assistant
Accounting Director performing valuations for
the insurance contracts which are categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. A
valuation report with analysis of changes in fair
value measurement is prepared by the team at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial
Officer. Discussion of the valuation process and
results with the Chief Financial Officer is held
twice a year, to coincide with the reporting
dates.

(%)

(0
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HME¥EKREERSMIAEQAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
(c) Fair value estimation (continued) (© DFEEMEF(E)
The following table presents the Group’s financial R-_ZE_ZTF=A=+—H"
assets that are measured at fair value on a AEEULEMHEERAEE
recurring basis at 31 March 2020: ATEEHcEemMEENT:
2020 2019
$’000 $'000
Fx Tt
Assets: EE
Level 3 EFZE
— Key management insurance Egﬁﬁﬁ 3
contracts (note 14) &4 (M 5E14) 19,629 19,325
The fair value of financial instruments traded in HAERMmHBESE 2T A

active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included
in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates.
inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If all significant
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3 MEERBEERESMIAATE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(0

Fair value estimation (continued)

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

— Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments.

—  The fair value of structured foreign exchange
forward products is determined using
Monte Carlo simulation, taking into account
of observable market parameters such
as forward exchange rates, volatility and
interest rates at the reporting date.

— Other techniques, such as discounted cash
flow analysis including dividend growth
model, are used to determine fair value for
the remaining financial instruments.

There were no transfers of financial assets/
liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3
fair value hierarchy classifications.

(%)

(0

AEEM/E(E)

WN—IB Sk % IR E K EE I3
BEABEEMBHE - A&
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AAESRBTA 2 FEME
S RITRIEEE
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R HEHRE o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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(0

Fair value estimation (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

3

BHEREEREMIAQNTE

(4&)
(0

DFAEMLE(E)
BFHEE=ZEQAVEFEEHR

Valuation Significant Weighted

techniques unobservable inputs Range average

fhER M FUBEREAHE HE ik B3]

Key management Discounted cash flow ~ Discount rate 2.0%-2.65% 2.22%

insurance contracts model (2019: 2.0%-2.65%) (2019: 2.22%)
EZERERRAN MRARREA BRE 2.0%-2.65% 2.22%
(- (CF-nE:

2.0%-2.65%) 2.22%)

The fair value of insurance contracts is
determined using the discounted cash flow
model. The duration of the cash flows and
the specific timing of inflows and outflows
are determined by conditions in accordance
with the terms of the respective insurance
contracts. The periodic cash flow is estimated
as gross redemption value and interest income
less surrender charges. The series of periodic
net income for the contracting periods is then
discounted. The fair value measurement is
negatively correlated to the discount rate. As at
31 March 2020, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase
in discount rate by 1% would have increased/
decreased the Group’s other comprehensive
income by $2,542,000 (2019: $2,697,000).
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3

BHEREEREMIAQNTE
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OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
(c) Fair value estimation (continued) © 2DFEMEFE)
Information about Level 3 fair value FEE=ZERrVEFTEEHR
measurements (continued) (&)
The movement during the year in the balance FARSTFE=—"ELTVEFE
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as ZARERE BT
follows:
2020 2019
et —E-hF
$/000 $'000
Fr T
Key management insurance contracts & ZE I E
REEE A
Beginning of the year F1 19,325 18,916
Interest income recognised in REHEERZ
profit or loss B A 425 407
Fair value (losses)/gain recognised in SRR HE {2 H
other comprehensive income during WARERZ R
the year FE(ER)
W (121) 2
End of the year FK 19,629 19,325
There were no fair value gains or losses for the R-ZB_ZEFR_FT-NF=
years included in profit or loss for these assets A=t B/ EEELRA
held at 31 March 2020 and 2019. RFEESHEEEERE
mA e
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4

200

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates may be different from the actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in future years are
discussed below.

(@ Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation
for its property, plant and equipment. The
estimates are based on the historical experience
of the actual economic lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Management will adjust the
depreciation where the useful lives are estimated
to be different from the previous estimates. It will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. Periodic reviews could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation
expense in future periods.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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4 EFHERMEE)

4 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)

(o)

(d)

Impairment of receivables

The Group makes allowance for impairment
of receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. Allowance
for impairment is applied to receivables where
events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of receivables
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectations are different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact
the carrying value of receivables and the
impairment loss recognised.

Write-down of inventories

Inventories are written down to the net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories
are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value and write-downs of inventories.

Income taxes and other regulatory provisions

The Group is subject to income tax and other
regulatory provisions in various jurisdictions.
There are transactions for which the ultimate
determination of such provisions is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax,
deferred tax and other regulatory provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

(b)

(o)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % %R

FE W B 5K 2 R B
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AP E SR NN
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FEELHE AT - ER
HeBlREGAEEER
ZERBRZERKERZK
mfE - FREEIREESR -
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RIEFEE R 2 51 & MR
FEERERFE - —BF N
BERBRARNERTEFES
HAREREEEARARETS
WORL - P RO 2 1 A
B fhEt - Bz BEE
RERFAAEEZRR  ZER
HEEFEZEMERTE
Z R ©
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

4

202

(e)

Valuation of properties under development for
sale

The net realisable value of properties under
development are determined by estimating the
fair value of such properties as if they were
completed in accordance with the relevant
development plan and then deducting from that
amount the estimated costs to complete the
construction, financing costs and a reasonable
profit margin. The valuation require judgement
as to the anticipated sale prices by reference
to recent sale transactions in nearby locations,
rate of new property sales, marketing costs and
the expected costs to completion of properties,
the legal and regulatory framework and general
market conditions. The Group’s estimates may
be inaccurate and estimates may need to be
adjusted in later periods.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

4

g5 H B R A E ()

(e)

FhHERBYRZ2MGE
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SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group’s chief operating decision-maker reviews
the Group’s internal reports periodically in order
to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments
based on these reports.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into
three (2019: three) major operating segments. They
are (i) metal and plastic business; (ii) electronic
manufacturing services business; and (iii) real estate
business.

Management considers the business from both a
geographic and products and services perspectives.
From a products and services perspective,
management assesses the performance of metal and
plastic business, electronic manufacturing services
business and real estate business. In addition, there
is further evaluation on a geographic basis (Japan,
Hong Kong, Mainland China, Asia (excluding Japan,
Hong Kong and Mainland China), North America
and Western Europe). Management assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on
operating profit. Segment information provided
to management for decision making is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the financial
statements.

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is
not provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management and accordingly, no segment
assets or liabilities information is presented.

5

SEBE
FEBERLEAEETNEY
REE T NBBME AT LS
RHBER - BB L LIRS
B

ﬁ%’%\ﬁ/\ﬁ

EEETT ab °

AEERAMAZM I EZEBT SR
S(CENAFD)RTEBELED
B ARROASBRBER: (VB
TEERIZS: R(iVFEHEXR
fn °

EEELER  EmMRBZAE
EREAXRK - BHEENEMMR
BzRAENELSEBEK B
EEXRIXBLREHMEEH 2K
BoWg#E—AMERERH
K-FE-PERANE - TMHEE
BARN - FENBPEARE) X
BB KA - EEBREL
LHEAMNFHEESOMIRR - 12
HFEEBREAZOHBERZ
AAEAAEMBERR % -

SHWEAERAKZHELEE Y
BUTAER Y BB RAGTESD
B Hl w25 REERS
EAN -
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5

204

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 ZDEEmEE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2020 BRE_ZT_THE=-A=+—HILHF
are as follows: EZoEEEWT:
2020
ZECEF
Electronic
Metal and manufacturing
plastic services Real estate
business business business Total
L¢BB ErE¥ EitE
% RIE%K % i
$'000 $'000 $’000 $’000
T Fr Tr Tr
Segment revenue BB
Revenue from external customers — REINBEFEZW A 1,632,236 997,767 272,205 2,902,208
Inter-segment revenue S EEKA 32,823 — — 32,823
Reportable segment revenue mEHBHA 1,665,059 997,767 272,205 2,935,031
Gross profit EM 331,023 43,637 154,834 529,494
Distribution and selling expenses DHEREEBERR KK
and general and administrative THER
expenses (115,992) (17,718) (17,087) (150,797)
Other net income/gains Hi A/ W#EFE 2,658 102 1,684 4,444
Net valuation loss on investment RENMEEEBRTE
properties — — (2,361) (2,361)
Operating profit Sl 217,689 26,021 137,070 380,780
Operating profit includes: geRNEsE:
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ ¥%¥ - BERZHE L HE
property, plant and equipment REH 60,174 1,743 1,054 62,971
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEEZHEH 1,504 — — 1,504
(Reversal of write-down) /write- BRERBHETFE MR 2
down of obsolete and slow-moving % 1),/ #
inventories (2,145) 2,145 — —
Recognition of loss allowance for ~ EHRZHEENEREE
trade and bills receivable BE2BR 92 — — 92

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7
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5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 SHE|EE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2019 BE_ZT-NF=A=1+—HIF
are as follows: B2Zo®MEEWT:
2019
b IR:S
(Note)
(B £5)
Electronic
Metal and manufacturing
plastic services Real estate
business business business Total
L8R BETEX B E
ES RIXH % af
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
Segment revenue i\ 1 ON
Revenue from external customers R EINEBE P 2 A 1,348,230 1,077,231 225,708 2,651,169
Inter-segment revenue D EREBA 42,402 — — 42,402
Reportable segment revenue W|E D KA 1,390,632 1,077,231 225,708 2,693,571
Gross profit EA 260,343 57,719 122,135 440,197
Distribution and selling expenses 73 R 5 & & A o — ik J2
and general and administrative T E
expenses (93,374) (22,356) (17,060) (132,790)
Other net income/gains Ei g AWz 55 4,938 795 1,799 7,532
Net valuation gain on investment 1% & #) % ffi (6 I &5 5 58
properties — — 898 898
Operating profit K E gl 171,907 36,158 107,772 315,837
Operating profit includes: ReHrBHE:
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ #)% - FiE R&E 2 ME
property, plant and equipment L #H 48,687 2,560 889 52,136
Amortisation of intangible assets & E 2 # 55 1,322 — — 1,322
Write-down/(reversal of write- RERBHFEMRR,
down) of obsolete and slow- (MRl < B )
moving inventories 1,094 (1,094) — —
(Reversal of)/recognition of loss ~ B5 R E&E BN EHERE
allowance for trade and bills Bz (BE),/H#R
receivable (709) 17 — (692)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 M AEBR-ZE-NFNA—HA

REREBEABY B HRESERSE6
% RALEITE WL - BRI
FE B ERWESS - R
iT2(c) ©

using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated.
See note 2(c).
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5  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 SE|EGE)
A reconciliation of operating profit to profit before RERMNABERBADEN AT

taxation is provided as follows:

2020 2019

(Note)

—EE®HF —E-NF

(B 5E)

$/000 $°000

Fr Tt

Operating profit =il 380,780 315,837

Finance income B 7 U A 4,462 2,743
Finance costs B 7% B AN (24,858) (19,187)

Share of profits of an associate JE A& Bt = X R) & A 1,354 693

Profit before taxation B Bt Al & A 361,738 300,086
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 Mz: REBR-_Z-AFHA—HA
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this RERBEBYM G| ELRE6
approach, the comparative information is not restated. 5% FRAKERTEBE - RIFU
See note 2(c). FE L RENAEED - B

FE2(c) °
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SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and
investment in an associate (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of revenue is
based on the country in which the final destination
of shipment is located or services are provided and
properties are located. The geographical location
of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and the
location of the operations to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets and investment in an
associate.

5

The Group's revenue

o E®E (E)

TR IH () AN B2 WA K (i) A
SEZME BEERE KED
X EBREEMRBEARZEKE
((fEEFRBEE ) AEME 2 E
Bt o WA PTIE 3 [ AR 1B & AR 5E
Bei s RS R HE MM ERER
ROl - HEFRBDEEMEM
BzED - MBWME - BELRE
REEWETIREBEZEEATZ
M E  MAEEEENMNE
ERBZRETNREEMR D R E
B2 B -

Specified non-current assets

AEEZBA REFRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
SRSRF ZTONF O CBSRF CTONR
$/000 §'000 $/000 §'000
r i Fr i
Hong Kong (place of domicile)  &Z(fExe) 795,907 820173 42561 15,379
Japan AR 61,237 170,677 — —
Mainland China N 1,047,503 874,191 787,494 795,926
Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and S (FEERE - FER
Mainland China) HEARE) 214,263 118,294 — —
North America EEM 415,834 347,692 14 5
Western Europe 7B 367,464 320,142 — —
Sub-total NG 2,106,301 1,830,996 787,508 795,931
2,902,208 2,651,169 830,069 811,310
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5

208

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The Group’s customer base includes three (2019:
three) customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. For the year
ended 31 March 2020, the total revenue from sales
of merchandise in the metal and plastic business and
electronic manufacturing services business, including
sales to entities which are known to the Group to
be under common control with these customers,
amounted to approximately $2,234,127,000 (2019:
$2,078,558,000) and arose in all geographical regions
in which the businesses are active.

The Group’s sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. For the year ended 31 March 2020, the
revenue derived from five largest customers accounted
for approximately 83% (2019: 84%) of the Group's
total revenue.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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AREBE=ZZ(ZZT—NLF:=4)
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6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 ME BMERZE
Land use Furniture
right and Properties Fixtures and and
leasehold leased for  Construction-  leasehold Toolsand ~ computer
land  Buildings ~ ownuse in-progress improvement Machinery  equipment equipment Total
THERE HE %ER I BHR
REELH B: 9%BR RBIE N¥%8 Ba RRE  EERE st
$'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 $/000 $/000
r fr fr T T T T T T
Cost: B
AT Apl 2019 ZE-0ERA-R
(before iitial application of HKFRS 16) (BRERERERRE
E8 Z16%) BT BN - 192 891 50682 45740 89,139 1,085,726
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 ERZ BRI B REREIE16%
(Note] 298 () - - 7,703 - - - - - 7,703
AT April 2019 ZE-0EMA-A
(afer iniial applcation of HKFRS 16) (BREREANERE
EHZ165%) BT 331611 7,703 192 86,941 506826 45,740 89,139 1,093,429
Additions HE - - - 1,357 28,186 53,719 1,770 18,780 113,812
Transfers gg - B - (31) 8 - - - -
Disposals i - - - - (7,644) (25,276) (2,283) (1,898) (37,101)
Adjustments due to modifications REHz A% - - 621 - - - - - 621
Exchange adjustments i3 Eik - - (338) @0 @ @m0 (98 (33859
At31 March 2020 “E-5ECRCT-R BT 331,634 7,786 1476 102967 513,562 5,106 102,093 1,136,902
Accumulated depreciation, amortisation ~ Zit47E - BHR
and impairment losses: REFE:
At T April 2019 ZZ-NERA-A 8,323 73,045 - - 53,821 384,863 23,932 74,527 618,511
Charge for the year EEMR 500 6,970 3341 - 4,565 33,496 4,846 9,253 62,971
Written back on disposals HEZHE - - - - (7,576) (23,709) 2,177) (1,682) (35,344)
Exchange adjustments R EE S - - (88) - (234) (12900 (1468 (216 (20,074)
AU31 March 2020 CECRESRSt-R 8823 80015 3,053 — 48468 381690 25133 78682 626,064
Net ook value: REAE:
At 31 March 2020 “5CEF-F=1-H 16,454 251,619 4,533 1478 54,499 131,872 26,972 341 510,838
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 6 WME BERRZHE)
Land use Furniture
right and Properties Figtures and and
leasehold leased for  Construction- ~ leasehold Toolsand ~ computer
land  Buildings ~ ownuse in-progress improvement  Machinery  equipment  equipment Total
THERE (i RER IE RRR
hEgLH BT MRER  EEIR  NRRE BE  REB  EMRE Ak
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000
T T T T T T T T T
Cost: R
At T April 2018 “5-)\¥mA-A 25,217 331,210 - 192 86,778 486,702 38,819 89,373 1,060,411
Additions nE - 41 — — 10,135 37,128 9,149 5,872 62,805
Disposals e - - - - (7,581) 6,502) (266) (3,040) (17,389)
Exchange adjustments RBE% - (20) - - (2391) (12,662 (1,962) (3,066) (20,101)
At 31 March 2019 “T-NEZRZ1-R 25,217 331,611 — 192 86,941 506,626 45,740 89,139 1,085,726
Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and B3t 7% - B#R
impairment losses: REFE:
At1 April 2018 ZE-)\ERA-H 783 66,021 - — 5933 368084 21479 71812 59454
Charge fo the year EEAR 00 70 - — e M8 367 809 5136
Written hack on disposals RHgziE - - - - (7581 (6438 (051 B0 (17330
Exchange adjustments 3:EE - - - - (1569 (.91 093 24 (1087
At 31 March 2019 ZE-NEZAZT-H 8323 73,045 - — 53,821 364,803 23,932 74527 618,511
Net ook value: REAE:
At 31 March 2019 ZE-hEZAZT-H 16,954 258,566 — 192 33,120 121,963 21,808 14,612 467,215
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the Mizt: REBDSRAKETZEHET
modified retrospective method and adjusted the opening FEERERBEEMBRELNE
balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets 165% + 0 # B 201964718 2
relating to leases which were previously classified as HY 90 45 85 AT R B SR AT IR 1B &
operating leases under HKAS 17. See note 2(c). B EAEI7RSERKEHE

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 6
Depreciation expense of $59,604,000 (2019:
$49,122,000) and $3,367,000 (2019: $3,014,000)
has been charged to cost of revenue, general and

administrative expenses, respectively.

(@)

Right-of-use assets
The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets at
their net book values are analysed as follows:

ME BMERREE)

¥ E & 59,604,000 (ZF—N
1 49,122,0007t) %3,367,0007C
(ZZ— N4 :3,014,0007T) 2 Bl 51
ABMARKAE - —RERITHER -

@ FHAEEE
AEBEFRAEEE CER
REERmMFEIMOT:

2020 2019
$000 $'000
T T
Leasehold land and buildings in ~ A& BRHAZHE
Hong Kong, held on leases i RABF10E
between 10 to 50 years S50 B HE
(note (i)) (Bt =% (i) 1,978 2,083
Buildings in the PRC, held on R EFAEZTI0E
leases between 10 to 50 years S50 B HE
(note (i) (BT 7 (i) 266,095 273,437
268,073 275,520
Properties leased for own use HEMEBERZ
carried at depreciated cost #r & 1% AR
(note (iii)) (B 5 (i) 4,533 —
272,606 275,520

(i) Leasehold land and buildings in Hong

Kong held for own use

The Group holds several buildings for its
office and warehouses. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests,
including the whole or part of undivided
share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease, other than payments based
on rateable values set by the relevant
government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authorities.

i) HEARSHELHLE
FEBHA
REEBFEE TEFTIE
AERAREREBE - AEH
REZEYEER(BEHE
Fﬁiﬂﬂﬂ’]%%ﬁﬁigﬁ’ﬁT\
T‘ﬂ Mz EMmES

o REBMNU—FBIER
ﬁﬁ%%Z%ﬁﬁ%ﬁA
WY s - BRIRES
%8 BT 2B PIER E 2 FE 3R
ZEREZAFN - AR
B AR IR £ B K
RIEFEETZNR - %%
TR EE) - WS
FHBBATEBMT o
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 6

6

212

(@)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i) Land use right and buildings in the PRC
held for own use
The Group holds several buildings for
its factories. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including
the underlying land use rights. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

(iii) Properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use
other properties as its warehouses through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years with
no extension options. None of these leases
includes variable lease payments.

Buildings leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out an insignificant portion of
factories located in PRC under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
year. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments. Undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in place at the
reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
future periods are disclosed in note 33(c).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

M- BMERRE(E)

(@

(b)

EREEE#E)

(i) LHERERFTEHE
HEBFIFEEN
AEBRBEETEFIE

RBBE AEESZE
MEEE (BEHAELH
AR ZEMEAA-
AEBA—FBENRK
[ % 2 B A A
WEmE#ED A5HE
R4 AR 4K £ 1 A & 1K K
EEET 2 -

(i) HEHEVMEFEAR
AEBECEREEWZ
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx B AASN  LAETTHIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REYE
2020 2019
— 7 — qi :EE_j-LE'E
$000 $'000
T T7T
Beginning of the year F A 318,600 336,250
Additions nNE 101 282
Exchange differences R}@% #H (21,540) (18,830)
Fair value adjustment NFERAE (2,361) 898
End of the year FE 294,800 318,600

The investment properties are under construction
and located in the PRC under lease terms of 40 years
expiring in August 2050 to January 205T.

Fair value measurement of properties

(i) Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the fair
value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties is categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

ERBEZEZREREMEIIRIE
RENTF(R=ZTERATFNAE
“EA-F-ARH)HEHMm
SR

NEZAFEFE

iy DFEREHK
RZE-ZEF=ZA=+—HK
R_ZE—AF=ZA=+—H"
$EI&EW¥Z“$@ﬁ

EREBUFHREENSF

135ﬂ WE*JrgJZm%
BAE-ELAFTEER-

BHE_ZT-_TFR-_FT—NF
—A=+—HLEFERN F—
el ol = Rl N
ME=Z BRI EE L8 A -
AEBZHEERBER
BMRAAFTEELEBEEZE

% o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 7 BREWMEE)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued) MEZ2QNFETEE)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) i) DFEEBERE)

The valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 March 2020 was conducted
by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent
professional valuer, which has among its staff
members of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The investment properties were valued on
the basis that it would be developed and
completed in accordance with the Group’s latest
development proposals. The Chief Financial
Officer has discussion with the independent
professional valuer in the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each interim and annual reporting
date.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation (loss)/
gain on investment properties” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

R-_E-_TF=A=+—H"
REBEZREMERLE ISR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

7  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 7 REWEE)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued) MEZAFETFEE)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) EEFE=ZBRLAFETEZ
measurements &
Valuation Unobservable
techniques inputs Range
b fE B M AUEEBE st & E
Investment properties — Market comparison Adjustment factor -31%-6%
Investment properties approach on size and  (2019: -2%-15%)
in the PRC location of the
properties
BREWME —RNFEH 35 L 8O MEBERILE 31%-6%
ZREME ZHBEAE (ZT-hF:
2%-15%)
The fair value of investment properties in the RABEZHRENEZAFE
PRC is determined using the market comparison TERBATSLEEEAEE - I
approach by making reference to the comparable SLERBAMISAERZA LR
sales transactions as available in the relevant HERXRS  WEERTKAE
market was adopted and it had taken into PREE ZZEMAER R 5T
account the construction costs that would be KEEZESE - FRZAR
incurred to complete the development to reflect ECRMEZEBRULE
the quality of the completed development. The HEITHE - AFEFERY
adjustment factors used have been adjusted for FHEEMMEZHABRET
the size and location of the properties. The fair IFEAHRE -

value measurement is positively correlated to the
adjustment factors on size and location of the
properties.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 BEEE
Computer
software
S EH
$7000
Fx
Cost: A
At 1 April 2019 —Z-NAFHA—H 14,183
Additions //J\E 229
At31 March 2020 = F=FF=A=4-H 14,412
Accumulated amortisation: Rt #Ee:
At 1 April 2019 —E-AFMOA—H (5,015)
Charge for the year FE (1,504)
At 31 March 2020 —E-EF=A=1+—H (6,519)
Net Book Value: BREFE:
At 31 March 2020 —E-EF=ZA=1+—H 7,893
Cost: R 2N
At 1 April 2018 —E-\EFWMWAHA—H 13,010
Additions NE 1,173
At31 March 2019 = F-A%=A=ft—-H 14,183
Accumulated amortisation: B T
At 1 April 2018 —E-N\EWMAHA—H (3,693)
Charge for the year FEMK (1,322)
At 31 March 2019 —E-NAF=ZA=1+—H (5,015)
Net Book Value: BRE F{E -
At 31 March 2019 —E-NAF=ZA=+—H 9,168

Amortisation of $1,504,000 (2019: $1,322,000) was
included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7

2T T F=-RA=+—H1
FE 1,504,000 C(ZZF—NF:
1,322,0007C) BIEE iR & B m KR
—MEITHER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

SUBSIDIARIES 9 KEAIF
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the RARRZZE_TF=HA=+—H
Company as at 31 March 2020 are: TEMBRRIZER
Percentage
Place of incorporation/ of equity
establishment and types  Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ held by the
Name of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital Company
i/ RIsER LAfsR
i1 EERREN TEXBREELE BEf/BERA LR
Karrie Industrial Company  Hong Kong, limited Sale of server casings, office automation products, visual Ordinary shares of §1,000 100%
Limited liahility company accessories, plastic and metal parts, metal stamping dies Non-voting deferred shares of
and plastic injection moulds and provision of management $5,000,000 ()
services, Hong Kong
BHERBRLE FRERELLA ﬁﬁfﬁéﬁﬁ BOEXEER FREN ZBREE  EERI000T
ot eRFERAREZRARREERRR 2R ERFEETR0000007()
Karrie Technologies Hong Kong, limited Manufacturing and sales of plastic parts, metal stamping Ordinary shares of $30,000,000 100%
Company Limited liahility company dies and plastic injection moulds, provision of electronic
manufac turing services and investment holdings, Hong Kong
BHURRMRARLA  BRRRRLLT ERREZRIL 2ERERARIEEA 1530,000,0007C
hh@%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁhﬁhh B
Karwin Engineering Hong Kong, limited Design, manufacture and sale of server casings, office Ordinary shares of $10 100%
Company Limited liahility company automation products and visual accessories; sale of plastic Non-voting deferred shares of
and metal parts, metal stamping dies, plastic injection §100 ()
moulds and investment holdings, Hong Kong
FERNIRARLRY  BRARRALLT #it - RERHEARSNR BOEZNEERRIREN: ERRIOT
HEZBROENN CENERE IEBRERRAE  ERFEETM00TH
k&3
REEE ?ﬁ@’%ﬂﬁ The PRC, limited liabilty ~ Manufacture of server casings, office automation products and  Paid-up capital $152,418,000 i 100%
ARA company metal parts, the PRC
TERRAMLT  RERRENR BOENEERRZESH 7E ESET152,418, 0007
ﬁ%ﬁ[ﬁ? ZB1g  ThePRC limited liability - Manufacture of server casings, office automation products, Paid-up capital $128,510,000 (i) 100%

company

FEERELAT

visual accessories, moulds and plastic parts; provision of

electronic manufacturing services, the PRC

HERRSBNG  BAEXGER TRAN EAREBH S8 E%128510,0007 il

i RESTERAIRE +E
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SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 9 MEARGE)
Percentage
Place of incorporation/ of equity
establishment and types  Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ held by the
Name of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital Company
i/ RIBER LK %R
i1 EERREN TEXBREELE BEfT/CHRE REDL
REREETEZ The PRC, limited fiabilty ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital $414,610,000 (i) 100%
ERAT company
TEERAMLY  HEWX TE ESER4146100007 )
HERMERAERE  The PRC limited liability  Property development and management, the PRC Paid-up capital US$20,000,000 (v 100%
BRAH company
TRERRELT  NEFRRRER 4E ESE20,000,000% )
HEBFEXERAT  The PRC, limited liabilty  Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital USS16,000,000 (v~ 100%
company
RERRALLT  HENX FE E A 716,000,000% v
REBERUERE  The PRC, limited liability  Property development, the PRC Paid-up capital US$43,700,000 (i)~ 100%
ERAT company
TEERALLT  NREE ©E B SE 743,700,000 T vl
REMEREXARAA  The PRC, limited liability  Property trading and management, the PRC Paid-up capital RMB1,000,000 (vii 100%
company
TEERAMLT  WXEAREE 18 EAETARH1,000,0007 i)
The PRC, limited liability  Property development, the PRC Paid-up capital RMB78,501,000 (ix) 100%

Notes:

company

PEARELAT

NELE TE

(i)  The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the
Group. These shares have no voting rights, are not
entitled to dividends, and are not entitled to distributions
upon winding up unless a sum of $200,000,000,000 has

been distributed by the relevant companies to holders of

the ordinary shares.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7

B 5

BEERNRE78501,0007(ix)

BN REERG I IEHRANER
iR - WERNDEREE  IE
BHZRE - BRIFABATIEER
FHEZARRRE 2 EELR
200,000,000,0007T : & Bl 3% % B%

MERIZFEMDIK
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SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

REFEZB2RBRh&6R2F is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 19 May 2026.

REERMELZBRSERAA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 24 May 2026.

RERBETEEERRLQA is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 25 years up to 18 February 2030.

HEEZMNEHERNERZEER DA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 40 years up to 2 December 2049.

HEBFEXEBRADA is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 40 years up to 22 March 2051.

R RAIFEHEMEER AT is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 20 years up to 17 September 2033.

REm=mAEEBRAF is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with a long-term
operating period.

WESRBNEMERZEFRAA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with a long-term
operating period.

All of the principal subsidiaries listed above were, as at
31 March 2020, indirectly held by the Company.

9

B aE: (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

10 REZEQNTz2RE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
$’000 $'000
Fr T+t
Share of net assets EBHtEEFE
Beginning of the year F 9] 16,327 16,562
Share of profits of an associate J& {5 B & 2 &) s A 1,354 693
Exchange difference HiER (1,143) (928)
End of the year FIE 16,538 16,327
Balances with an associate B E QTR 2R
Amount due to an associate JFE 11 B &2 A B BR X
(note 34(b)) (Pt 5E34(b)) 4,083 35

The outstanding balances due to an associate are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,
and are denominated in HK$.

Particulars of the associate of the Group are as

LR R R RER BN ZKR
RAEER - TEAE - LHEEK
REE MABTREN-

AEBEEMERNR ZFMABR

follows: LuNNE
Proportion of
ownership interest
BERELA
Group's
Place of establishment  Principal activities and Particulars of issued effective Held by
Name of associate and types of legal entity place of operation and paid up capital interest  a subsidiary
RILRR L} P
BeLdER HEREEN TEXBREELE BRf/EHkA rRERE kA
ERBEREAMRRA The PRC, limited liabilty ~ Research, sales of industrial robots and robot ~ Ordinary shares of 30% 30%
BRAT (‘Cuifeng’) company peripheral automation equipment, and RMB10,000,000
provision of automation solution, the PRC
EREERSAMERD TEAREALT  WE BEIRBEARBSARRAIRE. ERRARM
BRAT(RE) RiEREBILERIR 7H 10,000,0007C

Cuifeng is a listed corporate entity on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations of the PRC whose
quoted market price is not available.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7

RERPEARKMEZE RN
CERMEZRGEME  ARE

M5 RE -
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INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Summarised financial information of the associate
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and

10 REBEQXRZREGE)
RESHABRRIEANEZEFHER
ZHMENRPBEEMME  WH

reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated A WmR 2 RAEETHER
financial statement are disclosed below: BERAT
Cuifeng
Rg
2020 2019
—BC2F —T-NE
$000 §/000
T T
Gross amounts of the associate BENR BT
Current assets MEEE 60,016 41,197
Non-current assets ERBEE 6,098 2,740
Current liabilities ik AN (31,649) (11,677)
Net assets/equity BE/TRanFE 34,465 32,260
Revenue e A 57,864 49,952
Profit for the year FE i A 4,512 2,311
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE 2 EU A B 5 4,512 2,311
Reconciled to the Group’s interests HAHEXEER
in the associate BERRAZRER
Gross amounts of net assets of the associate & A7) 2 7F & E 4 %E 34,465 32,260
Fair value adjustments to identifiable WERRER 2 AR
intangible assets upon acquisition WEER lT‘TEuﬂ% 28,930 31,034
Capital injection by the Group AEBIE (13,200) (14,160)
50,195 49,134
Group’s effective interest AEBZERER 30% 30%
Group's share of net assets of the associate 7~ & [B J& & B & /A 7
BEEFE 15,058 14,740
Goodwill SES 3,970 4,077
Impairment losses recognised BB B B R (2,490) (2,490)
Carrying amount in the consolidated Riga B HRET
financial statements RHE 16,538 16,327
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INTERESTS IN A JOINT OPERATION IN RESPECTOF 11 RARUEBRR B SEEZE
A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT =
On 1 August 2016, the Group entered into a RZE-—RFNA—B X&E
cooperation agreement (the “Agreement”) with Kar REERTPEEHEMRZEIEE
Info International Property Limited (“Kar Info”), a ([ A B 1) B 7K & B B & A 7 Kar
related company of the Group, regarding a real estate Info International Property Limited
development project (the “Project”) in the PRC. ([Kar Infol) T 32 & 1E 13 & ([ 5% 1%
According to the Agreement, an area of land held ZD - BREBEZWBE AREZDER
by REMRAMBEMREMBR QA (the “Project ABERMEMBRAFGTEAER
Company”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kar Info), Al Kar Infoz 2 & W B AR #
would be used for construction of residential suites Bzt EARREETEE
and public amenities. The Group agreed to participate EhRAXKRE AEBRBEKRE
in the Project by making an investment in the amount 140,000,0007T ¥ /& < 15 FKar Info
of $140,000,000 in consideration to Kar Info of it being ZHRELEZIBEE  UWHEHESE
entitled to a share of profit from the Project through BANEEFIHEZFMEMEZ
selling the properties in the future. The transaction BREGZHEM - RIE LHRANE
contemplated under the Agreement constitutes a HUAE  ZM@EBENRETZIRS
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing BR-ERERS - FHEBAE
Rules. The details of the joint operation are as follows: EHBOT:
Total gross
floor area Completion date
Location Land Use (m?)  (calendar year)
HEEEE 3% T A
TE T A (75 K) (&)
Phase 3, Castfast Villas, Fenggang Town, Residential 61,730 2018/2019
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
FRERERETAMERESRE =4 I 61,730 2N/
ZE-NEF

The Group’s assets held in relation to the joint
operation include the investment cost contributed
by the Group and the related construction costs
capitalised. The balance is shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position as property
development (note 16). As at 31 March 2020, the
carrying amount of property development in respect
of the joint operation was $148,996,000 (2019:
$251,690,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

REERBELERAECEER
BAEBIAZEEKRARER
b BBRBREMKRSE - REREKE
MBRARPIEMEER (T
16) c RZFE-_TEF=H=+—H "
EHABAEECYEERE ZEMA
8 5148,996,000C(—F — N 5F :
251,690,0007T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx B AASN  LAETTHIR)

INTERESTS IN A JOINT OPERATION IN RESPECT OF 11
A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, there was an amount due
from Kar Info in relation to the joint operation
amounting to $113,833,000 which is unsecured, non-

NREBYERRCBEEEC#
= (&)

R-ZE_ZETF=ZA=+—H" &
% & & & E U Kar Info 2 53X 1B

113,833,0007C & EHHF -~ T~ 50 F

interest bearing and repayable on demand (2019: BRI HEEBREEE(CT—NF:
$19,494,000). 19,494,0007T) °
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 12 RBREN2EZE®MIA
Financial assets
measured at
amortised st Other financial assets Total
i )
TESREE BheuEE At
2020 2019 200 2019 2000 2019
ZECEE ZE-0E CECERE CE-0E ZECERE CEI0R
§1000 §000 §1000 §000 §1000 §1000
fr n n r tn n
Assets 2E
Trade, bills and other receivables note 13) 8% ZERAGEREZ () 33159 316,948 - - 331,59 316,048
Prepayments (note 13) ERR (W) 42,016 370 - - 42,016 372
Deposits note 13) e (W) 19,768 16,521 - - 29,768 16,521
Other financial assets (note 14) LUk PR - - 19,629 19325 19,629 19325
Cash and hank deposits (note 17) BERENER (D) 297 48 14030 - - 297482 24030
Amouns due from related companies (ote 34(3) BREERIES (M3H40) 115,135 21,503 - - 11513 21,503
815,99 602,722 19,629 1933 835,65 60,047
2020 2019
—_ 7 —_ i ﬂE - j_l_, 55'5
$000 $'000
Fx Tt
Liabilities =R
Trade payables, accruals and EHEMNERR
other payables (note 21) JEHE R & E e
ER SR (M 5E21) 781,208 592,620
Bank borrowings (note 22) IR1TEE (K 3E22) 951,637 620,342
Amount due to an associate (note 10) JE{TEt 2 N7l R
(FF5E10) 4,083 35
Amounts due to related companies JE R E R R BR R
(note 34(b)) (B 5¥34(b)) 632 394
1,737,560 1,213,391
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13 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS, 13 BEZREBEEWENR FERR
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES BRERHAiEWRERR
2020 2019
—EEHE —ET-NF
$’000 $'000
Tr Tt
Trade and bills receivable BESLREREWERER 301,670 282,614
Other receivables B b YBR R 30,244 37,663
331,914 320,277
Less: Loss allowance for trade and bills & : B 5 & 2= 1% fE Uk
receivable R EERE (319) (3,329)
331,595 316,948
Prepayments &R 42,016 23,720
Deposits e 29,768 16,521
403,379 357,189
Less: Other non-current assets B HMIEREBEE
(Note) (Bt 7%) (38,300) (32,000)
365,079 325,189
Representing: R&k:
Trade and bills receivable, net of BN EBERWERR
allowance MR B 301,351 279,285
Prepayments, deposits and other AR e kEHM
receivables JE U BR 3K 63,728 45,904
365,079 325,189
Note: Other non-current assets represent deposits paid Mizt: HthIEnBEERKRBEEYWE
for the purchase of property, plant and equipment MERSREBEBZENEESBLY
amounted to approximately $19,160,000 (2019: 719,160,0007T (= & — AL F:
$11,468,000), a government grant receivable from 11,468,0007T) & HR BT &k B B U
Jiangsu Yixing Economic Development Zone Investment & Mb o FEUOT #% B AT B 5
and Development Company Limited amounted to BirEERARARZEMTED
approximately $19,140,000 (2019: $20,532,000) in © ®8#1/519,140,0007C (ZF— N1
relation to the acquisition of a piece of land in Yixing, £ :20,532,0007T) °

Jiangsu, the PRC.

224 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7
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13 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group generally grants credit periods ranging
from 30 to 90 days, except for three (2019: three) of
the customers who is granted a credit period over 90
days. An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable,

13

BEREERWERN AR &
R H MW ARR(E)

BRER=(ZT-NAF : =Z)F
FZ BB A0Rs  AEE &K
wTEPZEMHBE30HEIH - B
HREBEERERIZEZBHG

based on invoice date, is as follows: HZHREBEDTOT
2020 2019
—EEF —T-NF
$’000 $'000
Fr T+t
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 291,397 218,664
91 to 180 days 912180H 8,972 58,773
181 to 360 days 1812360H 954 2,009
Over 360 days 360H LA 347 3,168
301,670 282,614

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year. Any amounts not expected to be recovered
within one year are not included in current assets.

The Group measures loss allowance for trade and bills
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

B REBERPRR - BAR - &
T REMEBRER ZREERE
NEHET -

%L R BR R TR M — AU
THeEBARITeE - FRAKE
AITBERERNRBHEEN -

AEBEFREBEREERR 2B
BRGBHEASNEAFTERZ
BHEEBRBRZER ZBER
BERBERERETE - ARAKE
CELEEBRERYARARAT
REFRZBRREAFTEREE
2 A ERNBHMKEZBHRERE
EreE—YEIAKE ZTRE
FE -
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and
bills receivable as at 31 March:

13 BEZREBERUBERENR BAAR &
EREMBERERR(E)
TREHEHRBEBAASEES M
SEREEREERR ARG
EFER=A=1T—8:

2020

—E-%F

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
FHERR KREKLE BERAE
% $/000 $/000
Fr Fr
Current (not past due) &R (REH) 0.02 280,711 55
1 to 90 days past due # HEi1Z90H 0.09 18,290 16
91 to 180 days past due 1 H1912180H 2.71 1,320 36
181 to 360 days past due 1 H11812360H 9.34 1,254 117
Over 360 days past due 1 #3360 H A & 100.00 95 95
301,670 319

2019

—T-NF

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
BHEEX KREALE BEES
% $'000 $000
T T
Current (not past due) BRI(RBE) 0.03 227,904 68
1 to 90 days past due B H1ZE90H 0.17 48,591 85
91 to 180 days past due # H912180H 2.28 2,220 51
181 to 360 days past due # Bi181E360H 3.31 800 26
Over 360 days past due 1 H3360H LA E 100.00 3,099 3,099
282,614 3,329

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience in the past. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives
of the receivables.

BHERRENBEZERER
B o I F N REFEARBRY S
FE St SRR 2 BN - B Al
AR S R0 AN SR [ 5 R U BR SRTR B4R
HzBBEMRRBEALHAZER -
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13 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS, 13 BEZREBEWRT - AR - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) &R HA W AR (E)
Movement in loss allowance account in respect of ﬁfa BHONEBERIWERZERE
trade and bills receivable is as follows: BEEHON:

2020 2019
et —E-NF
$'000 §/000
Fr Tt
Beginning of the year F A 3,329 4,021
Provision of allowance during the year Hi A &5 18 # & 92 —
Reversal of allowance during the year Hi /A g5 18 # ## 2
[o] 2% — (692)
Written-off of trade and bills receivable #3582 5 & & 1% &
U B 3R (3,102) —
End of the year FK 319 3,329
The recognition of allowance for impaired receivables HEeRmERKEREEZER
is included in general and administrative expenses in BEREEERERT — KR RITH
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. g -
Receivables that were past due but not impaired B EE KRR E 2 U BR R
related to a number of independent customers that THAESEBRIFER EﬂﬁZﬁ
had a good track record with the Group. Based VEPER - REAELR  BE
on past experience, management believed that no ERABBEARZFERIELRE
impairment allowance was necessary in respect BiE AREEEXRITEEARE
of these balances as there had been no significant B HRBINHWAR R 2 B E -

change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of RBEHR EERRBZHZAE
the reporting period is the carrying value of trade and A i B %&mTF}EHQHE i
bills receivable, deposits and other receivables stated i&EWEWHQEE X BREE ° N
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as SEVTERAEEMAERER 2K
security. EGil I

The credit quality of the Group’s trade and bills BREBBREEFPHERE  HAKERD
receivable, deposits and other receivables that IEmEARRECES RRIEE
are past due but not impaired has been assessed WER e REMERERZ
by reference to the historical information about EEBXRELHNE  BRZEFE
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties BERBEAZHARGH -

do not have significant defaults in the past.
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OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 14 HttEMEE
31 March 31 March
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NEF
=A=+-B =A=+-H
$000 $'000
F T
Financial assets measured at FVOCI BERFEFTAEM
(recycling) 2 EWA(FIEM)
AEZEMEE
— Key management insurance — EEEERE
contracts (unlisted investments) REE 4
(ELmEEHE) 19,629 19,325
At 31 March 2020, the insurance contracts EQ:E —EFE=ZH=+—H"

represented life insurance plans with investment
elements relating to a key management personnel of
the Group. The total sum insured is US$4,681,000
(approximately $36,512,000) (2019: US$4,681,000
(approximately $36,746,000)),
minimum guaranteed return of 2.0% to 4.2% for the
first 10 years and 2.0% for the years afterwards.

with an annual

At 31 March 2020,
insurance contract,
surrender charge of US$2,215,000 (approximately
$17,275,000) (2019: US$2,142,000 (approximately
$16,816,000)), would be refunded to the Group. The
amount of surrender charge decreases over time and

if the Group terminated the
the account value, net of a

is no longer required from the 19th year of contract
conclusion onwards.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

ZRBEVNBAEE —RBEE
%“EEAAZﬁTxéBMﬁzA
SR B 1R 5 54,681,0003%
75(%’736 512 00075)(— = — N
% :4,681,000% (7 ’]36 746,000
) BT ERERELREAEE
F20%E42% K EETF2.0% °

R_E_FTF=-A=+—8"
AEBRIEZRBEREH  REE
FHEREREREA2,2150003%
7T (#917,275,00070) (= F — N4 -
2,142,000 7T (%£716,816,0007T)) &
HURETAERE o RIRKWEBFERHE
MALERZEHNEERETNLE
FE A A UCER o
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INVENTORIES

(a)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

Inventories in the consolidated statement of

15 BEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx B AASN  LAETTHIR)

@ REEMBERRERZFEE

financial position comprise: &
2020 2019
—F-%F —FTNF
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Raw materials R 156,602 113,918
Work-in-progress =+ &K an 54,484 33,631
Finished goods 2K 317,779 187,942
528,865 335,491

The analysis of the amount of inventories

recognised as an expense and included in “cost

b FEZ2HCHEIBR/ILREE
AR B B 2 R AT B A (K

of revenue” in the consolidated statement of E27) DT
profit or loss (Note 27) is as follows:
2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
$000 $'000
Fr T
Carrying amount of inventories ~ BE&7FE 2 KEE
sold 1,905,388 1,807,116
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16 PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 16 MERE
2020 2019
—EEF —T-NF
$/000 $°000
T T
Property under development for sale  #FJh £ &2 ¥ % 668,407 436,269
Completed property held for sale SRERZE S 150,474 253,168
818,881 689,437

(@ The analysis of carrying value of land held for

@ FHYFRFRLHWZERE

property development for sale is as follows: DT
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF
$'000 $'000
T T
Outside Hong Kong & B LAS
— Less than 50 years — VPRE+F 110,455 120,460
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16 PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued) 16 MEBRRE(EZ)

(b) The analysis of the amount of properties b) MEZZHEEHERRILEK
recognised as an expense and included in “cost ERREREERRRANKRA
of revenue” in the consolidated statement of AR (BT sE27) DT anT
profit or loss (note 27) is as follows:

2020 2019
e —TNF
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
Carrying amount of properties EEMERZEEE
sold 117,371 103,573
17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS 17 BERBITENR
(@ Cash and cash equivalents comprise: @ BHeRBELEEYEE:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
Cash at bank and in hand RITFERKBA® 264,042 172,451
Time deposits F HTFE K —_ 51,579
Cash and bank deposits in the RiFEBRERERZ
consolidated cash flow statement IR & MIR1TTE XX 264,042 224,030
Restricted deposits (note) = BR il 77 3k (B 5E) 33,440 —
Cash and bank deposits in the Riza B RAEzZ
consolidated statement of REe RIRITHER
financial position 297,482 224,030

Note: The balance represents pre-sale proceeds to secure
the future payments of the Group’s properties
development projects. Such restricted deposits will
be released for the payments for construction costs
of the related property development projects or
upon completion of the construction.

M EHRRBENEZMER
HARBERR XN AEEY
XBRER - ZEXREIF
RETARINBEBDER
B2 EEKARRKTIREFIA
AR o
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17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued) 17 BERBITERGE)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b BMETEFELE2EERAD
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRAFMEBEREREED
liabilities from financing activities, including both BEED BRASRIER
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising TEY METHELZE
from financing activities are liabilities for which BEREBESENBEIRRE
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EAEEGERERERP
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow BEARETIMELRS
statement as cash flows from financing activities. MEZEIE -

232

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
(Note 22) (Note 23)
ROTEE HERE CE
(M &E22) (M &£23)
$000 $000 $000
Fr Fr Fr
At 1 April 2019 “Z-NLEMA-H 620,342 7,703 628,045
Changes from financing cash flows: BERLTRBZEH:
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ~ ¥TIR1T1&E 2 FTiE 473,162 - 473,162
Repayment of bank borrowings ERRTEE (135,480) — (135,480)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ BIHEM S 2
BXRES — (3,206) (3,206)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ ERNHERE 2
M & & D — (215) (215)
Interest paid ERH S (49,493) — (49,493)
Total changes from financing REHEREZ
Sashflows 2oRE 288,189 | @421 284,768
Exchange adjustments RARE (6,387) (453) (6,840)
Other changes: Hit 25
Increase in lease liabilities due to HiER 2
modification MEBEEM — 621 621
Interest expenses (note 29) IS 3 (BT 5529) 24,643 215 24,858
Capitalised borrowing costs ERBERA
(note 29) (Pt 7E29) 24,850 — 24,850
Total other changes HinE2HEE 49,493 836 50,329
At 31 March 2020 —B-E%F
=A=1+-H 951,637 4,665 956,302
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(b)

17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued) 17 BEeRBITERE)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b MEITBHFAELEZEGERAD
financing activities (continued) (&)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
(Note 22) (Note 23)
BITEE HEEE A
(B 5E22) (Bt &E23)
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T Tr
At 1 April 2018 “E-\EWA—-H 625,902 — 625,902
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREREZ 2
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ~ #T#{TEE 2 FT5H 322,342 — 322,342
Repayment of bank borrowings BRENTEE (327,902) — (327,902)
Interest paid ERFE (37,094) — (37,094)
Total changes from financing RMERTREZ
Ccashflows kged #2,654) - — (42,654)
Other changes: Hit# 5.
Interest expenses (note 29) I8 3 (BT 5529) 19,187 — 19,187
Capitalised borrowing costs EXEERA
(note 29) (Bt £29) 17,907 — 17,907
Total other changes Et &8 @E 37,094 — 37,094
At 31 March 2019 “E-RF
ZA=t+-H 620,342 — 620,342
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17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued) 17 BERBITERGE)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b METEBFELE-EERAMD
financing activities (continued) (%)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using Misr: AEEBEERERLETE
the modified retrospective approach and adjusted WENEREEUBRS
the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise EREI6F W AB_Z—N

right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. Previously, cash payments
under operating leases made by the Group as a
lessee of $6,671,000 were classified as operating
activities in the consolidated cash flow statement.
Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease
payments, payments for leases of low value assets
and variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities, all other rentals

FP0A— BE YA R ARER
ERERES B S ERE
VREEAKEHEMRAE
ZERAREEREEARE -

SoRl AEEEAEAEA
ZIEEHRETZRENR A
6,671,0007T * E R AR
EREBRNI AKETEE -

m%%%%%&iﬁw

165% « B TsFAEBER

paid on leases are now split into capital element EVEBEEEHENK
and interest element and classified as financing Sh FREHMEEES ZH
cash outflows. Under the modified retrospective FTBEB D RERE D RF L
approach, the comparative information is not Moy XD BERBERTR
restated. Further details on the impact of the b RIBZEERTBME -
transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 2(c). LB ER L EED - FE

BEPB RS ER F165%
HBRBPEEFERME

2(c) °
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c0 HMERSAREHAEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for BEERERERAZEESEN
leases comprise the following: Tt :
2020 2019
(Note)
—E-EHE —E-NF
(B 35)
$/000 $°000
T T
Within operating cash flows REEXRBEREIRE
Z A 3,848 6,671
Within financing cash flows RREREREZNA 3,421 —
7,269 6,671
The amounts solely relate to the lease rental paid ZeHEERAEEONEE
during the year. HeHR#A -
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17 BEeERBITERGE)
(c MHMERESHRHBAEE)

17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (continued)

Note: As explained in the note to note 17(b), the adoption B &L 4N B RE17(b) 2 B RE AT A -
of HKFRS 16 introduces a change in classification RMEBEEHBHRESLEE
of cash flows of certain rentals paid on leases. The e E FENEEMES
comparative amounts have not been restated. ZHReREERETEE -

bR ELEED -
18 SHARE CAPITAL 18 R
2020 2019
e “ENF
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value  of shares value
KRG #E HE BRHHEA H{E
000 $000 ‘000 $'000
Tr Tr T T
Authorised: EERA:
Ordinary shares of tAREkEE
HK10 cents each 10781l 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHMZRE:
Ordinary shares of LRREkEE
HK10 cents each: 10781l :
Beginning of the year F10 1,991,834 199,183 1,994,556 199,456
Issuance of shares under BRETET
share option schemes BTk 2,720 272 1,390 139
Cancellation of shares it S A 1 (714) (71) (4,112) (412)
End of the year EIE 1,993,840 199,384 1,991,834 199,183

(@ During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Company has cancelled 714,000 shares of the
Company, all of which were repurchased after 1
April 2019.

@ BHE—Z-_ZTF=-ZA=+-—
HIEFEA  ARAEFTHE
714,000/ XA B & 1D+ FT A
BHHR-_ZT—hFmA—H
& [E 8 -
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18 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 18 KA (&)

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the by BE-_Z-_ZTE=A=+—H
Company repurchased its own shares on Stock IEFEAR - RRF LR FrE
Exchange as follows: BaAkOWT:

Number Highest Lowest
of shares  price paid  price paid  Aggregate
repurchased  per share  per share amount

Month/Year £/8 BER ®KREf BREA
$#8 EEEK REER asE
$ $ $'000
T T T
June 2019 “E-NEFRA 622,000 1.14 1.1 697
August 2019 —Z-NFEN\A 92,000 1.07 1.06 98
714,000 795

236

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings
of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, share
option have been exercised to subscribe for
2,720,000 ordinary shares (31 March 2019:
1,390,000) in the Company at a consideration
of $1,904,000 (31 March 2019: $973,000) of
which $272,000 (31 March 2019: $139,000)
was credited to share capital and the balance
of $1,632,000 (31 March 2019: $834,000) was
credited to the share premium. $708,000 (31
March 2019: $363,000) has been transferred
from share-based compensation reserve to the
share premium in accordance with policy set out
in note 2(u).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

ERRBAEAERED I RE
EZBE - YFEBEARARFMK
RRELBR—ZEZRERE -
PIER=F N PN W N/NCTEZ I N
BEMSZARFMHA -

BE_T-_ZTF=HA=1+—
HIEFERN - BREDET
& LA {E1,904,000T (==
— J1 % :973,0007T) R B K
A 812,720,0000% & @B (=
T — N F :1,390,0000%) « H
F272,000L (= T — )1 F:
139,0007t) B & A & A<
£k ®81,632,000C(=Z & — N
£ :834,0007T) B &t A &R 9
i B o AR & MY 5E2(u) BT X
% 708,000L (ZE—F :
363,0007T) EHUARHGO T2
e RFHEERERORE -
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on
24 August 2012 (the “Scheme”) under which it may
grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive directors of the Company) and other third
parties to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value
of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued on the exercise of options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s board of
directors and shall at least be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant of the options, and (ii) an average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options.

On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000 share
options (the “2014 Share Options”) were granted to
certain qualified participants of the Group (including
an executive director of the Company) under the
Scheme. The 2014 Share Options entitle the grantees
to subscribe for a total of 18,000,000 new shares
of $0.10 each in the share capital of the Company.
Depending on the financial performance of the Group
and other conditions of the 2014 Share Options, not
more than 50% of the 2014 Share Options will be
vested on 1 August 2015 and not more than 50% of
the 2014 Share Options will be vested on 1 August
2017. The exercise price of the 2014 Share Options
is $0.419 per share, which represents the highest of
(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
of $0.405 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.419 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company of $0.10 per share. All the 2014 Share
Options were accepted by the grantees.

19

- g
ARABIR—_ZE——FENA=-+WMA
KA—IEERERE - JRILEAR
EBZEEBEARBZHNITE
B)RF-EREERENERE
KRR Z&H - EHERZUAARRQF D
REeBTRAEECRERTE
BAREMEITZRM)30% AR -
ZEBRETEESBARRIZE
EEET  LNORRFRHONER
BRTHZWHE: RHEEET
BRERABRZZBARRRMD
ZFHWHE -

—E-WENA+—BXHA
18,000,000 B Ix#E ([ —Z — U8
BRENDEETAEBEETEERZ
SEE(BERNRRZHITES) -
“E-EREETERAREE
IREEA010TT 2 RA 2 A A £
18,000,000 %A% ° 1R & B B 75 3
BN EM T —OERERG - T
FBiE50% 2 — T — B REZR =
T-RFNA—HHEEBE kT
B50% 2 —FE—UEREFN T
—tFNA—BRES - —FT WM
BRETEERETR0419T - N
HWARRBIRHONBERER TH 2K
MEFRKR405T: (N EEXTE
KREBMARIXSEARRRRMDZ
FH U T E S KK0.4197T ¢ K (iii) A&
RARMH 2 BREEIOL =&
MBSERE  -FIBE-_T—MER
EREAARAER -
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
under the Scheme. The 2016 Share Options entitle
the grantees to subscribe for a total of 24,700,000
new shares of $0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company. The exercise price of the 2016 Share
Options is $0.70 per share, which represents the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.70 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company of $0.656 per share as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
proceeding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company of $0.10 per share.
All the 2016 Share Options were accepted by the
grantees.

(@) The terms and conditions of the Share Options
are as follows:

19

BREGE)
—E—ARFtAZtHEHEHARRH
524,700,000f7 R E (= — <
BEhENDERTAEEETEE
B2 EEBREARAZIHITE
B T NERERTEEA
RESHREEA010TZAE 2K
KA #£24,700,0007T i - —F — <
BRETEEASTRRO0.70TT + LAG)
AARBHRERERTFEZKT
BEEAR0.707T : (N BHEE TR E
HATEER S8 ARR KRG ZFH
Uz (B & A% 0.6567T ¢ M (iii) &K 2 &
Bz EREE0ION » =&MU
SEAE AT NEBRER
AR AR -

@ BB R R AR

Exercise
price per  Number
share of options Vesting condition Expiry date
BR BRRE
TRER #E BT &M HARH
Options granted to ~ BRERTFEE:
directors:
—on 11 August 2014 — RZZ—MF $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
NA+—8 5,000,000 options will
vest on T August 2015*
N %145,000,00017 —TomE
BRESN-_Z-1F NAt+H
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19 BREE)

19 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(@) The terms and conditions of the Share Options

@) B ZERRESET:

are as follows: (continued) (#&
Exercise
price per  Number
share of options Vesting condition Expiry date
5R Bk#
TRER #EB BT &# HHRE
Options granted to ~ BRERFES:
directors: (continued) (%)
—on 11 August 2014 — RZZT -4 $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
NA+—R 5,000,000 options will
vest on T August 2017*
T %1#5,000,0003 —TolF
BREBR-_Z—+F NA+H
NA—BHE
—on 27 October 2016 — RZZE—F $0.70 3,150,000  Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
+A=t++HA
R-F—LF “EoRE
tRA—REE +A=+7"H
—on 27 October 2016 — R — R F $0.70 3,150,000  Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October 2026
+A=++H
RZB-N\%& “EIRF
tRA—REE +A=+7"H
—on 27 October 2016 — RZF—R5F $0.70 4,200,000  Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October 2026

+A=++H

RZE—N%F
+ BB

TECRE

+A=+xA
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19 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 19 BREE)
(a) The terms and conditions of the Share Options (@) BEAHE ZIER R HT
are as follows: (continued) (%)
Exercise

price per  Number
share of options Vesting condition Expiry date
s8R BRE

TEER A il s HHAH

Options granted to ~ BRERFET:
employees:

—on 11 August 2014 — RZZ—MF $0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 2015 10 August 2024

NA+—8
—Bf —E-mE
NA—REE NA+H
—on 11 August 2014 — RZZT -5 $0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 2017 10 August 2024
NA+—H
)\ ﬁ H5E AN ﬂ T8
—on 27 October 2016 — RZT—R4F $0.70 4,260,000  Vestingon 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
+ﬂ_+tﬁ
RZF—tF “EIRE
tRA—-HEE +RAZ+XAH
—on 27 October 2016 — RZZ =4 $0.70 4,260,000  Vestingon 1July 2018 26 October 2026
TA-t+tH

R-ZE—N\F “E-RE
+A—HEGE +A=+H

— on 27 October 2016 — RZZ — X5 $0.70 5,680,000  Vestingon 1 July 2019 26 October 2026
TAZt+tH

RZE-NF “EIRF

tA-REE TAZ+RA

Total number of share & R4 42 &

options 42,700,000
*  The vesting of the Share Options granted to an * MARBRITEER T2 BIE
executive director of the Company is subject to the BEDNARAEE ZEERA
performance of the Group and other conditions. AR 1 o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

19 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 19 BREGE)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise (b) BB L MEFHITE
prices of share options are as follows: BT
2020 2019
—2-%F “FN0F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
g B BRE E¥H B B 1
THE B TEE #1H
000 ‘000
F T
Outstanding at the beginning NG
of the year AT $0.57 33,920 $0.58 35,730
Exercised during the year NERTE $0.70 (2,720) $0.70 (1,390)
Lapsed during the year RERXHY - — $0.70 (420)
Outstanding at the end of the year RER R ARITHE $0.56 31,200 $0.57 33,920
Exercisable at the end of the year R FEA{T{E $0.56 31,200 $0.52 24,440

The Share Options outstanding as of 31 March
2020 had an exercise price of $0.419 or $0.70
(2019: $0.419 or $0.70) per share and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 5.48
years (2019: 6.57 years). No share options have
lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2020.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, 420,000
share options have lapsed. The value of vested
options which lapsed during the year ended 31
March 2019 was amounting to $59,000 and was
released directly to retained earnings.

W_ZE-_ZTF=—A=+—H"  #
RITFECERBEZOTFEERE
A%0.4197T 80.707T (Z & — L F -
0.4197C3k0.707T) & hn#E F 517
BRFH548F (ZE—NF :6.57
F)e HE-_E-_TF=A=1+—H
IEFEAR - BERERR - BHEZ
T-NEF=ZA=+—BLEFER -
B420,0000 EARER S - B EZ
T-NEF=ZA=+—BLEFERXKX
M BB R E 2 EE A59,000
T WEEFAREBRN -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
19 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

242

(0

Fair value of the Share Options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference
to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the 2014 Share
Options and 2016 Share Options granted was
measured based on the Trinomial Model, after
taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were granted.
The contractual life of the share option and
expectations of early exercise were incorporated
into the Trinomial Model.
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation
model are as follows:

The significant

Fair value of and assumptions for 2014 share
options

Fair value at measurement date $0.176 to

$0.194
Share price $0.405
Exercise price $0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Expected volatility 52.84%
Expected dividend yield 2.47%
Expected exercise multiple 2.2t02.8

Fair value of and assumptions for 2016 share
options

Fair value at measurement date $0.239 to

$0.271
Share price $0.70
Exercise $0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Expected volatility 51.27%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 1.8 to 4.0

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

19

BrEE)

(o)

BREZAFEREBRE
FTUR 2| B R & X B i 4 2
Rz AFETZRBETEH
BREZAFETE IR
BT -—MERER T —
BEREZ AFEGBITRITK
ZEBREBRUARE ZER
RAGH#BIE =B ER G
E-BREZANFHRIE
B zEHEMA =R

BRR - HEEBXAERZ
EDNCEIE ¢ 3 U

—E-NBEREAFERME
B R 5%

REtE2HZAFE $0.176ZE
$0.194
miZEE $0.405
ITRER $0.419
2 3 b R = 1.97%
T8 HA R 1R 52.84%
TEEIRR B g X 2.47%
T8 HR 1T {8 & &K 22%F2.8
—E-AEREATEKME
R
REtEEZAFE $0.239%
$0.271
misEE $0.70
ITEER $0.70
e R 1.00%
TE H K 1R 51.27%
TEHI AR B M e & 5.00%
TEHTEEE 1.8%24.0
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

19 BREE)

19 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(o)

(d)

Fair value of the Share Options and assumptions
(continued)

Risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of
the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes at the
grant date. Expected volatility is based on the
historical volatility (calculated based on the
weighted average remaining life of the share
options). Expected dividend vyield is based on
historical dividend trend of the Company and
expected future dividend policy determined by
management.

The vesting of the share options granted are
subject to the performance of the Group and
other conditions. Such non-market conditions
have not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the share options.
There are no market conditions associated with

the share options granted.

The Trinomial Model is subject to certain
fundamental limitations because of the subjective
nature of and uncertainty relating to the
assumptions and inputs to the model as well as
certain inherent limitations of the model itself.
Any changes in the above assumptions or inputs
may materially affect the fair value estimation.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2020 in respect of the
Share Options is $230,000 (2019: $1,186,000)
(note 28(a)).

(o)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % %R

BREZAFERMEBRR
(f‘%)

@ N R BREEBIMNE
ﬁéfﬁ%ﬂﬂxﬁﬁzl&/\“
T8 ET R 18 2 AR 1% B S2 R iR (AR
15 P A 4 2 D #E T 2 R £5 H
REFE) - BHIREXZER
DA Z B BE DR & E
JEFRAF R KA BBUR ©

BEzBRiEZFBIORR
AEBZEGEREMEMN -

SIS IR EZBRER
HBE®AZEDQFEZE
BE-RELAHERNERE
HEzTSEEAHRS2E -

AR AR R LR AR -
REBsHEBREHERR
BB EENS - ARETE
ﬁﬁf¢%2%lﬁl‘_ﬂi Fit R
jz%ﬂfﬁﬁffﬂﬁ”tT%%T
REERBFELEEATE

HE-_Z-_TF=A=+—H
IFFE RIBREERAZEH
R ERE R A230,0007T (=
T — N4 1 1,186,00070 ) (Fff 7%
28(a)) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA ARSI - LAEITTHIR)

20 OTHER RESERVES 20 Hfthf#fe
(@ Group @ F%KHE
Other reserves
AfRR
Other
financial
Capital ~ Share-based assets
Share  Treasury Capital Merger  redemption  compensation ~ revaluation  Translation Retained
premium share reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total  earnings
Hped

EXRE NRfxftz  #E2
BtER  ERR  EARE  AHERE BE  BeBE EfEE  BEER g% REEA
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 000 $000 §000 §000 §000
i 7 T T T i tn 1 1 i

Balance at 1 April 2018 ~F-N\%

BA-BZ&& 278975 - 2608 BBO0D) 1270 6415 W6 3503 W59 701307
Profitfor the year ERAH - - - - - - - - - 1138
Remeasurement of RORKLER
provision for long EL b
service payments (F3E2s(b)
(note 25(b)) - - - - - _ _ _ _ i
Dividends paid in respect  TEEE RS
of the previous year - - - - - - - - = (14555
Dividends paid in respect  AFFE RS
of current year — — — — — — — — — (59,755)
Currency translation FHaEER
differences - - - - - - - (35,677)  (35,677) -
Equity settled share-based WG % 225
fransactions (Br3E19(@)
(note 19(d)) — - - - - 1,186 — — 1,186 —
Fair value gains on other At 4 #EEATE
financial assets L ¢} - - - - - - 1 - 2 -
Cancellation of shares 5% (3
(note 2000 & )~ (FFEE20(ci)
Rliv) - 4,400 - - 4 - - - 4812 (4,400)
Issuance of shareupon T REREE
exercise of share BB
options (note 18(c) (R1800) 1,197 - - - - 363) - - 834 -
Release upon lapse of X HERE
share options (Bizt19(b)
(note 19(b) - — - - - (59) - - (59) 59
Repurchase of shares B} (3
(note 20(c)(iil)&(iv)) (B sE2006)
(iv) - (4,400) - - - - - - (4,400) -
Balance at ZE-nE
31 March 2019 ZR=t-82
33 260,172 - 2608 BBO00) 1,682 7179 29 Wo 42T 713460
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BRI - LAETTHIR)

20 OTHER RESERVES (continued) 20 Hftf#E (&)
(@) Group (continued) @ X&EBE(E)
Other reserves
BfhRe
Other
financial
Capital ~ Share-based assels
Share  Treasury Capital Merger  redemption ~ compensation ~revaluation  Translation Retained
premium share  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve Total  earnings
HiteR

URERH2  RE2
ROER  BER AAER  AGG RANBHE  NARE  EGHE  ANER &% GEER
§000 §000 §000 §/000 §/000 §000 §000 §/000 §000 §000
i . s

Balanceat 1 April 2019 =B-1 %

MA-BZz&4H 280,172 - 2608 (38,000 1,682 7179 290 286 254217 713,460

Profit for the year EREA - - - - - - - - — 250,266
Remeasurement of RERKERE

provision for long B8

service payments (F3E25(b)

(note 25(b)) - - - - - - - - - (569)
Dividends paid in respect  FFEEEHE

of the previous year - - - - - - - - - (99,69)
Dividends paid in respect  FEEEERS

of current year — — — — - - — — — (79,754)
Currency translation FHaEER

differences - - - - - - - (62,629)  (62,629) -
Equity settled share-based BB X2 X%

transactions (note (RrsE19(d)

19(d) - - - - - 230 - - 230 -
Fair value losses on other  EHEBAERTE

financial assets A1 - - - - - - (121 - (121 -

Cancellation of shares 5 1k (3
(note 20(c)i) & (iv) (P& 200

Riv) - 795 - - 7l - - - 866 (795)
Issuance of shareupon TR ERER
exercise of share Bk
options (note 18(c) (H318(0) 2340 - - - - (708) - - 1,632 -
Repurchase of shares BT 15 (52000
(note 20(ci) i) - (793) - - - - - - (79] -

Balance at 31 March ZECEE
2020 ZAEt-Az
£h 282,512 - 2,608 (36,000) 1,753 6,701 169 (62,343) 193,400 782,916
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B BN - LA TTHIR)
20 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

246

20 HfFEEE)

Company (b) AAF
Other reserves
AR
Other
Capital Share-based financial assets
redemption  Contributed ~ compensation ~revaluation Retained
Share premium  Treasury share reserve surplus reserve reserve Total earnings
NRfXRz BtEREE
Rtvif EER  AHERE ARRERE  HeHR  ZEGER 8% REEA
§1000 §/000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §/000
i i tn T i T n T
Balance at 1 April 2018 ZE-NE
BA-Azé8 278975 - 1,270 193,185 0,415 288 460,133 240,734
Profitfor the year R - - - - - - - 184,884
Remeasurement of provision for ~ KR 2EE
long service payments EEHES - - - - - - - (21)
Dividend paid in respect of e~ FFEERHE
previous year — — — — — — — (145,552)
Dividend paid inrespectof ~ AFFEERE
current year — — — - — - — (59,755)
Equity setted share-based HRARN 225
transactions (note 19(d) (3 191d) - - - - 1,186 - 1,186 -
Fair value gains on other ApeREEATEY
financial assets s - - - - - 2 2 -
Repurchase of shares AERG
(note 201 (32000 - (4400 - - - - (4,400 -
Cancellation of shares FERR
(note 20/c/iiv) (3£ 20(0i) R ) - 4,400 41 - - - 4412 (4,400)
Issuance of share upon exercise  {T% EREEETRA
of share options note 18(c) ~~ (H5£181c) 1,197 - - - (363) - 834 -
Release upon lapse of share R X HERE
aptions (note 19(b) (M9 - - - - (39) - 39) 59
Balance at 31 March 2019 ZE-NE
ZRZt-BrER 280,172 - 1,662 193,185 7,179 29 482,508 215,949
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx B AASN  LAETTHIR)

OTHER RESERVES (continued) 20 Eﬂﬂﬁﬁ 1% (%)
Company (continued) (b) T (4#E)
Other reserves
bRk
Other
Capital Share-based financial assets
redemption  Contributed ~ compensation  revaluation Retained
Share premium  Treasury share reserve surplus reserve reserve Total earnings
WRfixfz EHSHEE
Riia ERR AliEE ERRERE Bedf CEREE a4 REEA
§/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §000 §/000
T T T 7 T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2019 It ik
BA-Rzé8 280,172 — 1,682 193,185 7179 290 462,508 215,949
Profitfor the year EEET - - - - - - - 2003
Remeasurement of provision for ~ KR 2 EE
long service paymens EEHES - - - - - - - ‘)
Dividend paid in respect of e~ FFEERHE
previous year - - - - - - - 99,692
Dividend paid inrespectof ~ AEFEERE
current year — — — — — - — (79,754)
Equity setted share-based HRARN 225
transactions (note 19(d) (H3E19d) - - - - 20 - 230 -
Fair value losses on other EpeREEATEY
financial assets E# - — - - - (1) (121 -
Repurchase of shares ARG
(note 20(ci) (32000 - (795) - - - - (795) -
Cancellation of shares FERR
(note 2000 &(iv) (3£ 20(0i) R ) - 7% 71 - - - 866 (79)
Issuance of share upon exercise {1 EREEETRA
of share options note 18(c) ~~ (F15£181c) 2340 - - - (708) - 1,632 -
Balanceat 31 March 200 Z%Z%E
ZAZT-RER W51 - 1753 193,185 6,701 169 484320 255,690
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)
20 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

248

(b)

(9]

Company (continued)

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if
(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $448,875,000
(2019: $409,134,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK5.0 cents per ordinary
share (2019: final dividend of HK5.0 cents per
ordinary share), amounting to $99,692,000 (2019:
$99,592,000) (note 32(a)). This dividend has not
been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of entities outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(y).

(i) Other financial assets revaluation reserve

The other financial assets revaluation

reserve comprises the cumulative net

change in the fair value of other financial

assets held at the end of the reporting

period and is dealt with in accordance with

the accounting policies set out in note 2(g).
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TL(ZZF — N9 : 409,134,000
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

20 EHibfEE(E)

20 OTHER RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iii) Treasury share

(iv)

The Group repurchased a total of 714,000
(2019: 4,112,000) of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31 March 2020. The
total consideration paid to repurchase these
shares was $795,000 (2019: $4,400,000),
which has been deducted from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.
During the year ended 31 March 2020,
714,000 shares (2019: 4,112,000) were
cancelled. Accordingly, the premium of
$795,000 (2019: $4,400,000) paid on
the repurchase of shares was charged to
retained earnings.

Capital redemption reserve

Upon cancellation of 714,000 shares (2019:
4,112,000), an amount equivalent to the par
value of the shares cancelled of $71,000
(2019: $412,000) was transferred from share
capital to the capital redemption reserve.

© REZIEERENE)

(iii)

(iv)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 #F $§

EFR

HE-_ZTZ-_ZTF=A
=+—HLEFER K
& B # @ #714,0008%
ARl ZZE—Hh
& 4,112,0000%) ° A& [0
BzBROHBINRESR
795,0007C (ZF— .4 -
4,400,0007T) + #ZFIBE
WARRDNE R EGER
Rk - HE-_T-TF
—A=+—HILFERA
714,000/ 7 (Z & — L
& 4,112,000/%) B 1 5+
e Bt AREERNG
i1 52 15 2 & &795,0007T
—Z— L9 : 4,400,000
TTERREB BRI T o

BB E G E

B 5F $5714,0000% 19 (=
T — JL4F : 4,112,0000%)
% HEREFHERKMD
E{E71,000T(ZF — N
F 1 412,00070) 2 &£ FBE

NN R Nl
fi& 8 e
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA TTHITR)

21 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 21 BESRERMNAERER B EARHEME
PAYABLES 4 BR X
2020 2019
—E-®F —TNF
$/000 $'000
Fr T
Trade payables  HESEMER 288987 155469
Accruals for rental expenses st 2 9,730 13,587
Accruals for purchase of property, EABEME -
plant and equipment T 55 K 5% 4 22,798 22,740
Salaries and staff welfare payable EN#FeREIREHN 156,905 169,759
Accruals for properties under EAAEZYE
development 41,154 26,884
Other payables and accruals H th & A BR 3 &
st EH 103,086 88,327
Receipts in advance (see note (a) YRR (R T
below) B 5 (@) 158,548 115,854
492,221 437,151
781,208 592,620
The carrying amounts of trade payables, accruals and EHREMNER Bt ER K HME

NERZERESRRNFEMRLT -
RZE_EFR_ZT—HLFE=A
=+ HZFEBEESEMNERNE
AERBEHR —FARNBN -

other payables approximate their fair values. All trade
payables and accruals as at 31 March 2020 and 2019
are expected to be settled within one year.

BHRNEREEZARAEZR

Trade payables ageing analysis, based on invoice date,

is as follows: BT :
2020 2019
—E-®F —TNF
$000 $'000
Fx T
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 220,453 154,666
91 to 180 days 91£180H 67,198 692
181 to 360 days 181£360H 695 90
Over 360 days 360H LA E 641 21
288,987 155,469
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

21 BZEMENR BAEARHEME

21 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES (continued)

(@)

Receipts in advance

The balance represents the excess of cumulative

made by customers over the cumulative revenue

recognised in profit or loss at the end of the

reporting period, and are recognised as contract
liabilities (see note 2(p)).

Typical payment terms which impact on the

amount of contract liabilities recognised are as

follows:

Manufacturing segment

When the Group receives a deposit before
the production activity commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start
of a contract, until the revenue recongised
on the project exceeds the amount of the
deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated
on a case by case basis with customers.

Property development

The Group receives receipts in advance
from customers when they sign the sale
and purchase agreement. These receipts
in advance are recognised as contract
liabilities until the properties are accepted
by customers.

TR (&)

(@)
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EAEBELERDH
AR EIR £ E
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA ARSI - LAEITTHIR)
TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 21

21

252

(@)

BEZRNERNR  EBAERARAEME

PAYABLES (continued) FTERR(Z)
Receipts in advance (continued) @ FEWRERRKE)
Movements in contract liabilities: ERNEEZEY:
2020 2019
$’000 $'000
T F T
Beginning of the year £ 115,854 65,411
Decrease in contract liabilities RERNERETA
as a result of recognising HINEHNEBEZ
revenue during the year that HRIWAEE
was included in the contract ERNEERD
liabilities at the beginning of the
period (92,718) (43,126)
Increase in contract liabilities as U HY J8 1< BR FR & £
a result of receiving receipts in BHAEE N
advances 139,152 96,359
Exchange difference HiER (3,740) (2,790)
End of the year FIE 158,548 115,854

All contact liabilities are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts
for manufacturing products and properties
development such that information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
that had an original expected duration of one
year or less need not to be disclosed.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7
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22 BANK BORROWINGS

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

22 HMITEE

2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF
$’000 $000
Fr T
Portion of bank borrowings repayable —F REE W 5 18
within one year and classified as RRBEEZ
Current liabilities RITEEH®H 126800 66,588
Portion of bank borrowings repayable — & 1& 838 1 5 8
after one year and classified as RIERBEEZ
non-current liabilities RITIEE 2 &%
After 1 year but within 2 years 1HEEMERN 226,180 288,058
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBERSEFER 598,657 265,696
824,837 553,754
Total bank borrowings RITEERE 951,637 620,342
Representing: Ra&k:
Secured BHEH 420,387 239,442
Unsecured mE A 531,250 380,900
Total bank borrowings RITEEETE 951,637 620,342
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrSEBaHAAIN - LB TTIIR)

22

254

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, banking facilities of
$499,900,000 (2019: $558,600,000) were secured
by the property under development for sale of
HK$585,356,000 (2019: HK$385,464,000) and the
share capital of the two wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien) Limited
and R R EHEREAR R A A, such facilities
were utilised to extent of $420,387,000 as at 31 March
2020 (2019: $239,442,000).

At 31 March 2020, borrowings totaling $126,800,000
(2019: $66,588,000) have a contractual maturity
within one year or are subject to repayment on
demand clauses. Some of the Group’s banking
facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s statement of financial
position ratios. If the Group were to breach the
covenants the drawn down facilities would become
payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors
its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 March
2020 and 2019 none of the covenants relating to
drawn down facilities had been breached.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings
approximate their fair values.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

23 HMEAEE

LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of
the current and previous reporting periods and at the

AEERGEEENBEER LM
BREEREIRERZEHERR
BTIEOHRAT

date of transition to HKFRS 16:

31 March 2020

1 April 2019 (Note)

31 March 2019 (Note)

R=B-%F RZZ-NF RZZ-NF
=ZA=t-H mA—B(Mz=) =ZA=t+—-B(HF)
Present Present Present
value of Total  value of value of
the lease lease  the lease Total lease  the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments payments —payments
REHE RERE REHE
ey BEHEE Mery ZEHE Her REHE
BE He8E RE Hepw HE He#s
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr i Tr Fr Fr Fr
Within Tyear — 1®m 3244 3363 3512 3587 - -
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FEBEMNER 1,421 1,439 3,021 3,174 — —
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ 2FEERSER - — 1,160 1,256 — —
1,421 1,439 4,181 4,430 — —
4,665 4,802 7,703 8,017 — —
Less: total future interest expenses & R RF| S F < B8 (137) (314) -
Present value of lease liabilities HERBELRE 4,665 7,703 —
Note: The company has initially applied HKFRS 16 using Mizt: REBEHERRBEETEBNE

the modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. These
liabilities have been aggregated with the brought
forward balances relating to leases previously classified
as finance leases. Comparative information as at 31
March 2019 has not been restated and relates solely to
leases previously classified as finance leases. Further
details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are
set out in note 2(c).

LAFE FA & 78 B 7% 5 2RI 381655
VHAE-Z-—NFHA—BHY
EHUEREMNCRERTSS
FFERIEI7E B EAKEHEMR
MrHEAB SLaEDHEE
AREANERE AEREY
EERBEAT HEZZT—NF
A=+ HZHRENTES
P EHEERBEAREREY
HERH FHEESVHRELE
A6 RENEEATERNW
FT2(c) °
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24 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 24 REEMEBERREPHE
FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation (@ AHEABIE
2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
$'000 $'000
T F T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits ~ FE & & 131 2
Tax for the year A 20,461 15,622
Provisional Hong Kong Profits ENEHEE
Tax paid 15T (13,501) (18,771)
6,960 (3,149)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax LA A & & /& F 15 171
provision relating to prior years B BB 1,753 4,880
Provision for PRC taxes PRS2 1 79,801 70,243
88,514 71,974
Current tax recoverable 75 HA AT Uk (B A IE (54) (632)
Current tax payable N HA FE < 7 1R 88,568 72,606
88,514 71,974
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

24 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 24 RESHBRRRFBIE(E)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred taxation (b) EFEFIE

Fair value

gain of

Accelerated  investment
depreciation  properties Others Total

RENE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEHE MEFE DYEZUE Hit A
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr T T Fr
At1 April 2018 ZZ2-\ENA-AH 3,583 2,570 — 6,153
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss ~ M8 (5T A),/ X # (936) 224 4414 3,702
Exchange difference RBEE — (144) — (144)

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 ZB-AE=R=1+-HRK

“E-nEMA-A 2,647 2,650 4,414 9,711

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss R 8 %8,/ (;FA) 1,544 (591) 4,067 5,020

Exchange difference RBER — (164) — (164)

At 31 March 2020 ZE-EFEZR=+-H 4191 1,895 8,481 14,567

Tax losses Others Total

Deferred tax assets EEHBEEE WEER Hft a4

$'000 $'000 $'000

T T Fr

At 1 April 2018 ZE-\¥BA-A (3,658) (5,879) (9,537)

Credited to profit or loss RERA (1,183) (319) (1,502)
At 31 March 2019 and ZE-NE=A=1t-BK

1 April 2019 “E-AEMA-A (4,841) (6,198) (11,039)

Credited to profit or loss REBERFTA (2,568) (2,121) (4,689)

At 31 March 2020 ZE”EE=R=1-H (7,409) (8,319) (15,728)
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24 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

258

(b)

Deferred taxation (continued)
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to set

24 R&ZE

(b)

BRI R AP BLIE(E)

EERIEE)
=B R TE RN A R AR IR
BEREERABEEN -

off and when the deferred income taxes relate to i 4% XE T 15 808 K [R] — B 7%
the same tax jurisdiction. The following amounts, R AR EERIEE E
determined after appropriate offsetting, are Eﬁi BRLEMEBBEIHEEHE -
shown in the consolidated statement of financial S :#J\L?-?Tfﬁfﬁ % T3 &%
position: MR B RR KA
2020 2019
— = —iﬂz —j‘LfE
$’000 $'000
Fx Tt
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBEEE (5,291) (5,001)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBEEE 4,130 3,673
(1,161) (1,328)

At 31 March 2020, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(v), the
Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets of
approximately $18,423,000 (2019: $16,957,000)
primarily representing the tax effect of
cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by
relevant tax authorities) which can be carried
forward against future taxable income, of which,
tax losses of $108,839,000 (2019: $102,770,000)

can be carried forward indefinitely.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrHEBaHAAIN - LABTTIIR)

25 RUKBANEME

25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(@

(b)

Defined contribution plans

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong
employees to join the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both
the Group’s and the employees’ mandatory
contributions are subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of $30,000 and thereafter,
contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group contributes to state-sponsored
retirement plans for its employees in the PRC.
The Group’s annual contributions to these plans
represent defined contributions, and the Group
has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service
payments

Provision for long service payments represents
the Group’s obligations for long service payments
to its employees in Hong Kong on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The obligation is calculated using the projected
unit credit method, discounted to its present
value and reduced by entitlements accrued under
the Group’s retirement plans that are attributable
to contributions made by the Group. Such long
service payment obligations are valued by BMI
Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified
actuary valuer.

(@

(b)
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25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

260

(b)

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service
payments (continued)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are determined as
follows:

25

RAKBREMEE)

(b) REBKBFE — REARK
ﬁ%ﬂ@
REZEMBRRRERZE

BN A EE

2020 2019
—EEHF —ET-NF
$’000 $'000
T F T
Present value of unfunded 5'%‘?%5%&25@@&
obligations and liability in RERE B MR R
the consolidated statement of Az B8fE
financial position 8,162 7,388

A portion of the above liability is expected to
be paid after more than one year. However, it
is not practicable to segregate this amount from
the amounts payable in the next twelve months,
as future contributions will also relate to future
services rendered and future changes in actuarial
assumptions and market conditions. The Group
expects to pay $nil in contributions to defined
benefit retirement plan for the year ending 31
March 2021 (2020: $nil).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

25 RABANEEE)

25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service
payments (continued)

(b)

i%%(ﬁ)

RERKBANE — REAK

The amounts recognised in the consolidated RiZgaBEan REM2EE A
statement of profit or loss and other RER BT :
comprehensive income are as follows:
2020 2019
—ERC%2H —E-NF
$000 $'000
T T
Current service cost 2N HA R 75 A AR 160 154
Interest on obligation BERNE 123 152
Total amounts recognised in RERDER
profit or loss B
(note 28(a)) (Pff 3£ 28(a)) 283 306
Net actuarial losses/(gains) N RETTRE N
recognised in other EHRAZBE
comprehensive income SFESE () 569 (415)
Total NI 852 (109)

The current service cost and the interest on
obligation were included in the “general and
administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

AERBRAREENEE

BRANGEBRRERT —

THERA -
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RAKBREMEE)

25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 25

(b)

262

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service

payments (continued)

Movements in the provision for long service

RERKBANTE — REAK

BwE(E)

AEERHRGSERHEED

payments of the Group are as follows: PN
2020 2019
—B-%F —TNF
$/000 $°000
T T
Beginning of the year F 1 7,388 7,718
Remeasurements: BEE:
— Actuarial gains arising from — BAABREKRMES
demographic assumptions ZRRE WS (1,634) (451)
— Actuarial losses arising — BB BRRSE T
from changes in financial EEZBEER
assumption 520 231
— Actuarial losses/(gains) arising — F 4% 5 5 % T &
from experience adjustment EZREEER
(Y 2) 1,683 (195)
569 (415)
Payments made during the year — F A Bt 5 (269) (484)
Refund received during the year & AU E iR 5k 191 263
Current service cost 2N HA AR 75 B AR 160 154
Interest cost BB A 123 152
End of the year FR 8,162 7,388

The weighted average duration of the defined

benefit obligation is 10.0 years (2019: 10.3 years).
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25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(b) Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service

payments (continued)

25 RABANEEE)
(b) REBKBAE — REAK
i%%(ﬁ)

Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity EREBRRILHREDN
analysis are as follows: ZZDT 1
2020 2019
et —E-hF
Per annum Per annum
s rs
Discount rate BRIR X 0.93% 1.66%
Expected rate of future salary RNIREF B 2
increases TEERE R X 2.00% 3.00%

The below analysis shows how the defined

R-FZZER-_FT-NF=A

benefit retirement plan — long service payments =t—H EERBEMBRKEM
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 would have /(R ) 0.50% ¥ 7 5E 18 7 iR
increased/(decreased) as a result of 0.50% Kita — KRR 2T E
change in the significant actuarial assumptions: DT
2020 2019
T_FHF —ET-NF
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in 0.50% in 0.50% in 0.50% in 0.50%
12 0 " D ¥ 0 L
0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50%
$’000 $’000 $000 $000
T T T T
Discount rate BRI X (389) 418 (361) 389
Expected rate of future NI E B 2
salary increases FEHE R X 20 (19) 16 (18)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the
assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions
are not correlated and therefore it does not
take into account the correlations between the

actuarial assumptions.

AEHRESMEZERKRE
NERERRZERALM

R HE - B UL B B K Ut 48
Bt o & -
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26 REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME/GAINS 26 WAREMBKA TR
2020 2019
—E-®F —TNF
$’000 $°000
T T
Revenue from contracts with ERMBHRELENE
customers within the scope of BREEREEF
HKFRS 15 ZEHEA
Sales of merchandise and provision of 7 & 88 & & 12 f#t IR 7%
services
— Metal and plastic business — hEeBRBER 1,632,236 1,348,230
— Electronic manufacturing services —— BFEFERILER
business 997,767 1,077,231
2,630,003 2,425,461
Sale of properties MEHE 272,205 225,708
2,902,208 2,651,169
Other net income/gains Hib A 08 8
Fixed rental income Bl £ 2 & WA 3,998 4,477
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWME BEK
plant and equipment w2 (ER)/
Y 28 (1,327) 293
Others EHAb 1,773 2,762
4,444 7,532

264

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to revenue such that the
above information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under

the contracts that had an original expected duration of

one year or less.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

27 EXPENSES BY NATURE 27 BMEIEZEH
2020 2019
(Note)
—EB-%F —TNF
(B 3E)
$000 $'000
T T
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFEZREE
(note 15(b)) (B 7£15(b)) 1,905,388 1,807,116
Carrying amount of properties sold EEVMXRZKREE
(note 16(b)) (Pt #E16(b)) 117,371 103,573
Depreciation and amortisation of ME - -BEERREZ
property, plant and equipment I & & # 3
(note 6) (Fft 3E6) 62,971 52,136
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEEZ#HH
(note 8) (Pff E8) 1,504 1,322
Employee benefit expenses EERANAX
(including directors’ remuneration) (BREEFEH)
(note 28(a)) (Bff 7£28()) 360,080 325,177
Total minimum lease payments for ERANEBU B ®ME
leases previously classified as HERIE17R DR
operating leases under HKAS 17 KEHE 2 &K
HEHS B — 6,671
Rental expenses of short-term leases S HIHER S 3,848 —
Net exchange gain ME 5, W 55 % 5 (6,814) (13,003)
Auditors’ remuneration % 8L R BN 3,844 3,616
Recognition of/(reversal of) loss EENES Y LT
allowance for trade and bills EBREEBEBER
receivable (note 13) (£ mE) (KT 5E13) 92 (692)
Other expenses H sz 75,227 57,846
2,523,511 2,343,762
Representing: K&
Cost of revenue N N 2,372,714 2,210,972
Distribution and selling expenses DHENEHEEH 30,668 24,918
General and administrative expenses ~ — & 1T E A 120,129 107,872
2,523,511 2,343,762
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27 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using

the modified retrospective approach and adjusted
the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
The depreciated carrying amount of the financial lease
assets which were previously included in property, plant
and equipment is also identified as a right-of-use assets.
After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 April
2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 2(c).

28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

266

(@

Employee benefit expenses during the year are
as follows:

27 BMEIEZBR(E)

Bisr: AEBECEIKBRETZEBH
EEAE BT B HREEAE6
YR ZE-NAFHEA—HH
BHVEHUEREHESE
FREESE ZSEAELICR
BREBGHENBUVREREAK
EHE - ERAADE BEK
BEZeRAEEEZITERE
BENSBBERREE - FH%E
BER-_Z—NLFONBE—ANF
Rk AEEEREMEABRE
REFEEEZITE  MAR%E
AIZBRENE R A ERAERNR
KEREEE 2B H - BRIB
A E  HBRERTEES - &
M 5E2(c) ©

28 EERAXE —BREESEHE

@ FAREBANIHWT:

2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
$7000 $'000
T FiT
Wages and salaries TMRITE 342,228 304,029
Contributions to defined REMFORKRFE 2
contribution retirement plans HX 17,339 19,656
Provision for long service RHRB 2% H
payments (note 25(b)) (M 5E25(b)) 283 306
Share option expenses AR HE
(note 19(d)) (Pff &E19(d)) 230 1,186
360,080 325,177
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors’ remuneration

Directors” remuneration disclosed pursuant
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

28

BEERAXZE - BRESHS

(%)

b EEMS
RIBEB(ARUESD)E383E
KRRmMEDI 2 %8 — &t (B
EERMNZEEER RO Z

Ordinance (Disclosure of Information about EEMeEENOT:
Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:
2020
“E2EE
Employer's
contributions
Discretionary ~ to retirement Share-hased
Fees Salary honuses plans  Sub-total  payments Total
(note)
HMERR BHSTH DY
Name of director FEEA: e ¢ ZRA CEIfH M RHERM At
(B3
$000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
r r r r r r r
Executive directors HITEZ
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fEBLs - 4,736 2,810 - 7,546 - 7,546
Mr. Zhao Kai ik pia - 1,393 2,608 15 4,016 - 4,016
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia RAfkE - 885 1,235 18 2,138 47 2,185
Mr. Chan Raymond BRXGE - 1,026 1,447 18 2,491 47 2,538
Non-executive directors FHITEZE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fEBEE 20 - 40 - 260 - 260
Mr. Ho Kai Man R s - 464 145 18 627 - 627
Independent non-executive BT HHTEE
directors
Mr. So Wai Chun EREH 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing yib:y ik 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEBLE 120 - - - 120 5 125
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 28 BEEAXH —BREEEHS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) (%)
(b) Directors’ remuneration (continued) by EEMME(E)
2019
it %3
Employer's
contributions
Discretionary  to retirement Share-based
Fees Salary bonuses plans  Sub-total  payments Total
(note)
BEEN R Wk
Name of director EEEL He 5% LR ZEERT P IHBRE GES
()
§'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 §'000

i I .

Executive directors #TEE

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai Ble)-5i%:3 - 4,736 2,495 — 7231 - 7,231

Mr. Zhao Kai ik piid - 1,04 1,681 18 2,903 - 2,903

Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia & 5/ - 860 1,065 18 1943 MW 2,185

Mr. Chan Raymond REXEE - 1,002 1218 18 2,238 42 2,480

Non-executive directors FHIEF

Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming PEX 20 - 30 - 250 - 250

Mr. Ho Kai Man WXL - 449 143 18 610 - 610

Independent non-executive  BUFHTEE

directors

Mr. So Wai Chun BERE 110 - - - 110 - 110

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing yit ik 110 - - - 110 - 110

Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEBLE 110 - - - 110 24 134

Note: These represent the estimated value of share B EE s b RAR R AN QA E AR
options granted to the directors under the ERTESEZMFAER
Company’s share option scheme. The value of BEEE WEEREEES
these share options is measured according to AR 15 N 52 [ 7 B 5 2(u) BA
the Group’s accounting policies for share-based P A7 32 A R BN 2 & R IER
payments as set out in note 2(u). The details of AE - HEBREZFS
these share options, including the principal terms BREEEZHERRERER
and number of options granted, are disclosed in B AR mERM 195
note 19 to the financial statements. R -

268 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B R E R 2 7



(0

Notes to

the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H 35N - LA THITR)

28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include four
(2019: four) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2019:

28 EERAXLE —BRESEHE

(%)

© DEREFMAL
AEEEERLEESHMZ
ATBROZ(ZT-NF:
mA)EE EMeC#HN L
X ot e RERESH—R(Z
E-NF —RIRSHAL

one) individuals during the year are as follows: ZRENB 20T
2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Basic salaries and allowances EAREE K ERL 864 1,130
Discretionary bonus B 15 R 2 FEAL 631 344
Contributions to retirement plans iR K 5t & 2 5% 18 18
Share-based payment VA BR 19 32 A<F S B 20 103
1,533 1,595

The emoluments fell within the following band:

ZEMESENIESBENR

Number of individuals

A+#E
2020 2019
—®-®% C—T-NF

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 &
2,000,0007T 1 1
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29 FINANCE COSTS, NET 29 MBRAE - FHE
2020 2019
(Note (ii))
et —E-hF
(B 3 (i)
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Finance costs B 75 B 7R
— Interest expense from financial — RBENAFTEZ
liabilities measured at amortised TRBENE
cost g 49,493 37,094
— Interest expenses on lease liabilites — T & &1& 2 7 &
S 215 —
Less: interest expenses capitalised into & : fFr A R 5
property under development for MEBEXXHERE
sale (Note (i) R0 (24,850) (17,907)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 24,858 19,187
Finance income IR ON
— Interest income from financial assets — X E# KN AN E 2
measured at amortised cost EHREENR
WA (4,037) (2,336)
— Other interest income from financial — & A FEEFTAH
assets measured at FVOCI ftb 2 E U = (P83
(recycling) EzemmEE
H Aty A1) B A 425) (407)
(4,462) (2,743)
Finance costs, net A - F 20,396 16,444
Notes: B 5
(i)  The general borrowing costs have been capitalised at a (i) —REEXKEUFERNEL03% (=
rate of 4.03% (2019: 3.35%) per annum. T—NF :3.35%) W E R o
(i)  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 (i) AEBRZZE-NAFEOA—AEKX
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this JERB BB REENFEI6 - K
approach, the comparative information is not restated. RBIEFTEIDE - REBUTTE -
See note 2(c). RENITmMET] - BME20 °
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30 REGEBEBXRTHEB
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The amount of taxation charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

REERBRIIHZRBENT

2020 2019
—E-%F —ENF
$’000 $000
T T
Current taxation R
Hong Kong Profits Tax ERBNIFM
— current year — KFEE 20,461 15,622
— under/(over)-provision in prior years — FF 2R
(BBE)£&1HE 22 (5,200)
PRC taxes i B 75 1R
— Corporate Income Tax — BEMRBEHR 14,381 12,431
— Land Appreciation Tax — I E R 76,277 53,647
Deferred taxation (note 24 (b)) I B E
(Bff 3£ 24 (b)) 331 2,200
111,472 78,700

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year for all group companies
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to
Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC at the standard
tax rate of 25%. Land Appreciation Tax is levied on
properties in Mainland China developed by the Group
for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under
the applicable regulations is calculated based on
the revenue from sales of properties less deductible
expenditure including lease charges of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditure.

FTEREBRLZEBRE IR
B ANE 2 (5T B SR B & 712 16.5%
(ZZE—NF:16.5%) 2T K12
BEAEFEHER -

REERFPBEZEBAEETHEH
1 3 BT 15 B R 12 42 B R 25% 4
oo NEE KRB A H 2 E
EREZYET R I HIZESE
AR R E30% 2 60%FHEHT -
HIEER o HREAER - L
HESEDEREBEDZESRAR
AREE(BELERAEREE
BR BERALKFENEEERE
FX)MEE °
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30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
The tax on the Group’s profit before taxation differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
profits tax rate in Hong Kong, the Group’s place of

30 REREBERARFAEHR(E)

AEEBEBEBRE AR < 18 8E
F“?%E%$ﬁlﬁﬁm2ﬂ
BREmMAE EBmiEa =810

domicile, as follows: —F :
2020 2019
—E-%F —E-NF
$000 $'000
T T
Profit before taxation BR 5 A 4 A 361,738 300,086
Calculated at taxation rate of 16.5% 1 %16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) (ZF—NF 16.5%)
ATE 59,686 49,514
Effect of different taxation rates FHMRZEEERH X
in other jurisdiction ERE/RE 26,658 21,424
Associate’s results reported net of tax BenmRE
mwmg (223) (114)
Income not subject to taxation BARB WA (87,621) (53,554)
Expenses not deductible for taxation TRHIB 2 X i
purposes 36,865 12,955
Land appreciation tax on sales of properties ¥ % 8 & 7 1 i 2 (B 76,277 53,647
Temporary difference not recognised AR EREZE (446) 53
Under/(over)-provision for Hong Kong FF2BEEMBEZ
taxation in prior years TR/ (HB8) EH 22 (5,200)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax i F3 T F K R T IE
losses SR (159) (215)
Unused tax losses not recognised AERZAEABIE
BB 413 190
Income tax expense P S < i 111,472 78,700
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31

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing

the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue after adjusting the potential dilutive
effect of the outstanding options during the year.

BRER

5 0% 25 70K FU T AR R A A4 3
A AR FIRAE BB (T2
2 1% M T BGHE -

BRREEOEN DRBEARRER
FREAREGRIBRAFAERITZ
BB TFEE L ARELEE
BREZRARITEBBRETE -

2020 2019
et —E-NF
Profit attributable to equity ENYNCIE: XSS RS DN
shareholders of the Company ($'000) {5 & A1) (F7T) 250,266 221,386
Weighted average number of ordinary 2317 & i I% 2 0
shares in issue (in thousand shares) F 8 (FREED 1,993,066 1,992,426
Effect of outstanding share options (in & A 17 1 B8 f% 1 2
thousand shares) & (FIRED) 15,558 16,505
Weighted average number of ordinary 2% 17 & i@ % (¥ 58)
shares (diluted) in issue Z i 8
(in thousand shares) (F & 2,008,624 2,008,931
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) R E A% F
(&Il 12.6 11.1
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) #& 1& & I8 )& 5
(& i) 12.5 11.0
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32 DIVIDENDS
Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

274

(@)

(b)

Company attributable to the year

32 RE

(@

BRAFERNAQAES
BEAEAZERRE

2020 2019

—E_BF —E-hF

$/000 $'000

Fr Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid 2 & i 2 2 )k % # Hi
of HK4.0 cents per ordinary B & E@AR4.078
share (2019: HK3.0 cents per WZ=—h%:

ordinary share) TR AR3.08 1) 79,754 59,755
Final dividend proposed after the 72 ¥ &5 B R 1% % Ik K
end of the reporting period of Hﬁﬂﬁ & EBAY5.0

HK5.0 cents per ordinary share Bl (ZF— 4 :

(2019: HK5.0 cents per ordinary & & i@ % 5.0/8 L)

share) 99,692 99,592

179,446 159,347

The final dividend proposed after the end of the

R & B RREIR 2 R B K

reporting period have not been recognised as a ERREHREAERRE
liability at the end of the reporting period. f& -
Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the by BRE-—UERFE IRFR
Company attributable to the previous financial BERKE BN EARTE
year, approved and paid during the year BRHAEAZKRE
2020 2019
—_ 7 —_ ﬂE :?E—jlﬂi
$/000 $'000
Fr Tt
Final dividend in respect of ME—HBEE B
the previous financial year, g MERFRIK
approved and paid during %XZEEHHHX SRR
the year, of HK5.00 cents per i A% 5.007 1
ordinary share (2019: HK4.75 (ZE—hF 8%
cents per ordinary share) FRR4.7581l) 99,692 94,691
Special dividend in respect of ME—HBEE &
the previous financial year, EHERERFR
approved and paid during Ik 3% 2 5 Rl AR,
the year, of HK nil cents per (ZE2-NF: 8%
ordinary share (2019: HK2.55 AR 2.5578 1)
cents per ordinary share) — 50,861
99,692 145,552
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33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had the following significant commitments
and contingent liabilities which were not provided for
in the consolidated financial statements:

(@) Capital commitments
The Group had the following authorised and
contracted capital commitments at 31 March

33 RERIAEE
AKEBBHUTRKERANL S B TR

REFTREBZEEZAERIA
afE:
(@ EAXREIE

R-E-TF=A=1+—8H"
AEBEUTERERZNZ

2020: B HHE
2020 2019
—E-%F ZT-NF
$’000 $°000
T TIT
Purchase of property, plantand BE®E - BKE &
equipment F 23,648 9,809
(b) Planned expenditure (b) FrEIXH
At 31 March 2020, the Group has contracted for R-ZE_FEF=A=+—H"
further property development expenditure and REBOFINE - T YWERE
the related costs of internal fixtures and fittings EHAXMBEAANEEE LR

amounted to $331,506,000 (2019: $311,483,000).

(c) Operating lease commitments
The Group had lease commitments in respect
of land and buildings under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The total
commitments payable are analysed as follows:

1K 7N £331,506,0007T (=&
— fL4E : 311,483,0007T) °

(0 EEHEERE
AEBEZETAIMBELZ L
WwhEFKEHERR - &
FER AESATANT

2019
—ZET-NF
$'000
F7T

Not later than one year e —F
Later than one year and not later

than five years

5,727

BB —FENEBRF

4,430

10,157
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33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

276

(0

(d)

Operating lease commitments (continued)

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties and items of plant and machinery and
office equipment held under leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS
16 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the Group adjusted the
opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to these leases (see note
2(c)). From 1 April 2019 onwards, future lease
payments are recognised as lease liabilities in
the statement of financial position in accordance
with the policies set out in note 2(j), and the
details regarding the Group’s future lease
payments are disclosed in note 23.

The Group had future minimum lease rental

33 AERIAREEE)

(0

ReREREE)
AEBERABRA REEE
RBEETOEEBENAR#
R AERE  ERERIE
BREEAERF7RDBS
RelE  AEECEXRA
REFTZENEERBELM
% & E R B165% o RIEZ%
A ARERHE-_T-NF
PO A — B HR ) 4% ok DARE 38 B2 %
FHERBZHERE (R
d2)  BZE-NEFHEA—
B - REM E2() a2 &
RRKEEHESRMBENK
NEARERSHEERRE -
ERASBRREERE 2
G NN PR

AEBEFUTTAIEEHE = H

receivable under non-cancellable operating EZARRZERKESR
leases as follows:
2020 2019
—E-%F —E-NF
$’000 $'000
T T
Not later than one year B iE—F 84 1,426
Guarantees d #ER
At 31 March 2020, the Company has RZZE_TF=A=+—H"

given guarantees totalling approximately
$1,294,780,000 (2019: $1,324,735,000) to
financial institutions in connection with the
banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries. Such
banking facilities utilised as at 31 March 2020
amounted to approximately $951,637,000 (2019:
$620,342,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7

RAR4A TG HER BIRH
RITRE THMWE AR 22
1R € 88 %) /1,294,780,0007T
(ZZ—14:1,324,735,00070) °
RZEZZETF=F=+—
H BEFEAZEITRHENE
951,6370007C (= & — J1 F
620,342,0007T) ©
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3 FEBEALIRS
Transactions with related parties @ HEBAEATZXRS
2020 2019
et —E-NF
$/000 $°000
T T
Sales of goods: SHEEW:
Sales of finished goods to related  [A) [ & A 7]
companies 5 B A o 248 237
Others: Hit:
Rental income from an associate  [A] B & 2 7] W EX
Al A 288 308
Consultancy fee charged by an XNEHET
associated company RA/NC] 848 —
Rental charged by a related XftHEE FTHERF
company 2,870 2,870
Purchase of machinery from an [R5 & 2 7 i8 B # 25
associate 30,068 22,995
Repair and maintenance charged Z#EERREET
by an associate /NC] 3,878 3,470
Rental income from a related B E QRIS
company WA 411 411
Management fee income from a  [A] 8 2 2 7] WX & 12
related company BlLA 960 960
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3 FEBEATRF(E)
(continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EHBEEALTZ&E&
2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-NF
$000 $'000
Fx Tt
Amount due to an associate Bt ARBR R
(note 10) (Bt a?m) 4,083 35
Amount due from Kar Info J& W Kar Info BR &
(note 11) (P 3ET11) 113,833 19,494
Amounts due from other related  JF& Y E 1th B8 3& 1 )
companies AR X 1,302 2,009
Amounts due from related & W8 3R R BR 3K
companies 115,135 21,503
Amounts due to related FEA REE N A BR X
companies 632 394
The amounts due from/to an associate and J?E 1451 /FEH R NCT Dl
related companies are unsecured, interest-free R AEEE  T5H
and repayable on demand. ,%\ Iﬁgﬁzﬁv aiE -
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS(continued)

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 28(b)
and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 28(c), is as follows:

3 FEBEAEIRF(E)

© FEETEEBEMNS
REEZEBERABHH -
BREINFARRESRZ A
R 280K FE - A T &
= H B E 8 2 F B A AW
28T’ HIIAT -

2020 2019

—EB-%F —TNF

$/000 $000

T T

Short-term employee benefits REEERN 23,633 21,385
Post-employment benefits BEI 12 A 141 144
Share-based payment VA B A7 S ASF <2 B 176 816
23,950 22,345

Total remuneration is included in “employee
benefit expenses” (see note 28(a)).

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

Except for the rental charged by a related
company as disclosed in note 34(a) that
constitute connected transactions, none of the
related party transaction mentioned above falls
under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

e eEEEERMN T ]
A (R M FE28(@)) °

d) REEXZERzZLHHRA
ZE R
BT RO MY E34(a) PR 2 S 7H
T THERR - ABEARK

REKRAMEEBERARE
REAERSZN  AERKZ

AEALRZALEIA LT
HMABUAEFIRE 2BER
SEFBEERS -
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35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35 AREEZHBMRRE
POSITION
2020 2019
e —TNF
Note $000 $'000
B 5 Fr T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZEE 827,419 901,731
Other financial assets HtemEE 19,629 19,325
... 847,048 921,056
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary  F& Y Fff & 2 5] BR 3K 120,000 —
Prepayments, deposits and other T 3 + £ & &
receivables B WBR K 1,221 1,373
Current tax recoverable 7K HA AT U (B A% 18 49 29
Cash and cash equivalents HRekReEED 1,244 2,619
122,514 4,021
Total assets EEBE 969,562 925,077
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves ARREBHEA
attributable to equity FE AL BR A % 1% 48
shareholders of the Company
Share capital f& A< 18 199,384 199,183
Other reserves Hh &8 20 484,320 482,508
Retained earnings B E 20 255,690 215,949
Total equity wmEE 939,394 897,640
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35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION (continued)

DNBEEZ M BMRRRE)

2020 2019
—B-ERF —TNF
$’000 $'000
Fx FT
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Provision for long service RHIRB £ H
__payments 742 684
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables et ER K
e HteEMERR 29426 . 26,753
Total liabilities EE8E 30,168 27,437
Total equity and liabilities BEkB8EAE 969,562 925,077
Net current assets/(liabilities) REEE ~
(BE)FE 93,088 (22,732)
Total assets less current EEHAEBERRE
liabilities =R 940,136 898,324

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 24 June 2020.

Ho Cheuk Fai
1A f2 18
Director

EF

R-ZZE_TEENA-+NHRES
oI E R IRE T -

Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
BR & ok

Director
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36 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April
2019 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under the approach, comparative information is not
restated. Further details of the changes in accounting

policies are disclosed in note 2(c).

37 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
At 31 March 2020, the directors regard TMF (B.V.l.)
Limited, which beneficially owns 41.01% of the
Company’s equity interests, to be the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Company. Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
are the beneficial owners of TMF (B.V.L.) Limited. TMF
(B.V.1.) Limited is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and does not produce financial statements

available for public use.

38 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT

NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 March 2020 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These include

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

36

37

38

kBT

AEBR-_ZT-NAFMOMA-HEXR
fEREBMBREER65 - KA
RIETERER - RFEW-TE
REMLEES - St BRR &
BE—FFBHIINHE20 -

BEERBAKESAL
RZE_TEF=A=+—H =%
2 ABTMF (BV.1) Limited » B %5 %
BEARRDRI4.01% DTz - AKX
RAIZEERGZERESIAL - 1
IR A - BT T RAEA%L
A BTMF (BV.1) Limited 2 & 25
B A ° TMF (B.V.l) Limited X% B
BREEEK LR EEAFREE
Wk o

EREAEEHRRBE-SE-_FF=
A=+—BLEFEER BT - #H
ZARBREBIRERZZE

BEEAMBHRRERER  BEL
AR ASRMTZEREBEE_S=
TE=ZA=F+—BHIEFEHRER
ZAEET RN R - A R AN BE 7%
MEANEP - TH AEFRAIGEE A
EEEM -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBE#MH 2%
Bz EMEEN

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

FEMBRERMNEIRUETN) XHEZEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

BEAGEMFIR T LG EAESR(ERIAN) EERZEE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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Five-year financial summary

IFEMBERE

The results of the Group for the last five financial years AEEHZEZE_ZT_FTF=H=+—Hit
ended 31 March 2020 and the assets and liabilities of the FAEMBFE 2 %£E  RZT—"F -
Group as at 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 are —ZT—+t % - —T—\F . T —J.F
as follows: F—E_EF-RA=+—HZEEKSE
(ESUNNE
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mERE
Year ended 31 March
HZ=A=t-BHLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Note 1
“ECEF ZZ-NF T\ ZT—+tF ZT—RF%
P 31
$'000 $'000 $000 $000 $000
Tr Tr T Tr T
(Restated)
(BE)
Revenue KA 2,902,208 2,651,169 2,919,880 2,699,838 2,897,605
Operating profit BERN 380,780 315,837 264,191 220,469 150,371
Finance income FBKA 4,462 2,743 1,542 1,058 1,533
Finance costs AR (24,858)  (19,187)  (14,883)  (11,579)  (16,039)
Share of profits of associates Nl 1,354 693 872 247 294
Profit before taxation BR B A& R 361,738 300,086 251,722 210,195 136,159
Income tax EH (111,472) (78,700) (34,015) (20,642) (19,488)
Profit for the year from FERARESE
continuing operations REXH 250,266 221,386 217,707 189,553 116,671
Loss for the year from FEBRARBCAL
discontinued operations E¥K — — (35,414) (21,341) —
Profit for the year FERF 250,266 221,386 182,293 168,212 116,671
Attributable to: FE1h
Equity shareholders of the RARBERBA
Company 250,266 221,386 182,563 168,333 117,076
Non-controlling interests FERER — — (270) (121) (405)
250,266 221,386 182,293 168,212 116,671

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 £ #§

283



Five-year financial summary

IFEMBERE

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

284

The disposal of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2018 constituted discontinued operations. In accordance
with HKFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sales and
Discontinued Operations, the Group has re-presented the
comparative information in 2017 in this regard. However, it
is not practicable to restate the financial information for the
earlier years for comparison purposes.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments from
1 April 2018. As a result, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in relation to financial instruments. As
allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated information
relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts
of the financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS
9 were recognised in retained earnings and reserves at 1
April 2018. There was no difference in the carrying amounts
of the financial liabilities. Prior to 1 April 2018, figures were
stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those
years.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect
from 1 April 2019, the Group has changed its accounting
policies in respect of the lessee accounting model. In
accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard,
the changes in accounting policies were adopted by way
of opening balance adjustments to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019. After initial
recognition of these assets and liabilities, the Group as a
lessee is required to recognise interest expenses accrued
on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Figures in years earlier than 2019 are stated in accordance
with the policies applicable in those years.
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Five-year financial summary

IFEMBERE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES mEEERAE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—-H

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

“EZEF —FT-NF ZT-N\FE Tt —T-RE

$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000

T T Tt T T

ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ENBEE 893,289 867,636 900,492 853,555 922,326
Current assets mEE E 2,125,496 1,596,282 1,743,125 1,482,949 1,155,765
Total assets EERE 3,018,785 2,463,918 2,643,617 2,336,504 2,078,091
EQUITY B
Share capital A 199,384 199,183 199,456 199,620 199,620
Reserves B 976,316 967,677 988,826 878,883 817,560
1,175,700 1,166,860 1,188,282 1,078,503 1,017,180
Non-controlling interests FER I E & — — — (1,750) (1,344)
Totalequity @ &#®E 1175700 1,166,860 1,188,282 1,076,753 1015836
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities EMBEE 838,550 564,815 502,588 504,875 78,044
Current liabilities nEeE 1,004,535 732,243 952,747 754,876 984,211
Total liabilities BERE 1,843,085 1,297,058 1,455,335 1,259,751 1,062,255
Total equity and liabilities BalhaEeE 3,018,785 2,463,918 2,643,617 2,336,504 2,078,091
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Properties Held by the Group
AEBEREZWE

As at 31 March 2020 R=ZE=ZEF=F=+—H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE FHERURE
Lease Stage of Percentage
Location Site area expiry Completion holding
Ho B tEE HERYE BREE FREI
(sq.m.)
(F 75 K)
No.47-1, Jiahui Lu, 61,864 2085 Under 100%
Youganpu Da Long Industrial District, —ZT)\RF Construction
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City, (residential  7£
Guangdong Province, purpose)
The People’s Republic of China (F=AH)
(note 1)
B R R A R e R i 2055
I H R K BE T3 [ 5 HE BR 475 -1 —ZERhhF
(M 3E1) (commercial
purpose)
GEESEE:0)
Jin San Jiao Development Zone, 4,798 2087 Under 100%
Dongping Village, Zhangning Town, —Z)\E % Construction
Boluo County, Huizhou City, (residential  7£
Guangdong Province, purpose)
The People’s Republic of China (F=AH)
(note 2)
B R R A BN T I8 2 R 2057
REERTINE=-_ARERAME —ThtF
(M$7E2) (commercial
purpose)
(% M)
Notes: BT
1. The construction is expected to be completed in the first 1. IREEFR-ZZT=_—FFE-—FKRI-
quarter of 2021.
2. The construction is expected to be completed in the last 2. IREBEHR-ZT-_—FFEMNFHEIT-

quarter of 2021.
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Properties Held by the Group
rEBEREZUE

As at 31 March 2020 R—ZE_ZF=A=+—H
COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (ECE/E
Gross floor Percentage
Location area Lease expiry holding
Ho B REER & PR Y FEES
(sq.m.)
(SF 7 3K)
Unit 258, 165 2062 100%
Sunlight Court, Castfast Villas, —ERF
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
B B IR R 55 T B e R
RIESERERE25ZB
Unit T6A, 148 2062 100%
Twilight Court, Castfast Villas, —ERF
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
FEERER=TRRHEE
FESECIERIZAR
Unit 25C, 143 2062 100%
Skylight Court, Castfast Villas, —TRCF
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
B R R A R 5 Rl A R
REXEZER2SECH
“Forest Town”, Phase 3, Castfast Villas, 61,730 2084 50%
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City, e YANItE: S
Guangdong Province, (residential
The People’s Republic of China purpose)
FEERE R TR RMEE (EEAH)
FERE=MIRHE]
2054
—EhMmF
(commercial
purpose)
(FE M)
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Properties Held by the Group
AEBEREZWE

As at 31 March 2020 P=E-_ZTF=HF=+—H

PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT MERERE
Percentage
Location Existing use holding
i 26 A7 FEES
1 East of Jingyi Road and South of Wenzhuang Road, idle 100%
Yixing Economic Development Zone, z=
Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province,
The People’s Republic of China
FEIEHEEHD
HEGHF® R AEREA
i & 3% R A
2 Wenzhuang Road, idle 100%
Yixing Economic Development Zone, TE

Note: The above properties are either freehold, held on long or

288

Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province,
The People’s Republic of China
REITEHRAEEHT

B RO B B R SRR

medium-term leases or have no specified lease term.

MaE: AEMERBEELH  RHRORSD

HMROFBILBEREHESY -
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